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CHAPTER V

THE HIGH STREET

Common Seal of the City of Edinburgh, from a charter
dated A.D. 1565. Vide p. 93, vol. i. for the Counter
Seal.

WING to the peculiar site of

the Scottish capital, no en-
largement of the old town beyond
its early limits has in any degree
detracted from the importance of
its most ancient thoroughfare,which
extends under different names from
the Palace to the Castle, and may be
regarded as of antiquity coeval with
the earliest fortification of the cita-
del to which it leads. Alongside of
this roadway, on the summit of the
sloping ridge, the rude huts of the
earliest settlers were constructed,
and the first parish church of St.
Giles was reared, so early, it is be-
lieved,astheninth century. Symeon
of Durham refers to Edinburgh,
under the year 854, in reckoning

the churches and towns belonging to the bishopric of Lindisfarne. But it is

assumed that the parish church dedicated to St. Egidius was erected during

the reign of Alexander I. 1107-1124.) Fynes Moryson, an English traveller,

thus describes Edinburgh in the year 1598 : “From the King’s Pallace at

the east, the city still riseth higher and higher towards the west, and consists
Y Historical Notices of the Coll. Church of St. Giles, Edinburgh.

VOL. I1

B



2 MEMORIALS OF EDINBURGH

especially of one broad and very faire street (which is the greatest part and
sole ornament thereof) ; the rest of the side streetes and allies being of poore
building, and inhabited with very poore people.”! The more accurate
observation of the eccentric traveller, Taylor, the water-poet, who visited the
Scottish capital a few years later, shows his greater familiarity with the
wynds and alleys by describing “ many by-lanes and closes on each side of
<he way, wherein are gentlemen’s houses, much fairer than the buildings in
the High Street, for in the High Street the merchants and tradesmen do
dwell, but the gentlemen’s mansions, and goodliest houses, are obscurely
founded in the aforesaid lanes.” But what older chroniclers failed to do
has been accomplished for us by the loving fancy of Scott in more than one
picturing of his “own romantic town.” Describing it as first seen by the
wondering eyes of Roland Grame, he says: “The principal street of
Edinburgh was then, as now, one of the most spacious in Europe. The
extreme heights of the houses, and the variety of Gothic gables, battlements,
and balconies, by which the sky-line on each side was crowned and
terminated, together with the width of the street itself, might have struck
with surprise a more practised eye. The population close packed within
the walls of the city, and at this time increased by the lords of the King's
party who had thronged to Edinburgh to wait upon the Regent Murray,
absolutely swarmed like bees in the wide and stately street. Instead of the
shop windows which are now calculated for the display of goods, the traders
had their open booths projecting on the street, in which, as in the fashion of
modern bazaars, all was exposed which they had upon sale. And though
the commodities were not of the richest kinds, yet Grazme thought he beheld
the wealth of the whole world in the various bales of Flanders cloths and
the spccimens of tapestry; and at other places, the display of domestic
utensils and pieces of plate struck him with wonder. The sight of cutlers’
booths, furnished with swords and poniards which were manufactured in
Scotland, and with pieces of defensive armour imported from Flanders, added
to his surprise.” The picture, though a fancy sketch of the sixteenth century,
realises what was, to a large extent, familiar to Scott’s own eyes, and what
we ourselves have often seen in our younger days, when the Lawnmarket
was crowded with its linen and woollen booths; and bakers’, cutlers’, and
booksellers’ stands protruded from the arched piazzas, or overflowed the
straitened booth, and spread out their tempting wares on open stalls.
The lower High Street had its own special market booths at the Salt Tron ;
and itinerant hawkers added to the noise and bustle of what seemed to rustic
visitors, as to Roland Grame, a scene of enchantment.

The preceding chapter is chiefly devoted to some of the more ancient
and peculiar features of the High Street. Yet, strictly speaking, while every

! Itinerary, London, 1617 ; Bann. Misc. vol. ii. p. 393.
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public thoroughfare is styled in older writs and charters “the King’s High
Street,” the name was only exclusively applied to that portion extending
from Creech’s Land to the Nether Bow, until the demolition of the middle
row, when the site of the Luckenbooths, and even a portion of the Lawn-
market, were assumed as part of it, and designated by the same name.

Here was the battlefield of Scotland for centuries, whereon private and
party feuds, the jealousies of the nobles and burghers, and not a few of the
contests between the Crown and the people, were settled at the point of the
sword. In the year 1520 it was the scene of the bloody fray known by the
name of “Cleanse the Causeway,” which did not terminate until the narrow
field of contest was strewn with dead bodies of the combatants, and the Earl
of Arran and Archbishop Beaton narrowly escaped with their lives.!! Other
and scarcely less bloody affrays occurred on the same spot during the reign
of James V ; while in that of the widowed Regent and their daughter, Queen
Mary, it was for years the chief scene where rival factions fought for mastery.
In 1571 the King’s Parliament, summoncd by the Regent Lennox, assembled
at the head of the Canongate, above St. John’s Cross, which bounded “the
freedome of Edinburgh,” while the Queen’s Parliament sat in the Tolbooth,
countenanced in the assumption of the Royal name by the presence of the
Scottish Regalia, the /wonours of the kingdom ; and the battle for Scotland’s
crown and liberties fiercely raged in the narrow space that intervened between
the rival assemblies.

But the private feuds of Scottish nobles and chiefs were the most frequent
sources of conflict on the High Street of the capital ; and during the fifteenth
and sixteenth centuries many a bold baron and hardy retainer perished
there, adding fresh fuel to the deadly animosity of rival clans, but otherwise
exciting no more notice at the time than an ordinary street squabble would
now do. It was in one of those tu/zies, alluded to in the Lay of the Last
Minstrel, that Sir Walter Scott of Buccleuch was slain, in the year 1551,2

““ When the streets of High Dunedin,
Saw lances gleam and falchions redden,
And heard the slogan’s deadly yell.”
Neither the accession of James VI nor the attainment of his majority
exercised much influence in checking these encounters on the streets of the
capital. “Many enormities were committed,” says Calderwood, “as if there
had beene no King in Israell.” The following may suffice as a sample:
“Upon the seventh of Januar 1591, the King comming doun the street of
Edinburgh from the Tolbuith, the Duke of Lennox, accompanied with the

1 Awute, p. 50.

2 ““In this zeir all wes at guid rest, exceptand the Laird of Cesfurde and Fernyhirst with thair
complices slew Schir Walter Scott, laird of Balclewche, in Edinburgh, wha was ane valzeand guid
knycht.”—Diurnal of Occurrents, 1551, p. §lI.
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Lord Hume, following a little space behind, pulled out their swords, and
invaded the Laird of Logie. The King fled into a closse-head, and
incontinent retired to a Skinner’s booth, where it is said he shook for feare.”!
The sole consequence of this lawless act of violence was the exclusion of
the chief actors from Court for a short time ; and only six days thereafter
the Earl of Bothwell deliberately took by force out of the Tolbooth the chief
witness in a case then pending before the Court, at the very time that the
King was sitting in the same building along with the Lords of Session.?
The unfortunate witness was dragged by his captors to Crichton Castle, and
there schooled into a more satisfactory opinion of the case in question under
the terror of the gallows.

The ancient Cross which stood in the High Street has been frequently
alluded to, and some of the remarkable events described of which it was the
scene. It was alike the theatre of festivities and executions: garnished at
one period with rich hangings and flowing with wine for the free use of the
populace, and at another overshadowed by the Maiden, and hung only with
the reversed armorial bearings of some noble victim of law or tyranny.®3 In
the year 1617 it was rebuilt on a new site in the High Street, apparently
with the view of widening the approach preparatory to the arrival of King
James, in fulfilment of his long-promised visit to his native city. The King
sent word at that time of “ his naturall and salmon-like affection, and earnest
desire,” as he quaintly expresses it, “to see his native and ancient king-
dome of Scotland.” Accordingly, Calderwood tells us, “upon the 26th of

! Vide Calderwood, vol. v. p. 116, for a more particular account of dire royal mishaps in the close-
head on this occasion.

2 ¢ Anent walpynnis in Buithis. Item, it is statute and ordanit be the Provest, Bailies, and Counsall
of this burgh, because of the greit slauchteris and utheris cummeris and tulzeis done in tyme bygane
within the burgh, and apperendlie to be done gif na remeid be provydit thairto; and for eschewing
thairof ;—that ilk manner of persone, merchandis, craftis men, and all utheris occupyaris of buthis, or
chalmeris in the hiegait, outher heych or laych, that they have lang valpynnis thairin, sic as hand ex,
Jedburgh staif, hawart jawalyng, and siclyk lang valpynnis, with knaipschawis and jakkis; and that
thay cum thairwith to the hie-gait incontinent efter the commoun bell rynging.”"—Burgh Records, 4th
March 1552.

3 ¢ Upone Tysday the nyntene day of Junij 1660, eftir sermond endit, the magistrates and counsell of
Edinburgh, all in thair best robis, with a great number of the citizens, went to the Mercat Croce of
Edinburgh, quhair a great long boord wes covered with all soirtes of sweit meittis, and thair drank the
kinges helth, and his brether; the spoutes of the Croce rynnand all that tyme with abundance of
clareyt wyne. Ther wer thrie hundreth dosane of glassis all brokin and cassin throw the streitis, with
sweit meitis in abundance,” etc.—Nicoll’s Diary, p. 293.

““ Upone the 13 day of Maij 1661, Sir Archibald Johnnestoun of Warystoun, lait Clerk Register,
being forfalt in this Parliament, and being fugitive fra the lawis of this Kingdome, for his treasonable
actis, he was first oppinlie declairit traitour in face of Parliament, thaireftir, the Lord Lyon king at
airmes, with four heraldis and sex trumpetteris, went to the Mercat Croce of Edinburgh, and thair maid
publict intimation of his forfaltrie and treason, rave asunder his airmes, and trampled thame under thair
feet, and kuist a number of thame over the Croce, and affixt ane of thame upone the height of the great
stane, to remayne thair to the publict view of all beholderis. Thir airmes were croced bakward, his
heid being put dounmest and his feet upmest.”—/47d. p. 332.
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Februar, the Crosse of Edinburgh was taken doun ; the old long stone, about
fortie foots or therby in length, was translated, by the devise of certane
mariners in Leith, from the place where it stoode past memorie of man, to
a place beneath in the Highe Streete, without anie harme to the stone ; and
the bodie of the old Crosse was demolished and another buildit, whereupon
the long stone or obelisk was erected and sett, upon the 25th of Marche.”!
The long stone was less fortunate on a subsequent removal, but the fine
Gothic capital, of which we have already given a view, is without doubt a
relic of the ancient Cross demolished at this period. Among the older
customs of which it was the scene none is more curious than the exposure
of dyvours or bankrupts, a class of criminals at all times regarded with
special indignation by their more fortunate fellow-citizens. The origin of
this singular mode of protecting commercial credit is thus related in the
Acts of Sederunt of the Court of Session for 1604 : “The Lordis ordaine
the Provest, Bailleis, and Counsale of Edinburgh, to cause big ane pillery of
hewn stane, neir to the mercat croce of Edinburgh, upon the heid therof ane
sait and place to be maid, quhairupon, in tyme cuming, sall be set all
dyvoris, wha sall sit thairon ane mercat day, from 10 hours in the morning,
quhill ane hour efter dinner ; and the saidis dyvoris, before thair libertie and
cuming furth of the tolbuith, upon thair awn chairges, to cause mak and buy
ane hat or bonnet of yellow colour, to be worn be thame all the tyme of
their sitting on the said pillery, and in all tyme thairefter, swa lang as they
remane and abide dyvoris.”? Sundry modifications of this singular act were
afterwards adopted. In 1669 “the Lords declare that the habite is to be a
coat and upper garment, which is to cover their cloaths, body and arms,
whereof, the one half is to be of yellow, and the other half of a brown colour,
and a cap or hood, which they are to wear on their head, party coloured, as
said is;”® or coloured, as is enacted at a subsequent period, “conform to a
pattern delivered to the magistrates of Edinburgh to be keeped in their
Tolbooth.”* The effect of such a custom, if revived in our day, amid the
bustle and fever of railway schemes, and “ bubble speculations ” of all kinds,
could not fail to exercise a striking influence in diversifying the monotony
of our unpicturesque modern attire, and giving variety to our assemblies and
promenades! How far commercial solvency would be promoted by the
frequenters of the Stock Exchange being thus compelled to wear their credit
on their sleeve, we must leave these shrewd speculators to determine at their
leisure. Cowper, in his “ Epistle to Joseph Hill, Esq.,” discusses a somewhat
analogous device, adopted by an Eastern sage, for distinguishing honest men
from knaves, and which consisted in the convicted defaulter wearing only
half a coat thereafter; but he adds, for the comfort of all contemporaries—

1 Calderwood, vol. vii. p. 243.
? Acts of Sederunt, 17th May 1606. 3 Ibid. 26th February 1669. 4 /bid. 18th July 1688.
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“ O happy Britain ! we have not to fear
Such hard and arbitrary measures here ;
Else, could a law, like that which I relate,
Once have the sanction of our triple state,
Some few, that I have known in days of old,
Would run most dreadful risk of catching cold!”!

In the steep and narrow closes that diverge on each side of the High
Street werc formerly the dwellings of the old Scottish nobility, and they still
retain interesting traces of faded grandeur, awaking many curious associa-
tions which well repay the investigator of their intricate purlieus. Dunbar’s
Close, of which we furnish a view, has already been mentioned as the place
where Cromwell’s “Ironsides ” were lodged ; but its architectural features
are of a much earlier date, and its whole appearance is unique and singularly
picturesque. Over the entrance to the Rose and Thistle Tap—the tradi-
tional guard-room of the victors of Dunbar,—there is a beautifully carved
inscription, bearing one of the oldest dates now left on any private building
in Edinburgh—

FAITH - IN - CRIST - ONLIE - SAVIT ' 1567 -

On another part of the building the initials I - D *and K * T *, attached to some
curiously formed marks, are doubtless those of the original owners ; but the
carly titles are lost, so that no clue now remains to the history of this
singular dwelling. The lower story, the reputed black-hole of the English
troopers, is vaulted with stone; and around the massive walls iron rings are
affixed, as if for the purpose of securing prisoners. The cast wall of the
main room above is curiously constructed of elliptic arches, resting on plain
circular pillars, and such portions of the outer wall as are not concealed by
the wooden appendages of carly times exhibit polished ashlar work, finished
with neat mouldings and string courses.

Immediately to the north of this ancient mansion a large land, entering
from the foot of Sellars’ Close, has two flat terraced roofs at different eleva-
tions, and forms a prominent and somewhat graceful feature of the old town
as seen from Princes Street. This is known by the name of “ The Cromwell
Bartizan,” and is traditionally pointed out as having been occupied by the

! The following Act of Sederunt, for 13th December 1785, describes the latest version of the Edin-
burgh Cruss, prior to its restoration in the year 1888. *‘ The Lords having considered the representation
of the Lord Provost and Magistrates of the city of Edinburgh, setting forth, that when the Cross was
taken away in the year 1756, a stone was erected on the side of a well on the High Street, adjacent to
the place where the Cross stood, which by Act of Sederunt was declared to be the Market Cross of
Edinburgh from that period. That since removing the city guard, the aforesaid well was a great obstruc-
tion to the free passage upon the High Street, which therefore they intended to remove, and instead
thereof to erect a stone pillar, a few feet distant from the said well, on the same side of the High Street,
opposite to the head of the Old Assembly Close.  Of which the Lords approve, and declare the new
pillar to be the Market Cross.” We suppose the more economical marking of the old site by a radiated
pavement was the only result.
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General, owing to its vicinity to his guards, and the commanding prospect
which its terraced roof afforded of the English fleet at anchor in the Firth.
Over a doorway which divides the upper from the lower part of this close a
carved lintel bears this variation of the common legend: THE.LORD. BE.
BLEIST . FOR . AL . HIS . GIFTIS.! But the old close has outlived its time;
and decay and ruin have beset what was evidently once a place of note. A
building on the west side, finished in the style prevalent about the period of
James VI, has the following inscription over a window on the third floor—

f& THE LORD IS THE PORTION OF MINE INHERITANCE AND OF
MY CUP; THOU MAINTAINEST MY LOT. PSAL. XVI, VERSE 5.

In the house opposite a very large and handsome Gothic fireplace remains,
in the same style as those already described in the Guise Palace. In Brown’s
Close, adjoining this, Arnot informs us that there existed in his time “a
private oratory,” containing a “baptismal font,” or sculptured stone niche;
but every relic of antiquity has now disappeared ; and nearly the same may
be said of Byers’ Close, though it contained only a few years since the town
mansion built by John Byers of Coates, whose son and heir, Sir John Byers,
was born in 1619. The carved lintel over the doorway bore the initials of
the builder and his wife, Margaret Barclay—I1-B: M B - 161 1—with the
motto, BLISSIT BE GOD IN AL HIS GIFTIS. The lintel was removed by Sir
Patrick Walker, the later proprietor of Easter Coates, and now appropri-
ately surmounts a doorway of the old family mansion. At the date of this
transfer Coates House still stood in the country, though the extending new
town was invading its precincts. Sir Patrick Walker was a son of the Rev.
George Walker, clergyman of the Scottish Episcopal nonjurors at Meldrum,
Aberdeenshire. On the death of his last surviving daughter, in 1870, the
whole of the lands of Coates and Drumsheugh, with additional funded wealth,
were left for the erection and endowment of a Cathedral to be built on the
estate, and, as is belicved, in memory of their own mother’s name, to be
designated the Cathedral Church of St. Mary. The picturesque rural mansion
of the sixteenth century now stands in the Cathedral Close, giving a flavour
of quaint antiquity to the somewhat formal graces of Sir Gilbert Scott’s
mediaval design.

At the foot of Byers’ Close we again meet with associations connected
with more than one remarkable period in Scottish history. A doorway on
the east side affords access to a handsome though ruinous stone stair,
guarded by a neatly carved balustrade, and leading to a garden terrace, on

! In that amusing collection, Satan's Invisible World Discovered, written for the purpose of con-
founding atheists, the following is given as an East Lothian grace, ‘“in the time of ignorance and

superstition *— ‘‘ Lord be bless'd for all his gifts,
Defy the Devil and all his shifts.
God send me mair siller. Amen.”
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which stands a very beautiful old mansion that yields in interest to none of
the ancient private buildings of the capital. It presents a semi-hexagonal
front to the north, each of the sides of which is surmounted by a richly
carved dormer window, bearing inscriptions boldly cut in large Roman letters,
though now partly defaced. That over the north window is—

NIHIL - EST - EX - OMNI - PARTE ' BEATUM -

The windows along the east side appear to have been originally similarly
adorned. Two of their carved tops are built into an outhouse below, on one
of which is the inscription, LAUS . UBIQUE . DEO, and on the other, FELICITER .
INFELIX. In the title-deeds of this ancient building, it is described as “ that
tenement of land, of old belonging to Adam Bishop of Orkney, Commenda-
tor of Holyroodhouse, thereafter to John, Commendator of Holyroodhouse,”
his son, who in 1603 accompanied James to England, receiving on the
journey the keys of the town of Berwick in His Majesty’s name. Only three
years afterwards “the temporalities and spiritualitie” of Holyrood were
erected into a barony in his behalf, and he was created a peer, by the title
of Lord Holyroodhouse. Here then is the mansion of the celebrated Adam
Bothwell who, on the 15th May 1567, officiated at the ominous service in
the Chapel of Holyrood Palace!® that wedded Bothwell and the unfortunate
Queen Mary, whom he had already secured within his toils. That same
night the distich of Ovid was affixed to the Palace gate—

“ Mense malas Maio nubere vulgus ait ;” 2

and from the infamy that popularly attached to this fatal union is traced
the vulgar prejudice that still regards it as unlucky to wed in the month of
May. The character of the old Bishop of Orkney is not one peculiarly
meriting admiration. He married the Queen according to the new forms,
in despite of the protest of their framers, and he proved equally pliable where
his own interests were concerned. He was one of the first to desert his
royal mistress’s party ; and only two months after celebrating her marriage
with the Earl of Bothwell he placed the crown on the head of her infant son.
The following year he humbled himself to the Kirk, and engaged “to make
a sermoun in the kirk of Halierudehous, and in the end therof to confesse
the offence in marieng the Queine with the Erle of Bothwell.”?

The interior of the ancient building has been so entirely remodelled to
adapt it for a warchouse that no relic of its early grandeur or of the manners
of its original occupants remains ; but a melancholy interest lingers about its
chambers, disguised though they are by modern changes. The name of the
Bishop of Orkney appears at the bond granted by the nobility to the Earl of

1 ¢ Within the auld chappel, not with the mess, bot with preachings.”—Diurnal of Occurrents, p.

111. Keith and other historians, however, say, ‘‘ within the great hall, where the council usually met.”
3 Ovid's Fasti, Book V. 3 Booke of the Universall Kirk of Scotland, p. 131.
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Bothwell, immediately before he put in practice his ambitious scheme against
Queen Mary ; so that here, in all probability, the rude Earl and other leading
nobles of that eventful period met to discuss their daring plans, and to
mature the designs that involved so many in their consequences. Here, too,
we may believe, both Mary and James have been entertained as guests, by
father and son, while at the same board there sat another lovely woman,
whose wrongs are so touchingly recorded in the beautiful old ballad of
“Lady Ann Bothwell’s Ballow.” It is printed under that title, with the
tradition associating it with the daughter of the Bishop of Orkney, in Watson’s
Comic and Serious Scots Poems,in 1711. The story was familiar to the
late Charles Kirkpatrick Sharpe, who claimed kin with the old bishop, and
cherished it as a family tradition. Lady
Ann, the sister of Lord Holyrood, was
betrayed into a disgraceful connection with
her cousin the Honourable Sir Alexander
Erskine, a son of John Earl of Mar, of whom
a portrait still exists by Jamieson. As there
depicted he has dark blue eyes, a peaked
beard and moustaches, in the style of Charles
I, and is represented in military dress, with a
cuirass and scarf; but the splendour of his
warlike attire is unnecessary to set off his
expressive countenance. The betrayal and
desertion of the frail beauty were believed by
his contemporaries to have been visited by
the signal vengeance of heaven, on his being
blown up, along with his brother-in-law the
Earl of Haddington and others, in the Castle
of Dunglass in 1640, when the powder
magazine was ignited by a servant boy out
of revenge against his master!  Bishop
Adam Bothwell lies buried in the ruined chapel of Holyrood, where on his
monument, attached to the second pillar from the great east window, his
virtues are extolled in sonorous Latin.  But the lament of the nameless
old minstrel is a more durable memorial, though the daughter’s name finds
no place there.

The front part of the ancient building in the High Street has been almost
entirely modernised ; but citizens still living remember when an ancient
timber fagade projected its lofty gables into the street, tier above tier, while

House of Bishop Bothwell.

1 Two stanzas of this beautiful ballad, somewhat varied, occur in Brown’s play, Zke Northern
Lass, printed in 1632 ; and other versions have been given by Percy, Jamieson, Kinloch, etc. Dr. R.
Chambers, however, was the first to note the true history of the heroine in his Scottish Ballads.
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below were the covered piazza and entrances to the gloomy “laigh shops,”!
such as may still be seen in the few examples of old timber lands that have
escaped demolition. But this ancient fabric is associated with another
citizen of no less note in his day—* The glorious days of auld worthy faithfu’
Provost Dick "—than ever was either the Bishop of Orkney or my Lord
Holyroodhouse.  Sir William Dick of Braid, an eminent merchant of
Edinburgh, and Provost of the city in the years 1638 and 1639, presents
in his strangely chequered history one of the most striking examples of the
instability of fortune. He was reputed the wealthiest man of his time
in Scotland, and was believed by his contemporaries to have discovered
the philosopher’s stone!? Being a zealous Covenanter he advanced at
one time to the Scottish Convention of Estates, in the memorable year
1641, the sum of 100,000 merks, to save them from the necessity of
disbanding their army ; and in the following year the customs were set to
him, “for 202,000 merks, and 5000 merks of girsoum.”> On the triumph
of Cromwell and the Independents, however, his horror of *the Sectaries”
was greater even than his opposition to the Stuarts, and he advanced
£20,000 for the service of King Charles. By this step he provoked the
wrath of the successful party, while squandering his treasures on a failing
cause. He was unsparingly subjected to the heaviest penalties, until his
vast resources dwindled away in vain attempts to satisfy the rapacity of
legal extortion ; and he died miserably in prison, at Westminster, during the
Protectorate, in want, it is said, of even the common necessarics of life.!
After the Restoration Sir Andrew Dick, the son of Sir William, obtained
the grant of a pension of £432, “until such time as His Majesty shall take
course with the principal,” which it is ncedless to say His Majesty never
did find a suitable time for doing ; and in 1873 Sir Charles Dick, the lineal
heir of Sir Andrew’s claims—then in extreme old age, and acting as
custodian of the Brighton Museum,—renewed application for the pension,
which had been continued under successive sovereigns till 1845. This
romance of real life was familiar to all during Sir Walter Scott’s early years,
and he represents David Deans exultingly exclaiming: “ Then folk might

! In a sasine of part of this property it is styled, ** that western laigh booth, or shop, lying within
the fore tenement of Mr. Adam Bothwell, under the laigh stair thairof . . . as also that merchant
shop entering from the High Street,” etc.

2 Archaologia Scotica, vol. i. p. 336.

# Sir Thomas Hope's Diary, Bann. Club, p. 158. Gersome, or entresse siller, now pronounced
Grassum.

4 These changes of fortune are commemorated in a folio pamphlet, entitled * The lamentable state
of the deceased Sir William Dick.” It contains several engravings, one representing Sir William on
horseback, and attended with guards, as Lord Provost of Edinburgh, superintending the unloading of
one of his rich argosies at Leith. A second exhibits him as arrested, and in the hands of the bailiffs,
and a third represents him dead in prison. The tract is greatly valued by collectors.  Sir Walter Scott
mentions in a note to the Heart of Midlothiar that the only copy he ever saw for sale was valued at £30.
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see men deliver up their silver to the State’s use, as if it had been as muckle
sclate stanes. My father saw them toom the sacks of dollars out o’ Provost
Dick’s window, intill the carts that carried them to the army at Dunse Law ;
and if ye winna believe his testimony, there is the window itsell still standing
in the Luckenbooths,—at the airn stanchells, five doors abune Advocate’s
Close.”' The old timber gable and the stanchelled window of this Scottish
Creesus have vanished, like his own dollars, beyond recall ; but there is no
doubt that the modern and unattractive stone front, extending between
Byers’ and Advocate’s Closes, only disguises the remarkable building to
which such striking historical associations belong. The titles include, not
only a disposition of the property to Sir William Dick of Braid, but the
appraising and disposition of it by his creditors after his death; and its
situation is casually confirmed by a contemporary notice that indicates its
importance at the period. In the classification of the city into companies,
by order of Charles I, the third division extends “from Gladstone’s Land,
down the northern side of the High Street to Sir William Dick’s Land.”?
The house was afterwards occupied by the Earl of Kintore, an early patron
of Allan Ramsay, whose name was given to a small court still remaining
behind the front building, although the public mode of access to it has
disappeared since the remodelling of the old timber land.

Advocate’s Close, which bounds the ancient tenement described above
on the east, derives its name from Sir James Stewart of Goodtrees® who
returned from exile on the landing of the Prince of Orange and took an
active part in the Revolution. He was an object of extreme dislike to the
Jacobite party, who vented their spleen against him in their bitterest
lampoons, some of which are preserved in the Scottish Pasquils; and to
them he was indebted for the sobriquet of Jamie Iylze. Sir James filled
the office of Lord Advocate from 1692 until his death in 1713, one year
excepted, and had a prominent share in nearly all the public transactions
of that important period. Being so long in the enjoyment of his official
title, the close in which he resided received the name of “the Advocate’s
Close.” The house in which he lived and died is at the foot of the close,
on the west side, immediately before descending a flight of steps that some-
what lessen the abruptness of the steep descent.* In 1769 Sir James Stewart,

! Scott says Gosford's Close, but it is obviously a mistake, as independent of the direct evidence we
have of the true site of Sir William Dick’s house, that close was not in the Luckenbooths, the locality
he correctly mentions. 3 Maitland, p. 28s.

3 Now called ** Moredun” in the parish of Liberton. The house was built by Sir James soon after
the Revolution.

4 Sir James Stewart, Provost of Edinburgh in 1648-49, when Cromwell paid his first visit to Edinburgh,
and again in 1658-59, at the close of the Protectorate, purchased the ancient tenement which occupied
this site, and after the Revolution his son, the Lord Advocate, rebuilt it, and died there in 1713, when,
‘“so great was the crowd,” as Wodrow tells in his .{nalecta, ** that the magistrates were at the grave in
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grandson of the Lord Advocate, sold the house to David Dalrymple of
Westhall, Esq., who, when afterwards raised to the Bench, assumed the title
of Lord Westhall, and continued to reside in this old mansion till his death.
This ancient alley retains, nearly unaltered, the same picturesque overhanging
gables and timber projections which have, without doubt, characterised it for
centuries, and may be taken as a good sample of a fashionable close in the
palmy days of Queen Anne. It continued till a comparatively recent period
to be a favourite locality for gentlemen of the law, and has been pointed
out to us, by an old citizen, as the early residence of Andrew Crosbie, the
celebrated original of “ Councillor Pleydell,” who forms so prominent a
character among the dramatis pcersone of Guy Mannering. The house
already mentioned as that of Sir James Stcwart would answer in most points
to the description of the novelist, entering, as it does, from a dark and steep
alley, and commanding a magnificent prospect towards the north, though
now partially obstructed by the buildings of the new town. It is no mean
praise to the old lawyer that he was almost the only one who had the
courage to stand his ground against Dr. Johnson during his visit to Edin-
burgh. Mr. Crosbie afterwards removed to the splendid mansion erected
by him in St. Andrew Square, ornamented with engaged pillars and a highly-
decorated attic storey, which stands to the north of the Royal Bank ; but
he was involved, with many others, in the failure of the Ayr Bank, and died
in such poverty in 1785 that his widow owed her sole support to an annuity
of £50 granted by the Faculty of Advocates.

The lowest house on the east side, directly opposite to that of the Lord
Advocate, was the residence of an artist of some note in the seventeenth
century. It has been pointed out to us by an old citizen still living! as the
house of his “grandmother’s grandfather,” the celebrated John Scougal?
painter of the portrait of George Heriot which hangs in the council-room of
the hospital ; so that here was the fashionable lounge of the dilettanti of the
seventeenth century, and the resort of rank and beauty, careful to preserve
the Greyfriars’ churchyard before the corpse was taken out of the house at the foot of the Advocate’s
Close.""— Coltness Collections, Maitland Club, p. 17.

1 Mr. Andrew Greig, carpet manufacturer.

2 John Scougal, younger, of that name, was a cousin of Patrick Scougal, consecrated Bishop of Aber-
deen in 1664. He added the upper story to the old land in Advocate’s Close, and fitted up one of the
floors as a picture-gallery ; some of his finest works were possessed by the late Andrew Bell, engraver,
the originator of the Encyclopedia Britannica, who married his grand-daughter. Pinkerton remarks of
him : ““ For some years after the Revolution he was the only painter in Scotland, and had a very great
run of business. This brought him into an hasty and incorrect manner.” This is very observable in the
portrait of Ieriot, copied in 1698 from the original by Paul Vansomer—now lost. The head is well
painted, but the drapery and background are so slovenly and harshly executed that they appear more
like the work of an inexperienced pupil. Scougal died at Prestonpans about the year 1730, aged eighty-
five, having witnessed a series of as remarkable political changes as ever occurred during a single life-

time. He is named George in the Weekly Magazine (vol. xv. p. 66) and elsewhere, but this appears to
be an error, as several of his descendants were named after him, Joks.
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unbroken the links of the old line of family portraiture; though a modern
fine lady would be in danger of being seized with a nervous fit at the very
prospect of descending the slippery abyss.

Following our course eastward we arrive at Roxburgh’s Close, which is
believed to derive its name from having been the residence of the Earls of
Roxburgh. It has, however, suffered a very different fate from the adjoining
close. Few of its ancient features have escaped alteration, and only one
doorway remains—now built up,—of the mansion reputed to have been that
in which the noble earls lived in state. The quaint and pious rhyming
legend that adorns the old lintel is represented below. The date carries us
back to the year 1586, in which the ancestor of the Earls of Roxburgh,
Sir Walter Ker of Cessfurd, died. He was one of the leaders in the affray
already alluded to, in which Sir Walter Scott of Buccleuch was slain on the
High Street of Edinburgh. But the initials I-M - point to a different
occupant at that date.

Ancient Lintel from Roxburgh's Close.

Warriston’s Close is another of the ancient alleys of the old town which
still remains nearly in its pristine state, exhibiting the substantial relics of
former grandeur, like the faded gentility of a reduced dowager. Handsome
and lofty polished ashlar fronts are decorated with moulded and sculptured
doorways, surmounted by architraves adorned with inscriptions and armorial
bearings, still ornamental, though broken and defaced. Timber projections
of an early date jut out here and there, and give variety to the irregular
architecture; while almost beyond the point of sight that the straitened
thoroughfare admits of, dormer windows of an ornate character rise into the
roof, and the gables are finished with crow-steps and, in one case at least, with
armorial bearings. Over the doorway on the west side is the inscription,
from the first Eclogue of Virgil, where the poet says of Octavianus :

NAMQUE * ERIT - ILLE - MIHI - SEMPER ' DEUS - 1583 *

If the adulation addressed by the Mantuan laureate to his first imperial
patron was meant here to apply to the reigning sovereign in AD. 1583,
James VI was then only in his eighteenth year. Of the other inscriptions,



14 MEMORIALS OF EDINBURGH

the only one sufficiently perfect to be deciphered is from Horace, Ode xvi.
bk. ii. p. 28, with a variation of ex for the aé of the current text—

NIHIL - EST - EX - OMNI * PARTE - BEATVM -

The front of this building facing the High Street is of polished ashlar work,
surmounted with handsome though dilapidated dormer windows, and is
further adorned with a curious monogram : like most other similar ingenious
devices, undecipherable without the key. We have failed to trace the
builders or earliest occupants; but the third floor of the old land was, in
the following century, the residence of James Murray, Lord Philiphaugh,
one of the judges appointed after the Revolution. He sat in the Convention
of Estates which assembled at Edinburgh 26th June 1678, and was again
chosen to represent the county of Selkirk in Parliament in the year 1681,
when he became a special object of jealousy to the Government. He was
imprisoned in 1684, and under the terror of threatened torture with the
boots he yielded to give evidence against those implicated in the Rye House
Plot. He had the character of an upright and independent judge, but his
contemporaries never forgot “that unhappy step of being an evidence to
save his life.”!

A little farther down the close another doorway invites attention by its
ornate inscription and armorial bearings. At one end of the lintel is a
shield bearing the arms of Bruce of Binning, boldly cut in high relief, and
at the other, the same, impaling the Preston arms; while between them is
this inscription, in large ornamental characters—

GRACIA - DEI - ROBERTUS - BRUISS -

Here the armorial bearings—Bruce impaling Preston—furnish conclusive
evidence of the original occupants, and guide us approximately to the date
of a building thus standing, with all its original characteristics unchanged, as
when it first occupied its site in the centre of the ancient city, before the
disastrous conflagration of 1544. Its substantial masonry can have received
little skaith from the torches of Hertford’s invading army. As appears from
the Chartularies of Newbattle Abbey, Andrew, the Abbot, in May 1499
granted his lands of Kinard, in Stirlingshire, to Edward Brus, his well-
deserving armiger; and in December 1500 he gave to Robert Brus of
Binning, and Mary Preston his spouse, the Monastery’s lands, called the
Abbot’s Lands of West Binning in Linlithgowshire? The builder of the fine
old mansion in Warriston’s Close was therefore already wedded to Mary
Preston, whose arms are impaled with his own over its main entrance, in
the year 1500. In the Book of Retours, their son and heir, Robert Bruce,
appears, and again another Robert, heir male of Robert Bruce of Binning,
! Mackay’s Memoirs. 2 Chalmers’s Caledonia, vol. ii. p. 758.
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his father, so late as the year 1600, as owner of lands in Linlithgow,
anciently belonging to the prioress and convent of the Blessed Virgin Mary
of Elcho, with the church lands of the vicarage of Byning! The Bruces of
Warriston’s Close were therefore a family of note and influence in their day,
who seem to have kept in favour with the Church while its abbots had gifts
to dispose of, and then knew how to shape their course when church lands
were passing into the hands of lay impropriators. They were the chief
residents in the alley in its ancient days of grandeur, and accordingly in all
the earlier titles it is styled Bruce’s Close.

To the north of the Bruces’ lodging is another mansion in the same
style and character. Its main doorway is decorated with inscriptions and
heraldic devices sculptured in like bold relief. The main inscription, so far
as it can now be made out, is GRATIA DEI THOMAS T[0D]} The arms on
the shield to the right, apparently three foxes' heads, may be a clue to the
name of Sir Thomas Tod, who for a brief period displaced Sir John Murray
of Tuchad as provost, amid the distractions of 1524, when the boy-king,
James V, was set to govern the realm. The companion shield, that of the
wife, bears the Brown arms, a chevron between three fleur-de-lis. Here
was the residence in the following reign of Sir Thomas Craig, who won the
character of an upright judge and a man of true nobleness of character,
during a peculiarly trying period of forty years in the reigns of Queen Mary
and James VI. One of his earliest duties as a justice-depute was the trial
of Thomas Scott, sheriff-depute of Perth, and Henry Yair, a priest, who
kept the gates of Holyrood Palace during the assassination of Rizzio. He
appears to have been a man of extreme modesty, and little inclined to take
a prominent part in public affairs. Whether from timidity or diffidence, he
left Sir Thomas Hope to fulfil the duties which rightly devolved on him, as
Advocate for the Church, at the famous trial of the six ministers. He was
of a studious turn, and readier in the use of his pen than his tongue. His
legal treatises are still esteemed for their great learning; and several of his
Latin poems are to be found in the Deliti@ Poetarum Scotorum. Although
repeatedly offered by King James the honour of knighthood he constantly
refused it ; and he is only styled “Sir Thomas Craig” in consequence of a
royal mandate that every one should give him that title. He was succeeded
in the old mansion by his son, Sir Lewis Craig, and had the satisfaction of
pleading as advocate, while Sir Lewis presided on the bench under the title
of Lord Wrightslands. The house was subsequently occupied by Sir George
Urquhart of Cromarty, and still later by Sir Robert Baird of Saughton Hall ;
before it passed to the more celebrated residenter from whom the latest
designation of this ancient alley is derived. The eminent statesman, Sir
Archibald Johnston of Warriston, nephew of its older inhabitant, Sir Thomas

Y Book of Retours, vol. ii. Nos. 26, 30.
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Craig, appears from the titles to have purchased from his cousin, Sir Lewis
Craig, the house adjoining his own, on the west side of the close, immediately
below the one last described. Johnston of Warriston took an early and very
prominent share in the resistance offered to the schemes of Charles I; and
in 1638, on the royal edict being proclaimed from the Cross of Edinburgh,
which set at defiance the popular opposition to the hated Service Book, he
appeared on a scaffold erected near it, and read aloud the celebrated protest
drawn up in name of the Tables, while the mob compelled the royal
heralds to abide the reading of this counter-defiance. It is unnecessary to
sketch minutely the incidents in a life already familiar to the students of
Scottish history. He was knighted by Charles I, on his second visit to
Scotland in 1641, and assumed the designation of Lord Warriston on his
promotion to the bench. He was one of the Scottish Commissioners sent
to mediate between Charles I. and the English Parliament; and after filling
many important offices he sat by the same judicial title as a peer in
Cromwell’s abortive House of Lords. On the death of the Protector he
displayed his keen opposition to the restoration of the Stuarts by acting as
President of the Committece of Safety under Richard Cromwell. On the
restoration of Charles II he became an object of special animosity, and
having refused to concur in the treaty of Breda he escaped to Hamburg,
from whence he afterwards retired to Rouen in France. He was delivered
up to Charles by the French king, and after a tedious imprisonment, both
in the Tower of London and the old Tolbooth of Edinburgh, he was
executed with peculiar marks of indignity, on the spot where he had so
courageously defied the royal proclamation twenty-five years before. His
nephew, Bishop Burnet, has furnished a very characteristic picture of
the hardy and politic statesman, in which he informs us he was a man of
such energetic zeal that he rarely allowed himself more than three hours’
sleep in the twenty-four. When we consider the leading share he took in
all the events of that memorable period, and his intimate intercourse with
the most eminent men of his time, we cannot but view with lively interest
the steep and straitened alley that still associates his name with the crowded
lands of the old town, and the decayed and deserted mansion where he has
probably entertained such men as Henderson, Argyle, Rothes, Leslie, Monk,
and even Cromwell.! .

! The importance which was attached to this close as one of the most fashionable localities of
Edinburgh during the last century appears from a proposition addressed by the Earl of Morton to the
Lord Provost, in 1767, in which—among other conditions which he demands, under the threat of
opposing the extension of the royalty to the grounds on which the new town is built—he requires that
a timber bridge shall be thrown over the North Loch, from the foot of Warriston’s Close to Bearford's
Parks, and the Public Register Offices of Scotland, built at the cost of the town, ‘‘on the highest level
ground of Robertson’s and Wood’s farms.” To this the magistrates reply by stating, among other objec-
tions, that the value of the property in the close alone is £20,000 \— Proposition by the Earl of Morton.
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The quaint and biting epitaph, penned by some zealous Cavalier on the
death of his mother is worth quoting as a sample of party rancour against
the Whig statesman—

“ Deevil suell ye deathe,
And burste the lyke a tune,

That took away good Elspet Craige,
And left ye knave her sone.”

History and romance contend for the associations of the Scottish capital,
not always with the advantage on the dull side of fact. On a certain noted
Saturday night, in the annals of fiction, Dandie Dinmont and Colonel
Mannering turned from the High Street “into a dark alley, then up a dark
stair, and into an open door.” The alley was Writers’ Court, and the door
that of Clerihugh’s tavern : a celebrated place of convivial resort during the
last century, which still stands at the bottom of the court, though its deserted
walls no longer ring with the revelry of Higk Jinks, and such royal mummings
as formed the sport of Pleydell and his associates on that jovial night. The
picture is no doubt a true one of scenes familiar to grave citizens of a former
generation. Clerihugh’s tavern was of old the favourite resort of our civic
dignitaries for those “douce festivities ” that were then deemed indispensable
to the satisfactory settlement of all city affairs. The wags of last century
used to tell of a certain city treasurer who, on being applied to for a new
rope to the Tron Kirk bell, summoned the Council to deliberate on the
demand ; an adjournment to Clerihugh’s tavern, it was hoped, might facilitate
the settlement of so weighty a matter, but one dinner proved insufficient, and
it was not till their third banquet that the application was referred to a
committee, who spliced the old bell rope and settled the bill!

The legendary repute of Mary King’s Close has already been referred to.
Her name has outlived any definite story ; and been so long associated with
goblins and the plague, that it is surprising to recover in earlier sasines notices
of Alexander King, Advocate, as the chief proprietor there. He figures as
notary in several of the St. Giles’s charters; gives his name for a time to
the closc ; and was probably the father of Mary King. A punning epigram
by Drummond of Hawthornden, “on Mary King’s pest,”—though written
in no sympathetic vein,—suggests the idea that her name had been perpetu-
ated as one distinguished by social position, and also by creed, among the
victims of the plague-stricken close. For Mr. Alexander King, a zealous
Queen’s man, is noted by Calderwood as “a malicious papist ” whose doings,
after his return from France, called forth an indignant remonstrance from
the ambassador of the English Queen. The visitation of the pest may,
therefore, have been popularly regarded as a judgment of heaven on the
malignant household.!

1 Calderwood, iv. 414.
VOL. 11 C
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“Turne, citizens, to God ; repent, repent,
And praye your bedlam frenzies may relent ;
Think not rebellion a trifling thing,
This plague doth fight for AMarie and the King.”1

The old associations of the locality furnished a tempting theme to the author
of Satan’s Invisible World Discovered. He there gives an account of
apparitions seen in this close, and “attested by witnesses of undoubted
veracity,” which leaves all ordinary wonders far behind! This erudite work,
written to confound the atheists of the seventeenth century, found both pur-
chasers and believers enough to have satisfied even its credulous author ; and
its popularity may account for the prevalence of superstitious prejudices
regarding this old close. It was, at best, a grim and gousty-looking place,
deserted latterly by all but the powers of darkness, as appears from the
reports of property purchased for the site of the Royal Exchange. It was
nearly all in ruins, having been burnt down in 1750. The pendicle of
Satan’s worldly possessions, however, which we have now to describe, is under-
stood to be still standing in the nether regions of the Royal Exchange area.

. From Professor Sinclair’s veracious narrative it appears that Mr. Thomas
Coltheart, a respectable law-agent, removed from a lower part of the town to
a better house in Mary King's Close. The maid-servant was warned by the
neighbours of its being /faunted, on her first coming about the house, and
became so intimidated that she deserted her place, leaving Mr. Coltheart and
his wife alone in their new dwelling to defy the devil and his minions as
they best might. The good lady had seated herself beside her husband’s
bed—who had lain down on the Sunday afternoon, being slightly indis-
posed,—and was engaged in reading the Bible, when, happening to lift her
eye, she was appalled by beholding a head, seemingly that of an old man
with a gray beard, suspended in mid air at a little distance, and gazing
intently on her. She swooned at the sight, and lay in a state of insensi-
bility till the return of her neighbours from church. Her husband on being
told of the apparition sought to reason her out of her credulity, and the
evening passed over without further trouble ; but they were not long gone to
bed when he himself spied the same phantom head, by the light of the fire,
gazing at him with its ghastly eyes. He rose and lighted a candle and
took to prayer, but with little effect; for in about an hour the bodiless
phantom was joined by that of a child also suspended in mid air; and this
again was followed by a naked arm from the elbow downwards, which, in
defiance of all adjurations and prayers, not only persisted in remaining, but
seemed bent on shaking hands with them. The poor agent in the most
solemn manner addressed this very friendly but unwelcome intruder, engaging
to do his utmost to right any wrongs it had received if it would only begone,

! Drummond of Hawthornden's Zoems, Maitland Club, p. 395.
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but all in vain. The goblins evidently considered that the devout couple,
and not they, were the intruders. They persisted in making themselves at
home ; though after all they seem to have been civil enough ghosts, with no
unfriendly intentions, if they were only allowed the run of the house. By
and by the naked arm was joined by a spectral dog, which deliberately
mounted a chair, and turning its nose to its tail went to sleep. This was
followed by a cat, and soon after by other and stranger creatures, until the
whole floor swarmed with them, so that “the honest couple went to their
knees again within the bed, there being no standing in the floor of the
room. In the time of prayer their ears were startled with a deep, dreadful,
and loud groan, as of a strong man dying, at which all the apparitions and
visions at once vanished !”

Mr. Coltheart must have been a man of no ordinary courage, or this
night’s experience would have satisfied him to resign his new house to the
devil, or his subtenants, who seemed to have taken a previous lease of it.
He continued to reside there till his death without further molestation ; but
at the very moment he expired a gentleman, whose law-agent and intimate
friend he was, being in his house at Tranent,—a small town about ten miles
from Edinburgh,—was awoke, while in bed with his wife, by the nurse,
who was affrighted by something like a cloud moving about the room.
On the gentleman getting hold of his sword, to defend himself and them
against this unwonted visitor, the cloud gradually assumed the form of a
man ; and “at last the apparition looked him fully and perfectly in the face,
and stood by him with a ghostly and pale countenance.” The gentleman
recognised his friend Thomas Coltheart, and demanded of him if he was
dead, and what was his errand ? whereat the ghost held up his hand three
times, shaking it towards him, and vanished. He proceeded immediately to
Edinburgh to inquire into this strange occurrence, and arriving at the house
in Mary King’s Close, found the widow in tears for the death of the husband
whose apparition he had seen. This account, we are told, was related by
the minister, who was in the house at the time, to the Duke of Lauderdale
in the presence of many nobles; and is altogether as well authenticated a
ghost story as the lovers of the marvellous could desire. The house after
being deserted for a while was again attempted to be inhabited by a hard-
drinking courageous old pensioner and his wife; but towards midnight
the candle began to burn blue ; the head again made its appearance, but in
much more horrible form, and the terrified couple made a precipitate retreat,
resigning their dwelling without dispute to the powers of darkness.

Several ancient alleys and a mass of old and mostly ruinous buildings
were demolished in 1753, in preparing the site for the Royal Exchange.
Various sculptured stones then removed were built into the curious tower
erected at the Dean, and popularly known by the name of “ Ross’s Folly.”
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Several of these, now scattered about the garden grounds below the Castle
rock, exhibit considerable variety of heraldic device and ornamentation. But
later operations on the same locality, in the construction of Cockburn Street,
brought to light a remarkable piece of sculpture, probably of the fifteenth
century. It is a domestic scene, executed in high relief, representing with
minute detail a deathbed scene, including eight figures. As shown in the
accompanying woodcut, four priests are apparently administering extreme
unction to a dying person, presumably of wealth and rank. The children

Sculptured stone, representing a deathbed scene ; found in Mary King's Close.

kneel by the bed ; and at its foot a boy leans on a cabinet in an attitude
strikingly suggestive of grief. This curious piece of medi@val art is now in
the Museum of the Society of Antiquaries! A richly carved head of a door-
way, in a style fully a century later, with decorated ogee arch, crockets and
finial, and surmounted by shields, is built into a modern erection at the foot
of Craig’s Close. It nearly corresponds with another in a more dilapidated
state in the Princes Street gardens, tending to show the important character
of the buildings that formerly occupied this site. There is also a lintel, bearing
the Somerville arms and the date 1658, with an inscription, now nearly
effaced, and the initials 1.S,, possibly those of James, tenth Lord Somerville.

Y Proceedings of S. A. Scot., vol. viii. pl. 3.
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A vague tradition of Queen Mary’s presence long flitted about the locality
to the east of Mary King's Close; and when the civic reformers of the
eighteenth century appropriated the entire area between that and Craig’s
Close, the legendary fancy appears to have located itself definitely in Anchor
Close. In our search after evidence for its foundation we have been success-
ful in identifying the site of a long-vanished mansion in its vicinity where
Queen Mary spent her last night in Edinburgh. Among the alleys swept
away in 1753 to make room for the Royal Exchange, Stewart’s Close lay
immediately to the east of Mary King’s Close; and at its head, fronting the
High Street, on the site of the present entrance to the Royal Exchange,
stood the house of the Provost, Sir Simon Preston, to which the captive
Queen was brought after her surrender to the confederate lords at Carberry
Hill on the 1st of June 1567. This entirely accords with the narrative of
Archbishop James Beatoun, who, writing immediately after the event, says
“Thay logit hir majestie in the provost’s loging, fornent the Croce, upon the
north syd of the gait.”! There are few spots of greater historical interest in
the old capital of the Stuarts. But the lodging of Sir Simon Preston, which
would have formed so notable a feature in the High Street, had been superseded
by later buildings before the site was appropriated for the Royal Exchange.

The old land at the head of Craig’s Close, fronting the main street, claims
notice as occupying the site of Andrew Hart the famous old printer’s “ heich
buith, lyand within the foir tenement of land upone the north syd of the
Hie Streit.”? By a curious coincidence it became, after the lapse of two
centuries, the residence of the celebrated bibliopolist, Provost Creech, and
the scene of his famed morning levees; and more recently the dwelling of
Mr. Archibald Constable, from whose establishment so many of the highest
productions of Scottish literature emanated. The printing-house of the old
typographer still stands a little way down the close, on the east side. It is
a picturesque substantial stone tenement, with large and neatly moulded
windows, retaining traces of the mullions that anciently divided them. The
lower crowstep of the north gable bears a shield adorned with the Sinclair
arms ; and carved stone corbels, whereon have formerly rested antique timber
projections, project from the several floors. Over a sculptured doorway is
the motto, MY * HOIP - IS - CHRYST - with the initials A-S+and M- K -,
with a curious device containing the letter S entwined with a cross, and the
date 1593. An interesting relic preserved in the Museum of the Society
of Antiquaries, is thus described in the list of donations for 1828: “A
very perfect ancient Scottish spear, nearly fifteen feet long, which has
been preserved from time immemorial, within the old printing-office in
Craig’s Close, supposed to have been the workshop of the celebrated
printer, Andro Hart” In the memorable tumult on the 17th December

! Laing, ii. 113. 2 Andrew Hart’s Will.—Ban#n. Misc. vol. ii. p. 247.
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1596, already described, when the King was besieged in the Tolbooth by
the excited citizens, Andrew Hart is specially mentioned as one of the
foremost in the rising that produced such terror and indignation in King
James’s mind ; in so much so, that he was soon after warded in the Castle
of Edinburgh, at His Majesty’s instance, as one of the chief authors of “ that
seditious stirring up and moving of the treasonable tumult and uproare that
was in the burgh.”! We can fancy the sturdy old printer sallying out from
the close, at the cry of “ Armour! armour!” hastily armed with his long
spear and jack, and joining the excited burghers that mustered from every
booth and alley to lay siege to the affrighted monarch in the Tolbooth ; or
to help “the worthy Deacon Watt” in freeing him from his ignoble durance.

The house which stands between the fore and back lands of the famed
typographer was during the last century one of the best frequented taverns
in the neighbourhood of the Cross, and a favourite resort of some of the
most noted of the clubs, by means of which the citizens of that period were
wont to seek relaxation. Foremost among those was the Cape Club, cele-
brated in Fergusson’s poem of “ Auld Reekie.” The scene of meeting for a
considerable period, where Cape Hall was nightly inaugurated, was in James
Mann’s at the Isle of Man Arms, Craig’s Close. There a perpetual High
Jinks was kept up, each member receiving on his election a peculiar name
and character which he was ever afterwards expected to maintain. This
feature, however, was by no means peculiar to the Cape Club, but formed
a characteristic of nearly all the convivial meetings of the capital, so that a
sketch of “the Knights of the Cape” will suffice as a sample of these old
Edinburgh social unions. The Club appears from its minutes to have been
duly constituted, and the mode of procedure finally fixed, in the year 1764 ;
it had, however, existed long before, and the name and peculiar forms which
it then adopted were derived from the characters previously assumed by its
leading members. Its insignia were, first, a cape, or crown, worn by the
Sovereign of the Cape on state occasions, and which in the palmy days of
the Club its enthusiastic devotees adorned with gold and jewels ; and, second,
two maces in the form of huge steel pokers, which formed the sword and
sceptre of his majesty in Cape Hall; from whence they were transferred to
the lobby of the Society of Antiquaries.

The first Sovereign of the order was Thomas Lancashire, the once cele-
brated comedian, for whom Fergusson wrote the epitaph—

“Alas! poor Tom, how oft, with merry heart,
Have we beheld thee play the sexton’s part !

Each merry heart must now be grieved to see
The sexton’s dreary part performed on thee.”

The comedian rejoiced in the title of Si» Cape, and in right of his sovereignty
! Calderwood's Hist. vol. v. pp. §12, 520, §35.
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gave name to the Club, while the title of Si» Poker, which pertained to its
oldest member, James Aitken, suggested the insignia of royalty. Tom
Lancashire was succeeded on the throne by David Herd, the well-known
editor of what Scott calls the first classic edition of Scottish songs, whose
knightly sobriquet was Szr Scrage. His secretary was Jacob More, the
landscape painter ;! and among his subjects may be mentioned the cele-
brated historical painter, Alexander Runciman, S#r Brimstone,; Robert
Fergusson the poet, dubbed Sir Precentor, most probably from his fine
musical voice ; Gavin Wilson, the poetical shoemaker, author of a collection
of masonic songs published in 1788, whose club title was Sir Macaroni ;
Walter Williamson, of Cardrona, Esq., a thorough specimen of the rough
bon vivant laird of the last age; Walter Ross, the antiquary; Sir Henry
Raeburn, who had already been dubbed a knight, under the title of Sz 70dy,
ere George IV gave him that of Sir Henry; with a host of other knights
of great and little renown, of whom we shall only specify Si&» Lluyd, as the
notorious William Brodie was styled. Some ingenious member has drawn
on the margin of the minutes of his election, 27th April 1773, a representa-
tion of his last public appearance, on the new drop of his own invention,
some fifteen years later. The old books of the Club abound with such
pencilled illustrations and commentaries, in which the free touch of Runci-
man may occasionally be traced among ruder sketches of less practised
hands. The most interesting is a sketch of Fergusson in his character of
Sir Precentor, which possesses a peculiar value as being the only likeness of
the poet that has been preserved : if we except the head of the prodigal in
Runciman’s historical picture, for which he undoubtedly sat.

The following was the established form of inauguration of a Knight of
the Cape. The novice on making his appearance in Cape Hall was led up
to the Sovereign by two knightly sponsors, and having made his obeisance,
was required to grasp the large poker with his left hand, and laying his
right hand on his breast, the oath d¢ fide/s was administered to him by the
Sovereign, the knights present all standing uncovered :—

‘I swear devoutly by this light,

To be a true and faithful Knight,

With all my might,

Both day and night.

So help me Poker!”

Having then reverentially kissed the larger poker, and continuing to grasp
it, the Sovereign raised the smaller poker with both his royal fists, and
aiming three successive blows at the novice’s head, he pronounced, with

! Jacob More was a pupil of Alexander Runciman. Ile went to Rome about 1773, where he
acquired a high reputation as a landscape painter. He applied his art to the arrangement of the gardens
of the Prince Borghese’s villa, near the Porta Pinciana, with such taste as excited the highest admira-
tion of the Italians.— Fuseli.
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each, one of the initial letters of the motto of the Club, C. F. D., explaining
their import to be Concordia Fratrum Decus. The knight-elect was then
called upon to recount some adventure which had befallen him, and from
this the Sovereign devised the title conferred on him, which he ever after
bore in Cape Hall. This description of the mode of inauguration into the
knightly order will explain the allusions in Fergusson’s poem—

¢« But chief, O Cape! we crave thy aid,
To get our cares and poortith laid.
Sincerity, and genius true,
Of Knights have ever been the due.
Mirth, music, porter deepest dyed,
Are never herc to worth denied ;
And health, o’ happiness the queen,
Blinks bonny, wi’ her smile serene.”

The Club, whose honours were thus carefully hedged in by solemn cere-
monial, established its importance by deeds consistent with its lofty profes-
sions ; among which may be specified the gift by his majesty of the Cape to
His Majesty of Great Britain in 1778 of a contribution from the knights, of
one hundred guineas, “to assist His Majesty in raising troops.” The entry
money, which was originally half-a-crown, gradually rose to a guinea, and
the Club seems to have latterly assumed a very aristocratic character.
A due regard for economy, however, remained with it to the last. On the
1oth of June 1776 it is resolved, “that they shall at no time take bad
half-pence from the house, and also, recommend it to the house to take none
from them!” and one of the last items entered on their minutes arises from
an intimation of the landlord that he could not afford them suppers under
sixpence each, when it is magnanimously determined by the Club, in full
conclave, “ that the suppers shall be at the old price of fourpence-halfpenny!”
Sir Cape, the comedian, appears to have eked out the scanty rewards of the
drama by himself maintaining a tavern at the head of the Canongate, which
was for some time patronised by the Knights of the Cape. They afterwards
paid him occasional visits at Comedy Hut, New Edinburgh, a house which
he opened beyond the precincts of the North Loch about the year 1770,
and there they held their ninth Grand Cape, as their great festival was
styled, on the oth of June of that year. This sketch of one of the most
famous convivial clubs of last century will give some idea of the revels in
which grave councillors and senators were wont to engage, when each slipped
off his professional formality along with his black coat and three-tailed wig,
and bent his energies to the task of such merry fooling. The same haunt
of revelry and wit witnessed in the year 1785 the once celebrated charlatan,
Dr. Katterfelto—immortalised by Cowper in 7/%e 7Task, among the quack-
eries of old London—
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“ With his hair on end,
At his own wonders wondering for his bread !”
His advertisement ! sets forth his full array of titles, as Professor of Experi-
mental Philosophy, Lecturer on Electricity, Chemistry, and Sleight of Hand,
etc. ; and announces to his patrons and the public that the music begins at
six, and the lecture at seven o'clock, at Craig’s Close, High Street.

Another of the old lanes of the High Street, which has been an object
of special note to the local antiquary, is Anchor Close ; its fame is derived,
in part at least, from the famous corps of Crochallan Fencibles, celebrated
by Burns both in prose and verse: a convivial club, whose festive meetings
were held in Daniel Douglas’s tavern at the head of the alley. Burns was
introduced to this club in 1787 while in Edinburgh superintending the
printing of his poems, when, according to custom, one of the corps was
pitted against the poet in a contest of wit and irony. Burns bore the assault
with good humour, and entered into the full spirit of the meeting ; but he
afterwards paid his antagonist the compliment of acknowledging that “he
had never been so abominably thrashed in all his life!” The name of this
gallant corps, which has been the subject of /learned conjecture, is the burden
of a Gaelic song, with which the landlord occasionally entertained his guests.?
The Club was founded by William Smellie, author of the Plhilosoply of
Natural History, editor of the first edition of the Encyclopedia Britannica, and
otherwise intimately associated with the literary work of the period. Burns
was strongly attracted to him by his social disposition, literary tastes, and
shrewd caustic wit. He has left a portrait of his friend in an impromptu
poetical sketch, which helps us to realise their duels of wit and raillery in
the old Anchor Close, where Smellie

“to Crochallan came,

The old cocked hat, the gray surtout, the same ;

His bristling beard just rising in its might ;

*Twas four long nights and days till shaving-night ;

His uncombed grizzly locks, wild-staring, thatched

A head for thought profound and clear unmatched ;

Yet though his caustic wit was biting rude

His heart was warm, benevolent, and good.”
Among the members of the Crochallan Club who shared in its jovial
encounters of wit and revelry were the Honourable Henry Erskine, Lords
Newton and Gillies, Dr. Gilbert Stuart, with other men eminent for wit,
learning, and rank. Mr. Smellie may be regarded as in somc degree the
genmius loci of the old close. The distinguished printing-house which he
established was in the recesses of the same alley which was guarded at its
entry by the headquarters of the Crochallan Fencibles; and there the most

1 Caledonian Mercury, 24th January 1788.
2 Kerr's Life of William Smellie, vol. ii. p. 256.
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eminent literary men of that period superintended the printing of works that
have made the press of the Scottish capital cclebrated throughout Europe.
There was the haunt of Drs. Blair, Beattie, Black, Robertson, Adam Fer-
gusson, Adam Smith, Lords Monboddo, Hailes, Kames, Henry Mackenzie,
Arnot, Hume, and, foremost among the host, the poet Burns, of whom some
interesting traditions are preserved in the office. The old desk is still shown
at which they revised their proofs,; and the well-used desk-stool, treasured
as a valuable heirloom, bears an inscription setting forth that it is “ the stool
on which Burns sat while correcting the proofs of his poems, from December
1786 to April 1787.” Not even the famed Ballantyne press can compete
with this venerable haunt of the Scottish Jterati, whose very “ devils” have
consumed more valuable manuscript in kindling the office fires than would
make the fortunes of a dozen modern autograph collectors! It need not
surprise us to learn that even the original manuscripts of Burns were con-
verted to such homely purposes : the estimation of the poet being very differ-
ent in 1787 from what it has since become.

Of traditions of an earlier date the Anchor Close has its full share ; and
the general character of the old buildings that rear their tall and irregular
fronts along its west side still attests its early importance. Immediately on
entering the close from the High Street the visitor discovers this inscription,
tastefully carved over the first entrance within the pend: THE * LORD ' IS -
ONLY ' MY ' SVPORT -; and overhead, above one of the windows facing
down the close, a carved stone bears a shield with the date 1569, and, on its
third and fourth quarters, a pelican feeding her young with her own blood.
Over another doorway a little farther down is this pious legend: O * LORD -
IN - THE - IS - AL - MY - TRAIST - Here was the approach to Daunie
Douglas’s haunt of the Crochallan corps. It is mentioned under the name
of the Anchor Tavern in a deed of renunciation by James Deans of Wood-
houselee, Esq., in favour of his daughter, dated 171 3, and still earlier references
allude to its occupants as vintners. The portion of this building which faces
the High Street retains associations of a different character, adding another to
the numerous examples of the simpler notions of our ancestors who felt their
dignity in no way endangered when “the toe of the peasant came so near
the heel of the courtier.” It is styled in most of the title-deeds “ Lord
Forglen’s land,” so that on one of the stories of the same building that fur-
nished accommodation to the old tavern resided Sir Alexander Ogilvie,
Bart., one of the Commissioners of the Union, and for many years a senator
of the College of Justice under the title of Lord Forglen. Fountainhall
records some curious notes of an action brought against him by Sir Alexander
Forbes of Tolquhoun for stealing a gilded maser cup out of his house.
The cup was at length accidentally discovered in the hands of a goldsmith at
Aberdeen, to whom Sir Alexander had himself entrusted it some years before
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to be repaired. He forgot it, and so it lay there unrelieved, in security for
the goldsmith’s charge of half-a-crown! It finally cost its rash and, as it
appears, vindictive owner a penalty of 10,000 merks, the half only of the
fine at first awarded against him.

Perhaps too little attention has been given to the confused tradition as
to Queen Mary’s occupation of the ancient building at the head of Anchor
Close at some time or other. The Crochallan Fencibles were wont to date
their printed circulars from “ Queen Mary’s council-room,” and the great hall
in which they mect, and in which also the Society of Antiquaries long held
its anniversary meetings, bore the name of the CROWN. But the state-
ment in a history of the close, privately printed by Mr. Smellie in 1843, as
“a remarkable fact” that there existed formerly a niche in the wall of this
room where Mary's crown was deposited when she sat in council, was little
calculated to invite any serious investigation of the story. The true interest
attached to the locality is due to it as the well-authenticated scene of literary
labours and convivial license among the wits, poets, and philosophers of a
later age. The building has still the appearance of having been a mansion
of note in earlier times. In addition to the inscriptions already mentioned,
beautifully cut in ornamental lettering, it is decorated with bold string-
courses, following with picturesque irregularity every varying level and
projection, in a fashion that produces some of the most characteristic features
of the ancient private buildings of Edinburgh. It corresponds also to others
of the same class, alrecady described, in having four large windows placed so
close together, two on each floor, as to convey the idea of one lofty window
divided by a narrow mullion and transom. In the interior decayed panel-
ling, and mutilated yet handsome oak balustrades, still attest the former
dignity of this traditional resort of Queen Mary.

Over the entrance to a house down the close, where the Bill Chamber
was during the greater part of last century, the initials and date W-R;
C-M- 1616, are cut in large letters; and the house immediately below
presents the only instance we have met with of a carved inscription over
an interior doorway. It occurs above the entrance to a small inner room
in the sunk floor of the house; but the wall rises above the roof and is
finished with crow-steps, so that the portion now enclosing it appears to
be a later addition. The suggestive motto accords with the occupation of
the house by more dignified tenants than its straitened dimensions might
seem to imply, and serves to illustrate the limited accommodation that
sufficed for the dwelling of a wealthy burgess in the seventeenth century :—

W.F.ANGVSTA.AD.VSVM. AVGVSTA.B.G.

The initials are those of William Fowler, merchant burgess; the father in
all probability of William Fowler, the poet, who was sccretary to Queen
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Anne of Denmark, and whose sister was the mother of Drummond of
Hawthornden. At a later period this mansion formed the residence of Sir
George Drummond, Lord Provost of Edinburgh in the years 1683 and 1684,
and probably a descendant of the original owner. In his time, and
subsequently in that of Lord Forglen, the lower ground appears to have
been laid out in gardens, sloping down to the North Loch. In Burns's days
it had for an occupant one of his Crochallan cronies, “rattlin’, roarin’ Willie
Dunbar,” an uncommonly merry, uproarious, good fellow, who when he
unbent himself in the hours of mirthful relaxation appeared as Colonel of
the Crochallans ; but in his official duties as a Writer to the Signet was held
in high estcem as a shrewd man of business. He ultimately filled the office
of Inspector-General of Stamp Duties for Scotland.

In the vicinity of the Anchor Close, with all its varied associations of
past generations, is the Old Stamp Office Close, on the west side of which
stands a large mansion, formerly the residence of Alexander, ninth Earl of
Eglinton, and his Countess, Susannah Kennedy, of whom some account has
already been given in connection with the reputed escape from the Tolbooth
of the assassin of their son, the tenth Earl. The Countess was esteemed
the handsomest woman of her time. She was brought to Edinburgh in the
distracting period of the Union by her father, Sir Archibald Kennedy of
Colzean, a rough old cavalier, who had shared in the best and worst achieve-
ments of Claverhouse. The late Charles Kirkpatrick Sharpe, a descendant of
the lovely Countess, preserved the traditions of the sensation created by her
charms among the rival politicians then assembled in the Scottish capital.
Sir John Clerk, the Baronet of Pennycuik, wooed her in verse, and made a
formal declaration of his passion to the old cavalier. But on the latter
advising with the Earl of Eglinton on the proposal his answer was,
“ Bide a wee, Sir Archie, my wife's very sickly ! "—a hint sufficient to baulk
the hopes of the laird of Pennycuik. The Earl, who was then little more
than forty years of age, soon after found himself a widower, and, to the
infinite chagrin of many younger but less attractive wooers, he “ bore off the
belle,” and made the lovely Susannah his third Countess. Sir John Clerk
was the author of the fine Scottish song—* O merry may the maid be that
marries wi’ the miller,” and but for the temptations of rank and title might
have been the happy lover; for the Countess was somewhat of a blue-
stocking, and the most conspicuous patroness of the Scottish Muses in her
day. Allan Ramsay won her special favour. He dedicated to her his fine
Scottish pastoral, T/e Gentle Shepherd ; and at a later period presented
to her the original manuscript of the poem, which she afterwards parted with
to James Boswell. It is now preserved in the library at Auchinleck, along
with the presentation letter of the poet.

Euphemia, or Lady Effie as she was more generally called, a daughter



THE HIGH STREET 29

of the Earl by his first Countess, married the celebrated “ Union Lockhart,”
and proved an able and uncompromising auxiliary in many of his secret
intrigues on behalf of the exiled Stuarts. When not engaged in attending
Parliament he resided chiefly at his country seat of Dryden, while Lady
Effie paid frequent visits to Edinburgh, disguised in male attire. ~She used
to frequent the coffee-houses and other places of public resort, and joining
freely in conversation with the Whig partisans she often obtained important
information for her husband. Among the curious reminiscences of bygone
times, derived from the family traditions narrated to us by the grand-nephew
of Lady Lockhart, the following specimen of the tactics she resorted to
furnishes a singularly graphic picture of the manners and ideas of the age of
Queen Anne. It chanced on one occasion that Mr. Forbes, a zealous Whig,
but a man of profligate habits, had got hold of some important private papers
implicating Lockhart, and which he had engaged to forward to Government.
Lady Effie dressed her two sons, who were fair and somewhat effeminate-
looking, though handsome youths, in negligee, fardingale, and masks, with
patches, jewels, and all the finery of accomplished courtesans. Thus equipped
they sallied out to the Cross, and watching for the Whig gallant they speedily
attracted his notice, and so won on him by their attentions that he was induced
to accompany them to a neighbouring tavern, where the pseudo fair ones
fairly drank him below the table, and then rifled him of the dangerous papers.

Like other aristocratic Edinburgh mansions, that of the Earl and his fair
Countess was appropriated by a younger generation as one of their most
favoured convivial haunts; and, under the name of Fortune’s Tavern, long
continued to be the resort of men of rank and fashion while yet some
of the nobles of Scotland dwelt in its old capital. At a still later period
it was the scene of the annual festivities during the sittings of the General
Assembly of the Kirk. The old Earl of Leven, who was for many years
the representative of majesty at the High Court of the Church, annually took
up his abode at this fashionable tavern, and there received in state the
courtiers who crowded to his splendid levees. Still more strangely does it
contrast with modern notions to learn that the celebrated Henry Dundas,
first Viscount Melville, began practice as an advocate while residing on the
third flat of the old land, a little farther down the street, at the head of the
Fleshmarket Close, and continued to occupy his exalted dwelling for a
considerable time. Below this close we again come to buildings of a more
recent period, and in a style of modern refinement such as seemed to the
citizens of the eighteenth century the acme of civic reform. Milne Square,
which bears the date 1689, exhibits one of these old town improvements,
before its citizens drcamt of bursting their ancient fetters and rearing a new
city beyond the banks of the North Loch. To the east of this, the first step
in that great undertaking demolished some of the old lanes of the High
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street, and among the rest tie Cap and Feather Close, a short alley, divided
only by its eastern range of buildings from the ancient thoroughfare of
Halkerston’'s Wynd, of which they formed the west side. When the
approaches to the North Bridge were formed the Cap and Feather Close
was swept away ; but some of its old houses, remodelled in part to adapt
them to the novel change, have survived among the lands on the east side
of the street. When, in 1460 and subsequent years, Trinity College Church
was in process of erection, Halkerston’s Wynd was the principal access to it
from the High Strect. The name of Halkerston occurs repeatedly in deeds
of lands in Edinburgh in the fifteenth and sixteenth century. According to
one venerable tradition its association with the old wynd commemorated
the death of David Halkerstoun of Halkerstoun while bravely defending this
approach against the English in 1544. There is, however, more probability
in its derivation from John Halkerstone, “ master of the fabric,” or architect,

Ancient doorway in Halkerston's Wynd.

of the Collegiate Church of Queen Mary of Gueldres. One of the pictur-
esque timber-fronted lands of this vencrable thoroughfare long survived the
modernising transformations of the nineteenth century ; and the accompanying
woodcut shows the unique character of the lintel of its main doorway, which
remained with a portion of the old walls when the building was taken down.
One of the houses on the western side of the wynd, entering from the Cap
and Feather Close, had peculiar claims on the interest of every lover of
Scottish poetry, for here, on the 5th of September 1750, the gifted child of
genius, Robert Fergusson, was born. The precise site of his father’s dwelling
is unknown, but now that the old locality has been transformed by the indis-
crimating hands of modern improvers, this description may suffice to suggest
to some, as they pass along that crowded thoroughfare, such thoughts as the
dwellers in cities are most careless to encourage.!

! In Edgar’s map the close is shown extending no farther than in a line with Milne Square, so that
the whole of the east side still remains, including, it may be, the poet’s birthplace.
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Availing ourselves of the subdivision of the present subject, effected by
the improvements to which we have adverted, we shall retrace our steps, and
glance at such associations with the olden time as may still be gathered
from the scene of the desolating fires that swept away nearly every ancient
feature on the south side of the High Street. The last survivor of all the
antique buildings that once reared their picturesque and lofty fronts between
the Lawnmarket and Niddry’s Wynd was demolished in 1847 to make way
for the new Police Office. It had withstood the terrible conflagration that
raged around it in 1824, and, with the curious propensity that still prevails
in Edinburgh for inventing suggestive and appropriate names, it was latterly
known as “ the Salamander Land.”' Through this a large archway led into
the Old Fishmarket Close, on the west side of which, previous to the Great
Fire, the huge pile of buildings in the Parliament Close reared its southern
front high over all the neighbouring buildings with an imposing effect, of
which the north front of James's Court—the only private building resem-
bling it,—conveys only a very partial idea. Within the Fishmarket Close
was the mansion of George Hcriot, the royal goldsmith of James VI;?
where more recently resided the elder Lord President Dundas, father of
Lord Melville, a thorough &on wivant of the old claret-drinking school of
lawyers®  There also, for successive generations, dwelt and still dwells
another dignitary of the College of Justice, the grim executioner of the law’s
last sentence: happily a less indispensable legal functionary than in former
days. The present occupant of the hangman’s house annually draws “the
dempster’s fee,” at the Royal Bank, and ekes out his slender professional
income by cobbling such shoes as his least superstitious neighbours care to
trust in his hands; doubtless with many a sorrowful reflection on the wisdom
of our forefathers, and “the good old times ” that are gone by.* The house
has been recently rebuilt, but, as might be expected, it is still haunted by
numerous restless ghosts, and will run considerable risk of remaining
tenantless should its official occupant, in these hard times, find his occupation
gone.

Borthwick’s Close, which stands to the east, is mentioned in Nisbet’s
Heraldry® as having belonged to the Lords Borthwick, and in the bound-
aries of a house in the adjoining close the property about the middle of the
east side is described as the Lord Napier's; but the whole alley is now
entirely modernised, and destitute of attractions either for the artist or

1 We have been told that this land was said to have been the residence of Defoe while in Edinburgh ;
the tradition, however, is unsupported by other testimony. A slight sketch of it as it stood in its latest
isolated condition is included in a volume of drawings and prints, titled Memorials of Auld Reckie, in
the library of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland. 2 Dr. Steven's Memoirs of George Heriot, p. 5.

3 Vide ““ Convivial habits of the Scottish Bar.” —Note to Guy Mannering.

4 Vide Chambers’s Tvaditions, vol. ii. p. 184, for some curious notices of the Edinburgh hangmen.
5 Nisbet's Heraldry, vol. ii. Appendix, p. 106.
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antiquary. On the ground that intervenes between this and the Assembly
Close one of the new Heriot schools occupies a site of peculiar interest.
" There stood, until its demolition by the great fire of 1824, the old Assembly
Rooms of Edinburgh, whither the directors of fashion removed their “ General
Assembly,” about the year 1720,' from the scene of its earlier revels in the
West Bow. There it was that Goldsmith witnessed for the first time the
formalities of an old Scottish ball, during his residence as a medical student
in Edinburgh in 1753. The light-hearted young Irishman has left an
amusing account of the astonishment with which, “on entering the dancing-
hall, he sees one end of the room taken up with the ladies, who sit dismally
in a group by themselves; on the other end stand their pensive partners
that are to be, but no more intercourse between the sexes than between two
countries at war. The ladies, indeed, may ogle, and the gentlemen sigh,
but an embargo is laid upon any closer commerce!” Only three years
after the scene witnessed by the poet, these grave and decorous revels were
removed to more commodious rooms in Bell's Wynd, where they continued
to be held till the erection of the new hall in George Street. Older associa-
tions, however, add to the interest of this locality, for on the site occupied
by the Assembly Rooms formerly stood the town mansion of Lord Durie,
President of the Court of Session in 1642, and the hero of the merry ballad
of “ Christie’s Will.” The Earl of Traquair, it appears, had a lawsuit pend-
ing in the Court of Session, to which the President’s opposition was dreaded.
In this dilemma he had recourse to Will Armstrong—a worthy descendant
of Johnnie Armstrong of Gelnockie, the famous moss-trooper, executed by
James V,—who owed to the Earl’'s good services his escape from a halter.
Will, on learning that Lord Durie stood in his patron’s way, promptly volun-
teered to kidnap the President, and “do as kittle a deed” as any of his
daring experiences in Border raid, by “stealing an auld lurdane aff the bench.”
Watching his opportunity when Lord Durie was riding out, he entered into
conversation with him, and so decoyed him to an unfrequented spot called
the Figgate Whins, near Portobello, when he suddenly pulled him from his
horse, muffled him in his trooper’s cloak, and rode off with the luckless
judge trussed up behind him. Lord Durie was secured in the dungeon of
an old castle in Annandale called the Tower of Grame, and his horse being
found on the beach it was concluded he had thrown his rider into the sea.
His friends went into mourning, his successor was appointed, the Earl won
his plea, and Will was directed to set his captive at liberty. The old judge
was accordingly seized in his dark dungeon, muffled once more in the cloak,
and conveyed with such dexterity to the scene of his capture that he long

1 In a sasine dated 1723 it is styled, ¢ That big hall, or great room, now known by the name of
the Assembly House, being part of that new great stone tenement of land lately built,” etc. —Burgh
Charter Room.
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entertained the belief that he had been spirited away by witches. The joy of
his friends was probably surpassed by the blank amazement of his successor
when he appeared to reclaim his old office and honours. Accident long
after led to a discovery of the whole story ; but in those disorderly times it
was only laughed at as a fair ruse de guerre! In the ballad the bold moss-
trooper alights at Lord Durie’s door, and beguiles him with a message from
“the fairest lady in Teviotdale” The

temptation was great to make the most

of such choice materials of romance. But

there is little doubt as to the general truth

of the tradition. The leading facts are

related in Forbes’s Journal, though without

names; and Scott tells us that some old

stanzas of the ballad were current on the

Border in his youth. But as we now have

it, it is undoubtedly a modern antique.

The ballad of “]Johnnie Armstrong” for-

tunately reaches us in the traditional

integrity of an elder generation. As for

“ Christie’s Will,” Sir Walter confesses to

such eking and patching of its traditionary

fragments, that we must content ourselves

with the romantic tradition, coupled with Clam Shell Turnpike, from Skene.
the fact of the stolen President’s dwelling Taken down 1791.

having stood on the site of the Heriot school in the Assembly Close. Of
this there can be no doubt, as it is referred to in the boundaries of various
early deeds, in most of which the alley is styled Durie’s Close.

The Covenant Close has already been referred to,? with its interesting
old land, surmounted with three crow-stepped gables, forming the most pro-
minent feature in the range of the High Street as seen from the south.
The front lands immediately below this and the adjoining close again
recall associations with the olden time, though only as occupying the site
of what once was interesting ; for fire and modern reform together have
effected an entire revolution in this part of the town. Over the doorway
immediately above Bell's Wynd an escalop shell, cut upon the modern
stone lintel, marks the site of the “Clam Shell Turnpike,” shown in the
accompanying woodcut, an edifice associated with eminent characters and
some of the most interesting eras in Scottish history. Maitland only remarks
of it: in this close there “is an ancient chapel, which is still plainly to be
seen by the manner of its construction, though now converted into a dwelling-
house,”® to which Arnot adds the more definite though still scanty informa-

1 ¢« Christie’s Will,” Border Minstrelsy. 2 Ante, vol. i. p. 122. 3 Maitland, p. 189.
VOL. 1I D
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tion, “ at the head of Bell's Wynd there were an hospital and chapel, known
by the name of Maison Diew”' Like most other religious establishments
and church property, it passed into the hands of laymen at the Reformation
by an arbitrary grant of the Crown, so that the original charters of founda-
tion no longer remain as the evidences of its modern claimants. It is styled,
however, in the earliest titles extant, “the old land formerly of George,
Bishop of Dunkeld.” Its foundation may therefore be referred with every
probability to the reign of James V, when George Crighton, who occupied
that see from the year 1527 to 1543, founded the hospital of St. Thomas near
the Watergate, about two years before his death, and endowed it for the
maintenance of certain chaplains and bedemen, “to celebrate the founder’s
anniversary obét, by solemnly singing in the choir of Holyrood Church, on
the day of his death yearly, the Placebo and Dirige, for the repose of his
soul.”? He is described by Keith as “a man nobly disposed, very hospitable,
and a magnificent housekeeper ; but in matters of religion not much skilled.”
There can be no doubt, moreover, that the same old land, which was
demolished in 1789, was the lodging of Lord Home, to which Queen Mary
retreated with Darnley, on her return to Edinburgh in 1566, while she was
haunted with the recollections of the recent murder of her favourite, Rizzio.
Her mind naturally revolted from the idea of returning to the scene of his
assassination, with its blood-stained floors still calling for justice and
revenge against the murderers. “ Vpoun the xviij day of the said moneth
of March,” says the contemporary annalist,® “ our soueranis lord and ladie,
accumpanijt with tua thowsand horssmen come to Edinburgh, and lugeit not
in thair palice of Halyrudhous, bot lugeit in my lord Home’s lugeing, callit
the auld bischope of Dunkell his lugeing, anent the salt trone in Edinburgh ;
and the lordis being with thame for the tyme, wes lugeit round about thame
within the said burgh.” Lord Home, who thus entertained Queen Mary
and Darnley as his guests, was, at that date, so zealous an adherent of the
Queen that Randolph wrote to Cecil from Edinburgh soon after that he
would be created Earl of March ;* and although at the battle of Langside
he appeared against her, he afterwards returned to his fidelity ; and retained
it with such integrity that it involved him in a conviction of treason by her
enemies. In the following reign this ancient tenement became the property
of George Heriot, and the ground rents still constitute part of the revenue
of the hospital which he founded.

Almost immediately adjoining the Clam Shell Land, on its east side,
stood the famous Black Turnpike, assigned by the traditions of a later age
as the town house of Sir Simon Preston, Provost of Edinburgh in 1567,
to which Queen Mary was brought by her captors, amid the hootings and

! Arnot, p. 246. ? Maitland, p. 154.
3 Diurnal of Occurvents, p. o4. ¢ Keith, vol. ii. p. 292.
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execrations of an excited rabble, on the evening of her surrender at Carberry
Hill. This ancient building, one of the most sumptuous edifices of the old
town, was lofty and of great extent; and the tradition of Queen Mary’s
residence in it, which had latterly become a universally-credited popular belief,
was not improbably traceable to some vague survival of the memory of her
actual abode in the immediately adjoining lodging of Lord Home. It
was no doubt due to the architectural features which gave it exceptional
distinction among the oldest edifices of the High Street, that it was not only
associated with names of note and with historical events of the sixteenth
century, but was accredited with a fabulous antiquity, and had King
Kenneth assigned as its builder. The latest of the name, Kenneth III,
surnamed the Grim, was slain A.D. 1005. Maitland, recognising the im-
probability of such a remote date for the building, obtained access to the
title-deeds, and found a sasine of 1461 conveying it to George Robertson
of Lochart, son of the builder, which would imply its having been erected
early in the fifteenth century. From other evidence it is proved to have
belonged in the following century to George Crighton, Bishop of Dunkeld,
and was in all probability acquired by him for the purpose of the religious
foundation previously described. This appears from an action brought by
“the Administrators of Heriot's Hospital, against Robert Hepburn of
Bearford,” in 1693,! for a “ground-annual out of the tenement called
Robertsow’'s Inun,” and which at a subsequent date is styled, “ his tenement
in Edinburgh called the Black Turnpike.” The pursuers demanded the
production of the original writs from the Bishop of Dunkeld ; and it would
appear, from the arguments in defence, that the building had been conferred
by the Bishop on two of his own illegitimate daughters, and so diverted
from the pious objects of its first destination, perchance as a sort of
compromise between heaven and earth, by which to secure the atonement
he had in view for the errors of a licentious life. To all this one more fact
may be added from the Caledoniarn Mercury, 15th May 1788, the date of
its demolition. “The edifice commonly called the Black Turnpike, im-
mediately to the west of the Tron Church, at the head of Peebles Wynd,
one of the oldest stone buildings upon record in Edinburgh, is now begun to
be pulled down. . . . It may be true what is affirmed, that Queen Mary was
lodged in it in the year 1567, but if part of the building is really so old, it
is evident other parts are of a later date, for on the top of a door, the
uppermost of the three entries to this edifice from Peebles Wynd, we observe
the following inscription—

PAX - INTRANTIBVS - SALVS - EXEVNTIBVS * 1674.”

The architectural features of the main building fronting on the High Street
! Fountainhall’'s Decisiens, vol. i. pp. 583, 658.
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leave no room for doubt that it was of an earlier date. The turnpike stair
is shown in an engraving in the Gentleman's Magaszine, executed in 1788.
The main entrance and windows are pointed, and decorated with weather-
mouldings finished with crockets and finials, such as well accord with the
earlier date in the fifteenth century. As to the tradition of Queen Mary’s
abode there on the night after her surrender at Carberry Hill, it appears to
be no older than the eighteenth century. The title-deeds fail to show that
the building was ever in the possession of Sir Simon Preston, the site of
whose lodging when Provost has already been pointed out, in accordance
with Archbishop James Beaton’s narrative, as “fornent the croce upon the
north syd of the gait.” As to the inscription, no more inappropriate one
could be found for the lodging of Queen Mary on that fatal day.

"~ One more alley remains to be noted, to complete the review of this portion
of the High Street. Stevenlaw’s Close still contains buildings of an early
date. Over a doorway on the west side, near the foot, is this motto: THE
*FEIR-OF 'THE-LORD 1S THE-BIGENENOF - VISDOM I H;
and another bears a shield of arms, with an inscription partially defaced,
apparently: OCULI OMNIUM IN TE DOMINE SPERAVI. We
have not discovered any names among its earlier occupants worthy of note ;
but immediately adjoining it, on the site of the west side of Hunter Square,
formerly stood Kennedy's Close, a locality associated with one of the most
distinguished men of letters of early times. Ina MS. memorandum book of
George Paton, the antiquary, the following note occurs: “ George Buchanan
took his last illness, and died in Kennedy’s Close, first court thereof on your
left hand, first house in the turnpike, above the tavern there ; and in Queen
Anne’s time this was told to his family and friends, who resided in that
house, by Sir James Stewart of Goodtrees, Lord Advocate.” A reference
to Edgar’s map shows that the close consisted of two small courts connected
by a narrow passage, the site of the first of which will exactly correspond
with that of the old Merchants’ Hall. Here the eminent Scottish
historian and reformer closed his active and laborious life on the 28th of
September 1582. Finding, when on his deathbed, that the money he had
about him was insufficient to defray the expenses of his funeral, he sent his
servant to divide it among the poor, adding, “that if the city did not
choose to bury him they might let him lie where he was.” He was interred
on the following day in the Greyfriars’ churchyard. The spot cannot now be
pointed out with certainty, notwithstanding that, on an application made to
the Town Council, so recently as 1701, the “through-stane” was directed
to be raised in order to preserve it. It is now replaced by a memorial
erected by a bequest of the late Dr. David Laing, the faithful conservator
of so much else in connection with Scottish literature.!

1 The following is an extract from the Council Records, 3d December 1701 : ** The council being
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In the centre of the High Street, in front of the Black Turnpike, the
ancient citadel of the town-guard cumbered the thoroughfare till near the
close of last century, protected by its ungainly utility from the destruction
that befell many a building of rare historical interest. During Cromwell’s
impartial rule in Edinburgh it formed the scene of many of his acts of
“guid discipline, causing drunkardis ryd the trie meir, with stoppis and
muskettis tyed to thair leggis and feit, a paper on thair breist, and a drinking
cap in thair handis.”! This obsolete instrument of punishment, the wooden
mare, still remained when Kay, the caricaturist, made his drawing of the old
guard-house, immediately before its -
destruction; and it is shown in the
woodcut, along with the Black
Turnpike and the adjacent tene-
ment where, in 1566, Queen Mary
and Darnley were entertained by
Lord Home. The chronicles of the
old place of petty durance, could
they now be recovered, would fur-
nish many an amusing scrap of anti-
quated scandal, interspersed at rare
intervals with the graver deeds of
such disciplinarians asthe Protector,
or the famous sack by the Porteous
mob. There such fair offenders
as the witty and eccentric Miss
Mackenzie, daughter of Lord
Royston, found at times a night’s
lodging, when she and her maid sallied out disguised as prenx chevaliers in
search of adventures. Occasionally even a grave judge or learned lawyer,
surprised out of his official decorum by the temptations of a jovial club,
was astonished on awaking to find himself within its impartial walls,
among such strange bedfellows as the chances of the night had offered to
its vigilant guardians. The demolition of the Cross, however, rendered
the existence of its unsightly neighbour the more offensive to civic

informed that the through-stane of the deceast George Buchanan lyes sunk under the ground of the
Greyfriars, therefore they appoint the chamberlain to raise the same, and clear the inscription thereupon,
so as the same may be legible ” (Bann. Misc. vol. ii. p. 401). The site whereon his dwelling stood would
form no inappropriate place for a commemorative tablet to replace the lost ‘‘through-stane.” Dr.
Irving, his biographer, has strangely persisted, in the face of this evidence, to affirm that ‘* his ungrateful
country never afforded his grave the common tribute of a monumental stone.” (Irving’s Life of Buckanan,
p- 309). A skull, believed to be that of the historian, is preserved in the museum of the University of
Edinburgh, and is so remarkably thin as to be transparent. The evidence in favour of this tradition,
though not altogether conclusive, renders the truth of it exceedingly probable.
1 Nicoll’s Diary, p. 69. 2 Ante, vol. i. p. 219.

Black Turnpike and Old Guard House.
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reformers.  Fergusson, in his Mutual Complaint of the Plainstanes and
Causey, humorously represents it as one of the most intolerable grievances
of the latter, enough to “fret the hardest stane” ; and at length in 1785 its
doom was pronounced, and its ancient garrison removed to the New
Assembly Close, then recently deserted by the directors of fashion. There,
however, they were pursued by the enmity of their detractors. The pro-
prietors of that fashionable district of the city were scandalised at the idea
of such near neighbours as the 7own-Rats ; and by means of Protests, Bills
of Suspension, and the like weapons of modern civic warfare, speedily
compelled the persecuted veterans to beat a retreat. They took refuge in
premises provided for them in the Tolbooth, but the destruction of their
ancient stronghold may be said to have sealed their fate. They lingered on
for a few years, maintaining an unequal and hopeless struggle against the
restless spirit of innovation that had beset the Scottish capital, until at length,
in the year 181, their final refuge was demolished, the last of them were
put on the town’s pension list, and the truncheon of the constable replaced
the venerable firélock and Lochaber-axe.




CHAPTER VI

THE HIGH STREET AND NETHER BOW

Ancient Doorway, Blackfriars’ Wynd.

N the centre of the High Street, not far from the site of the Tron Church,
there stood in ancient times the Tron or public beam for weighing
merchandise, generally styled in early deeds and writings the Salt Tron,
to distinguish it from the Butter Tron, or Weigh House, already described.
It is shown in the curious bird’s-eye view of the siege of Edinburgh Castle,
drawn in 1573, in the form of a pillar mounted on steps, and with a beam
and scales attached to it. This central spot was the scene of many singular
exhibitions during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, more especially in
the exposure and punishment of culprits. While traitors and political offenders
of all sorts expiated their crimes at the Cross, the lesser offences of perjury
and knavery were reserved by a discriminating system of justice for the more
ignominious though less deadly penalties of the Tron. One of the liveliest of
the scenes enacted there during the seventeenth century occurred on the arrival
ot the news in June 1650 that Charles II had landed in the north. The
estates of Parliament were then assembled at Edinburgh, and the fickle
populace were already heartily tired of trying to govern themselves. Nicoll,
the old diarist, tells us, “all signes of joyes wer manifested in a speciall
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maner in Edinburgh, by setting furth of bailfyres, ringing of bellis, sounding
of trumpettis, dancing almost all that night through the streitis. The pure
kaill wyfes at the Trone sacrificed thair mandis and creillis and the verie
stoolis thai sat upone to the fyre.”!

It has been hastily concluded from this that as Jenny Geddes, the
heroine of 1637, was one of the 4az/ wives of the Tron, her famous stool—
the formidable weapon with which she began the great rebellion, by hurling
it at the Dean of St. Giles's head,—must have perished in this repentant
ebullition of joy ; and accordingly that the relic shown in the museum of the
Society of Antiquaries is undeserving of credit. We must protest, however,
against so rash an hypothesis, which would involve the destruction of the
sole monument of the immortal Jenny’s heroic onslaught, seeing there can
be no reasonable question that a dame so zealous and devout would reserve
her best stool for the Sunday’s services, and content herself with a common
creepie for her week-day avocations at the Tron! There is no doubt, how-
ever, that Jenny gave unequivocal proofs of her loyalty at a later period, as
she is specially mentioned in the Mercurius Caledonius, a newspaper published
immediately after the Restoration, as having taken a prominent share in
similiar rejoicings on the coronation of the King in 1661. “But among all
our bontados and caprices,” says the curious annalist, “ that of the immortal
Jenet Geddis, Princesse of the Trone Adventurers, was most pleasant, for she
was not only content to assemble all her creels, basquets, creepies, frames, and
other ingredients that composed the shope of her sallets, radishes, turnips,
carrots, spinage, cabbage, with all other sort of pot merchandise that belongs to
the garden, but even her leather chair of state, where she used to dispense
justice to the rest of her langkale vassals, were all very orderly burned ; she
herself countenancing the action with a high-flown flourish and vermilion
majesty.” : C

The “ Vicus Hackerstoni,” or Halkerston’s Wynd, the first close on the
north side of the High Strect, below the Tron Church, appears in Gordon'’s
bird’s-eye view of 1647, with a port at its lower end, flanked with two
square towers, forming the intra-mural approach to Trinity College Church,
and the gardens attached to the hospital of its royal foundress. The name
of Halkerston’s Wynd occurs in deeds as early as 1500, and associated as
it is with that of John Halkerstone, master mason, or architect of the
Collegiate Church of Qucen Mary of Gueldres, it perpetuates, even in its
modern degradation, some faint memorial of that beautiful though unfinished
specimen of Scottish ecclesiastical architecture of the fifteenth century,
demolished so recklessly within the memory of living men.2 In the seven-
teenth century this wynd was the principal avenue of the city from the north,

-’, Nicoll’s Diary, p. 16. . .2 ,l\’eg;i;vl, Domus «)t Soltre, etc.,.p. xiv.



THE HIGH STREET AND NETHER BOW 41

and long afterwards continued to be a place of considerable note. It was here
that the Hon. Henry Erskine, the future Lord Advocate, took up his abode,
when in 1772 he wedded Miss Christinia Fullerton. But nearly every vestige
of antiquity has long disappeared from the old thoroughfare. One exception,
however, which has already been figured on an carlier page,! is the curious
ancient lintel over a doorway on the east side of the wynd, bearing on it the
sacred monogram IHS, and a cross-fleury, with a coronet surmounting the letter
D. The style and character of this device, and of the mouldings of the old
doorway, indicate a date long anterior to the Reformation; but the building
to which it belonged has been demolished, all but a portion of the outer wall,
and we have failed to obtain any clue to its early history. It was in its
latest stage a timber-fronted land, having a good deal of carving along the
gables, and an ornamental stone staircase projecting beyond, indicating the
remains of a mansion of some proud noble or ecclesiastical dignitary
of the olden time. Adjoining this, another doorway, furnishing a similar
vestige of a more recent building, bears the common inscription, BLISSIT . BE.
GOD . FOR . AL . HIS . GIFTIS . and the initials and date . RD . D . 1609.
Fountainhall 2 gives a curious account of an action brought by Robert Malloch
in 1701 against the magistrates of Edinburgh, for shutting up the Halker-
ston’s Wynd Port. From this it appears that a suburban village had sprung
up on Moutrie’s Hill, the site now occupied by ‘St. James Square, in which a
number of poor weavers and other tradesmen werc pursuing their crafts
beyond the royalty, and in open defiance of the incorporations of the Gude
Toun. The deacons, finding their crafts in danger, took advantage of an
approaching election to frighten the magistrates into a just sense of the
enormity of tolerating such unconstitutional interlopers so near their ancient
burgh. The port was accordingly shut up, and the sluices of the North
Loch closed, so as to flood a small mound that had afforded a footpath to
the port for the free-traders of this obnoxious village. The battle was stoutly
maintained for a time, but the magistrates finding the law somewhat rigid in
its investigation of their right over the city ports, and the election most
probably being satisfactorily settled meanwhile, they opened the port of their
own accord, and allowed the sluices of the North Loch again to run. In
Kinloch’s Close, immediately adjoining this wynd, stood, till recently, a sub-
stantial old stone land, with large and neatly moulded windows, and abound-
ing with curious irregular projections, adapting it to its straitened site. Over
the main entrance the Williamson arms were boldly cut in high relief, with
the initials I* W * accompanied by the cross of passion springing from the
centre of a saltier, and the inscription and date in large Roman letters,
FEIR ' GOD - IN - LUIF r 1595. The same device, possibly only.

merchant’s mark, was repcated above on the lowest crowstep. : '

v Ante, vol. ii. p. 30. : - 2. Fountainhall’s Deéisions, vol. ii. p. 110.
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The timber-fronted land which faces the street at the head of this close
is figured here, with the old picturesque gables breaking the sky-line, the
removal of which has. greatly marred its effect as a specimen of ancient
street architecture. But it retains its peculiar claims to our interest as the

scene of Allan Ramsay’s
earlier labours, where, “at
the sign of the Mercury,
opposite to Niddry’s
Wynd,” he prosecuted his
later business as author,
editor, and bookseller.
From thence he issued his
poems printed in single
sheets, or half sheets, as
they were written. In
this shape they are re-
~ ported to have found a
ready sale, the citizens
being in the habit of send-
ing their children with a
penny for “Allan Ramsay’s
last piece.”!  Encouraged
by the favourable reception
of his poetic labours, he at
length published proposals
for a re-issue of his works
in a collected form; and
accordingly, in 1721, they
appeared in one hand-
some quarto volume, with
a portrait of the author from the pencil of his friend Smibert. Ramsay
continued to carry on business at the sign of the Mercury till the year 1723,
so that nearly all his original publications issued from this ancient fabric.
In that year he removed to the famous land in the Luckenbooths associ-
ated with the names of Gay, Smollett, Burns, Lord Kames, Blair, Beattie,
Henry Mackenzie, Adam Smith, Dugald Stewart, and other literary or
bibliopolic celebrities while the old High Street was still the civic and
intellectual centre of Edinburgh.

Immediately to the east of Ramsay’s old haunt a narrow pend gives
access to Carrubber’s Close, the retreat of the faithful remnant of the
Jacobites of 1688. Here, about half-way down the close on the east side,

1 Scottish Bisgraphical Dictionary, article *° Ramsay.’

Allan Ramsay's Shop, High Street.
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is St. Paul's Chapel, a plain and unpretending structure erected immediately
after the Revolution. Thither the persecuted bishop and his stanch non-
jurant followers repaired on the downfall of the national establishment of
Episcopacy ; and there they continued to worship within its narrow bounds
amid frequent interruptions, particularly after the rising of 1745, resolutely
persisting for nearly a century in excluding the name of the “ Hanoverian
usurpers ” from their devotions. The chapel is still occupied by a congrega-
tion of Scottish Episcopalians, but the homely worshippers of modern times
form a striking contrast to the stately squires and dames who once were
wont to frequent the unpretending fane that sufficed to accommodate the
whole disestablished Episcopacy of the capital.

Immediately below the chapel a huge escalop shell, expanding over the
porch of the main entrance to an old tenement, marks the clam-shell land.
Here was the house of Ainslie’s master, during Burns’s visit to Edinburgh, at
whose table he was a frequent guest; and also of the elder Sir William
Forbes of Pitsligo, another of the poet’s early friends, until he removed to one
of the first erections in the new town. The whole locality, indeed, is in some
degree associated with the poet’s friends and favourite haunts; for on the
second floor of the ancient stone land which faces the High Street, at the
head of the close, was the abode of Captain Mathew Henderson, “a gentleman
who held the patent for his honours immediately from Almighty God,” on
whom the poet wrote the exquisite elegy preserved among his works, to the
very characteristic motto from Hamlet, “ Should the poor be flattered ?”

This old close was the scene of the only unsuccessful speculation of
another poet, whose prudent self-control enabled him through life to avoid
the sorrows that so often beset the minstrel’s path, and to find in the muse
the handmaid of wealth. It had already furnished accommodation for
dramatic exhibitions, and such feats of agility as pertain to the modern
circus. Signora Violante and a company of Italian mountebanks performed
there about 1720. At a later date she returned with a regular company of
English comedians, and met with such success that a strolling company
of players made it their resort for some ycars thcreatter. Allan Ramsay
wrote the prologue to their first night’s performance in 1726; and en-
couraged by the popular favour extended to such crude dramatic efforts,
the poet at length undertook the erection of a playhouse, still standing
at the foot of Carrubber’s Close, which involved him in heavy loss. It was
closed by the act for licensing the stage, which was passed in the year 1737,
and the poet solaced himself by writing a rhyming complaint to the Court
of Session, which appeared soon after in the Gentleman's Magazine. The
abortive playhouse has since served many singular purposes. It bore in
later days the name of St. Andrew’s Chapel, bestowed on it soon after the
failure of the poet’s dramatic speculation. In 1773 it formed the arena for
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the debates of the Pantheon, a famous speculative club. In 1788 Dr.
Moyes, the ingenious lecturer on natural philosophy, discoursed there to
fashionable audiences on optics, the property of light, and other branches
of science, most foreign to a lecturer whose main popular attraction was that
he had been blind almost from his birth. The pulpit of St. Andrew’s
Chapel was subsequently filled by Mr. John Barclay, the founder of the sect
of Bereans; by the Reverend Mr. Tait, the ejected minister of Trinity
College Church, and by other founders of the “ Rowites,” during whose occu-
pancy the celebrated Edward Irving frequently officiated. The chapel has
also been used by Relicf and Secession congregations, by the Roman Catholics
as a preaching station and schoolroom, and more recently for lectures
and debates of all kinds. It had latterly degenerated into the hall of a
Jacobin club, where public discussions on the most sacred subjects were
carried on with unrestrained license, when it was acquired by Mr. James
Gall in 1858, and converted into the headquarters of a singularly interesting
mission work among the long-neglected city “ Bohemians and Arabs.” The
history of this good work has been told by its originator in his Stories of the
Carrubber's Close Mission. But civic improvers have followed in the wake of
this genuine work of reformation. The last of as strange a medley of actors
as the fertile fancy of the poet could have foreshadowed have played their
parts, and made their exit; and the abortive playhouse of Allan Ramsay,
with all its later diversified associations, has been swept away under Provost
Chambers’s Improvement Act. The date of its demolition is 1872, so
that it witnessed the changing mannecrs and fortunes of a century and a half.

Among the more recent associations of this old close, not the least in-
teresting are some that pleasantly connect themselves with a personal friend
of the writer. Here, on the west side and near the foot of the close, the
revived art of glass-painting was successfully prosecuted by the late James
Ballantine, author of the “ Gaberlunzie’s Wallet,” and the “ Miller of Dean-
haugh,” as well as of “ Castles in the Air,” “Ilka blade o’ grass keps its ane
drap o’ dew,” and others among the tenderest and the most lively of modern
Scottish songs: never heard with such effect as when sung by himself.
There, where many of his early literary productions were matured, he
completed under numerous disadvantages the successful designs for the
competition of 1844, which gained for him the honour of executing the
painted windows of the new House of Lords. The close had suffered little
from modern alteration till the last raid of civic reformers. It is wide and
airy for an old town close, and still presents a pleasing specimen of the
quaint and picturesque irregularity of style which gladdens the eye of the
artist, and sets the reforming citizen ruminating on the possibility of a
new Improvements Commission,.that shall sweep away the last remnant of
such obsolete relics from every lane-and alley of the ancient- eapital.
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Bishop’s 'Close, which adjoins this on the east, preserves in its name a
memorial of “the Bishop’s Land,” one of the most substantial and noted
among the private buildings in the High Street of Edinburgh. It owed this
old designation to its having been the residence of the eminent prelate, John
Spottiswood, Archbishop of St. Andrews, who, as appears from the titles,
inherited it from his father, the Superintendent of Lothian. This fact is of
some value, as serving to discredit the statement of his unrequited labours
during the latter years of his life. The date on the old building was 1578,
at which time the Superintendent would be in his sixty-ninth year; and the
house was sufficiently commodious and magnificent to serve afterwards for
the town mansion of the Scottish primate. On the ground floor of the
building was a deeply arched piazza, supported by massive stone piers, and
over the main entrance a carved lintel bore the common inscription, BLISSIT
.BE.YE.LORD.FOR.ALL. HIS.GIFTIS. 1578, with a shield impaled with
two coats of arms, and the initials V. N,, H. M.  Three large windows,
surmounted with sculptured pediments, opened on a fine brass-railed
balcony projecting from the first floor, which had doubtless often been
decorated with gay hangings, and crowded with fair and noble spectators to
see the riding of the Parliaments and other state pageants of early times.
This interesting building was totally destroyed by fire in 1814, but the
carved lintel has been preserved, and is now built into the adjoining pend of
North Gray’s Close. From the evidence in the famous Douglas cause it
appears that Lady Jane Douglas resided in Bishop’s Land soon after her
arrival in Scotland, and was visited there by Lord Prestongrange, then Lord
Advocate,in 1752.! Here also is stated to have been the abode of the first
Lord President Dundas, and the birthplace of thc celebrated Viscount
Melville ;2 and so aristocratic were the denizens of this once fashionable
tenement, nearly to the close of the century, that we have been told by an
old citizen there was not a family resident in any of its flats who did not
keep livery servants: a strange contrast to their plebeian successors. In
the title-deeds of Archbishop Spottiswood’s mansion, it is described as bounded
on the east by the tenement sometime pertaining to James Henderson of
Fordel. This was no doubt the house referred to in the Diurnal of Occurrents,
where it is said that Queen Mary, after the bootless muster at Carberry Hill,
“quhen she come to Edinburgh, wes lugeit in James Hendersones hous of
Fordell ” ;® and although this is an obvious mistake for that of the Lord Provost
Sir Simon Preston, she had probably lodged there on some earlier and happier
occasion, when it was no unwonted circumstance for Her Majesty to become
the guest of the wealthier citizens of her capital. Eminent names of later
times are associated with the same locality. In 1744 Henry David, tenth

1 Case of Respondents, fol. p. 34. ? Chambers's 77raditions, vol. i. Appendix.
3 Diurnal of Occurrvents, p. 115.
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Earl of Buchan, and his Countess, Agnes Stewart, daughter of Sir James
Stewart of Goodtrees, Lord Advocate in the reign of Queen Anne, took up
their residence in the house at the head of Gray’s Close, fronting the High
Street. There their second son, Henry Erskine, the future Lord Advocate,
was born in 1746 ; and three years later his more celebrated brother,
Thomas, the future Lord Chancellor of England. The curious Gothic corbel
shown here, carved in the form of a grotesque
head, with leaves in its mouth, which was found
about six feet below the surface on the east side
of North Gray’s Close in excavating for a tan
pit, affords a glimpse of the character of some of
the vanished structures of older times. In the
course of digging the workmen came upon a
large fragment of wall, of very substantial
masonry, running from east to west, below the
foundations of the neighbouring houses. We
have examined a large collection of title-deeds
of the surrounding property in the hope of
discovering the existence of some religious house
here in early times; but the oldest, which is dated 1572, describes nearly
the whole close as then in a waste and ruinous state. Such discoveries,
however, furnish evidence of the great changes which have taken place in
Edinburgh in common with most other ancient cities. This portion of
the town had evidently been destroyed in the conflagration effected by the
Earl of Hertford’s army in 1544 ; and while the houses in the main street
were speedily rebuilt, the ground to the north lay for nearly thirty years an
unoccupied waste, so that when the citizens at length began to build upon
it, they founded their new dwellings above the consolidated ruins of the older
capital. The carved stone was for some time preserved in the nursery of
Messrs. Eagle and Henderson (now Methven’s), Leith Walk.

A fine old stone land at the head of Bailie Fife’s Close on the west side
bears, on a large lintel over one of the upper windows, the Trotter arms in
bold relief—two stars in chief, and a crescent in base,—with the initials I. T,
I. M, and the date 1612. The initials are those of John Trotter, a wealthy
burgess, and his wife Janet M‘Math. But their dwelling occupies the site of
an older structure interesting as the abode of one of our early Scottish typo-
graphers, Thomas Davidson, whose rare black-letter edition of Bellenden’s
Boece, printed in 1536, “ at the command of the Richt Hie, Richt Excellent
and noble Prince, James the V of that name, King of Scottis,” bears to be
“imprintit in Edinburgh be Thomas Davidson, dwellying forenens the Frere
Wynd.” A large shield occupies a panel above the ground floor of the
present building, with the initials I1-P : M- H, and the Parley arms—a

Gothic Corbel, North Gray's Close.
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chevron between three mullets,—impaling those of Hay. Over a finely
moulded doorway below is the inscription in Roman characters, now greatly
defaced : BE-PASIENT - IN - THE : LORD ; and on a panel over a window
in the rear: THE -LORD - KNOWETH - WHO - ARE ' HIS. In Chalmers’
Close an ancient building has a claim to special interest from its diversi-
fied examples of the curious sculptured stone niches, already repeatedly
referred to in the course of this work. The house stands within the close,
on the west side. On the first floor a small niche appears, at the right side
of the doorway immediately on entering, and in the opposite wall there is
another of large size and highly ornamental character, through which a
window has been broken, looking into Barringer’s Close. Alongside of the
latter niche a narrow turnpike stair formerly afforded access to the floor
above, and the general construction of the apartment renders it probable
that it was a Maiéson Diex with its private chapel, before the Reformation.
It is now subdivided by flimsy modern partitions, and furnishes a residence
for several families. Here resided a worthy burgess of last century, the
grandfather of one of the most eminent of Edinburgh’s modern citizens,
Francis Lord Jeffrey, with whom this old close was a favourite haunt in his
boyhood. It was, we may presume, a mere random shot of the reckless
satirist, when Byron, in his “ English Bards and Scotch Reviewers ” ironically
congratulating Jeffrey on his escape from Moore’s Icadless pistol at Chalk
Farm in 1806, thus proceeded—
« The Tolbooth felt—for marble sometimes can,

On such occasions, feel as much as man,—

The Tolbooth felt defrauded of its charms,

If Jeffrey died, except within her arms.

Nay last, not least, on that portentous morn,

The sixteenth story, where himself was born,

His patrimonial garret, fell to ground,

And pale Edina shuddered at the sound :

Strewed were the streets around with milk-white reams,

Flowed all the Canongate with inky streams ;

This of his candour seemed the sable dew,

That of his valour showed the bloodless hue ;

And all with justice deemed the two combined

The mingled emblems of his mighty mind.”

A projecting doorway of the adjoining tenement has on its lintel, in large
old English characters, the name of Jjobne Dope, with a defaced coat of
arms between. On the lowest crow-step is another shield with armorial
bearings, and the initials I H- The dilapidated building retains consider-
able traces of former magnificence, as well as undoubted evidence of its carly
date. The large windows have been each divided with a mullion and
transom, and are finished with unusually rich mouldings at the sides. The
hall on the first floor, which has been an apartment of considerable size, is
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now subdivided into separate dwellings by slight wooden partitions. There
can bz little doubt, from the style of lettering in the inscription, and the
general character of the building, that this is the mansion of John de Hope,
the founder of the Hopetoun family, who came from France in 1537 in the
retinue of the Princess Magdalen, Queen of James V ; and who afterwards
settled as a substantial burgher in the Luckenbooths, visiting the Continent
from time to time, and importing French velvets, silks, gold and silver laces,
and the like valuable foreign merchandise.! It seems to be unquestionable
that no other John Hope was in Scotland till the reign of Charles I: a date
long posterior to that of the building. This was his descendant, Sir John
Hope of Craighall, the eldest son of the celebrated Lord Advocate, who was
Lord President of the Court of Session during the Protectorate, and to whom
Charles II owed the shrewd though unpalatable advice, “to treat with
Cromwell for the one halff of his cloake before he lost the quhole.”

In the next alley, termed Sandilands’ Close, a large and remarkably
substantial stone tenement forms the chief feature on the east side, and
attracts the attention of the curious visitor by many indications of great
antiquity. The ground floor of this building is vaulted with stone, and
entered by doorways with pointed arches; and over the lower of these is a
neat small pointed window, or loophole, splayed and otherwise constructed
as in early Gothic buildings. The accompanying woodcut shows the
character of one of the internal decorations of this old edifice. It is a piece
of sculpture executed with some degree of spirit and artistic skill, apparently
representing the offering of the Magi to the infant Saviour. The figures
stand out in bold relief, although, like most other internal decorations in the
old town, plentifully besmeared with whitewash. It appears to form the
end of a large antique fireplace, the remainder of which is concealed under
panelling and partitions of perhaps a century old, while another, of the
contracted dimensions usual in later times, has been constructed in the
farther corner. Probably much more of this interesting sculpture remains
to be disclosed on the removal of these additions of recent date. Such of
the title-deeds of this property as we have obtained access to are un-
fortunately modern, and contain no reference to early proprietors; but one
of the present owners described a sculptured stone, containing a coat of arms
surmounted by a mitre, that was removed from over the inner doorway some
years since, and which appears to have been the Kennedy arms. If it be
permissible to build on such slender data, in the absence of all other
evidence, we have here, probably, the town mansion of the good Bishop
Kennedy, the munificent patron of learning, and the able and upright
councillor of James II and III. The whole appearance of the building is

1 Coltness Collections, Mait. Club, pp. 16, 17, from which it appears that John de Hope and his
son Edward occupied the two booths east of the Old Church stile in the Luckenbooths.
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consistent with this supposition. The form and dccorations of the doorways,
particularly those already described, all prove an early date ; while the large
size and clegant mouldings of the windows, and the massive character of the
whole building, indicate such magnificence as would well consort with the
dignity and royal blood of the first

ecclesiastic who acquired great politi-

cal influence in Scotland, and who

exercised it with such rare virtue and

moderation.

A very fine specimen of the

ancient timber-fronted lands of the
old town stood till within the last few
years at the hcad of Trunk's Close,
behind the Fountain Well, on the
site of a plain stone tenement that
has since replaced it. The back por-
tion of the old building, however,
still remains entire, including several
rooms with fine stuccoed -ceilings,
and one large hall beautifully finished
with richly carved pilasters and oak
panelling, which is described in the Ancient Sculpture—Offering of the Wise Men—
title-deeds as “presently ” — 7e. in Sandilands’ Close,
1739—"“a meeting-house possest by Mr. William Cocburn, minister of the
gospel.” It had previously formed the residence of Sir John Scot of
Ancrum, the first of that title, who was created a baronet by Charles Il
in 1671. From him it was acquired by Sir Gilbert Elliot, of Stobs, in
1703, and here resided that baronet, and his morc illustrious son, General
Elliot, the gallant defender of Gibraltar, better known by his title of Lord
Heathfield. On the pediment over the window of another fine old
stone land on the west side of Trunk’s Close is the inscription in bold
characters: HODIE - MIHI - CRAS - TIBI; an inscription appropriately
carved in similar characters over the splendid tomb of Thomas Banna-
tyne, in the Greyfriars’ churchyard. Several other ancient tenements in
this close are worthy of inspection for their antique irregularity of construc-
tion.

But the chief Lion among the venerable fabrics of the old town is the
singularly picturesque building terminating the High Street towards the cast,
which has been assigned by long-accepted tradition as the mansion provided
at the expense of the town for the lodging of its first parish minister, the
great reformer, John Knox. Dr. M‘Crie states in his Life of Knox that,
after his last return to Scotland, he was, for a time, “ indebted to the liberality

VOL. 11 E
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of individuals for the support of his family. After that period he lodged in
the house of David Forest, a burgess of Edinburgh, from which he removed
to the lodging which had belonged to Durie, Abbot of Dunfermline.” This
statement is borne out by the Burgh Records of 24th February 1561. It
was not indeed George Durie, Abbot and Arch-Dean, but John Durie, tailor,
who then made way for the reformer ; for times had greatly changed. But,
as the old record narrates, “ the bailies and counsail, having consideratioun
that, for the eis of John Knox, minister, John Durie, talyeour, removit him
furth of the ludgeing occupyet by the Abbot of Drumfermeling, to the effect
the said minister mycht enter theirto,” instructions are given to the trcasurer
to pay to John Duric cight merks of rent. This house, which stood on the
east side of Trunk’s Close, in the Nether Bow, was secured for the permanent
occupation of the minister of St. Giles’s, and the rent paid by the City
Treasurer from Martinmas 1560 to March 1569 to its “heritable fear,”
Robert Moubray, and, towards the close, to John Adamson, his successor.
This then appears to .have been the actual lodging finally provided for
Knox, and occupicd through the memorable years that followed. The Dean
of Guild, as the Burgh Records testify, was required “ with all diligence to
mak anc warme studye of daillis to the minister, Johne Knox, within his
lugeing, abone the hall of the samyn, with lychtis and wyndokis thairto, and
all vther neccessaris.” In the manse thus carefully provided for him he
entered on his new duties, eager to turn to account the brighter future that
seemed opening out before him. But he had not long enjoyed its shelter
when he had to mourn the loss of the brave and faithful wife who had
shared with him his earlicr privations and sufferings. To the samc house
he brought his second wife, Margaret Stewart, the daughter of the good
I.ord Ochiltree ; and there he hospitably entertained his friends; while
in his well-appointed study he busied himself remodeclling the first Book of
Discipline, and corresponding with the lecading statesmen and divines of
that memorable era. Erc his eventful life drew to a close he had to
abandon his Edinburgh manse, while Quecen’s men and King's men made
the High Street of the old town their battlefield; and the gallant Kirkaldy
of Grange held out the Castle as the last stronghold of the adherents of
Mary Stuart. But he rcturned to Edinburgh; and, in the absence of other
evidence, we may welcome such guidance as tradition supplies, and still
think of tlie house that has so long borne his name as the lodging where his
last days werc spent. He expired there in the sixty-seventh ycar of his
age, “not so much oppressed with years, as worn out and exhausted by his
extraordinary labour of body and anxiety of mind.”

It was a period of uncertainty and strife ; and the remains of the great
leader of the Scottish Reformation were borne to the cemetery of St. Giles
amid such civic and national troubles that no memorial was left to'note to later
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generations the spot where they laid him to rest, “ who never feared the face
of man.”

As to this fine old house at the Nether Bow which a long-accepted tradi-
tion associates with the name of Knox, the elaborate religious allegory
combined in the inscriptions and sculptures forms no inappropriate adorn-
ment either for the reputed lodging of a mitred abbot or for the manse of
the dauntless Scottish reformer. The Hebrew lawgiver is represented as
kneeling on the Mount, and reaching forth his hand to rcccive the tablets of
the law. The Divine Being, under the figure of the Sun of Righteousness,
is represented veiled in clouds on the farther side; while its rays extend
obliquely towards Moses, who kneels in suppliant attitude below. The disc
of the emblematic luminary is inscribed in Greek, Latin, and English:
BEOZ ' DEVS ' GOD ; and bencath, on an cntablature extending along the
entire front of the building, is carved in large Roman characters the epitome
of the Ten Commandments: LVFE - GOD - ABVFE + AL * AND - YI-
NYCTBOVR - AS - YI'SELF. The unity of the entire design is thus
apparent. The sculpture and inscriptions are complementary features in a
combined prescntation of the idea of the giving forth of the law on Mount
Sinai, when.“ The Lord called unto Moscs out of the midst of the cloud ;
and the sight of the glory of the Lord was like devouring firc on the top of
the Mount in the eyes of the children of Israel.”

The first occupant of the picturesque fabric thus ingeniously decorated
with sacred allegory was a man of sufficient note to give it a prominent place
among the historic buildings of the Scottish capital, independent of any later
associations. When in 1849 a mandate was issued by the Dcan of Guild
for its demolition, the successful efforts for its preservation involved the
removal of the dilapidated wooden excrescences added by later occupants ;
and disclosed a fine sculptured tablet bearing within an cncircling wreath a
shield charged with three crowns on a chevron, betwecn three oak-trees,
with the initials I M and M * A on either side. There accordingly is the
memorial of the builder of the old fabric, and the clue to its carly history.
Guided by evidence derived from Stoddart’s Scottis/ Arms and the Register
of the Great Seal, its erection may be definitely assigned to James Mosman,
burgess and goldsmith: a citizen of wealth and influence who played a
notable part in the eventful times of John Knox and Mary Stuart. This
is confirmed by the accordance of the initials M - A on the left of the shield
with those of his wife, Mariot Arres, daughter and heciress of John Arres,
through whom the property at the Nether Bow, along with other valuable
burghal cstate, came into her husband’s possession. An older house on
the site appears, from a sasine of 1525, to have been acquired by John
Arres, through his wife, Christina Reidpath ; but the building of that date
perished in the sack and burning of.the town by the Earl of Hertford in
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1544, and was replaced by his son-in-law with the one that still occupies
its site. He also acquired landed estate, aspired to social rank, as shown
by his assumption of coat armour, and took an active part in the eventful
struggles of the times. But it was his fate to espouse a hopeless cause, in
open antagonism to the aims of Knox and the champions of the Reforma-
tion ; for he was an adherent of the old faith and a devoted partisan of the
dethroned Queen.

From the Register of the Great Seal it appears that, in 1570, Edward
Hume, burgess of Edinburgh, sold to James Mosman and Mariot Arres
his wife, the lands of Laughermandstone, in the Barony of Currie. He
was the son and heir of John Mosman, aurifaber, like George Heriot, the
royal goldsmith of a later reign. By an Act of the first Parliament of
James I. in 1424, mines of gold or silver “founden in onie Lordis landes
of the realm” are made the property of the King; and the royal mines
received repeated attention in subsequent reigns. It was under the
direction of the elder Mosman that they were wrought, in the reign of
James V, by miners brought from Germany and Lorraine. He was also
the skilled artificer who fabricated the closed arches that still adorn the
Scottish Crown; and by whom the crown of the Queen Consort, Mary of
Guise, was made. To this may no doubt be traced the three crowns on
the chevron of the younger Mosman’s arms. Trained under his father’s
care as a skilled worker in gold, we may ascribe to his artistic culture the
elaborate decorations of his dwelling, with all their display of ingenious
allegory and devout symbolism. But the loyal old goldsmith had allied
himself to a hopeless cause. When the adherents of the Queen’s party
took refuge in the Castle, and Sir William Drury and the English
besiegers opened their batteries on the ancient stronghold, James Mosman
shared the fortunes of its chivalrous commander. On its reduction by
the besiegers he was delivered up by the English general, along with Sir
William Kirkaldy and his brother, to the Regent Morton, by whom
they were summarily dealt with as traitors. They were ignominiously
“harlit in cartis backwart” to the Cross, and there hanged, quartered, and
their heads exposed upon the Castle wall. A son survived to inherit
whatever might be saved from the wreck of the old Quecn’s man’s estate.
But the property in the Nether Bow was forfeited to the Crown; and the
Register shows that it was immediately thereafter granted by James VI
to John Carmichael yr. of that Ilk, along with other burghal property in
Edinburgh.

A range of very picturesque buildings once formed the continuous row
from “ Knox’s corner” to the site of the ancient Nether Bow Port, but that
busy destroyer, Time, seems occasionally to wax impatient of his own
ordinary slow operations, and to demolish with a swifter hand what he has
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been thought inclined to spare. One of them, a curious specimen of the
ancient timber-fronted lands, and with successive tiers of. windows divided
only by narrow pilasters, has recently been curtailed by a story in height
and robbed of its most characteristic features, to preserve for a little longer
what remains; while the house immediately to the east of Knox’s, which
tradition pointed out as the mansion of the noble family of Balmerinoch,
has now disappeared, having literally tumbled to the ground. Immediately
behind the site of this, on the west side of Socicty Close, an ancient stone
land of singular construction bears over its main entrance the ampler version
of a favourite inscription repeated elsewhere: R*H-HODIE - MIHI - CRAS -
TIBI - CVR - IGITVR * CVRAS. There appears to have also been a date,
but it is now illegible. The doorway gives access to a curious hanging turnpike
stair, supported on corbels formed by the projection of the stone steps on
the first floor. This is the tenement of Aleson Bassendyne, the daughter of
Thomas Bassendyne, the celebrated printer. The alley bears the name of
Bassendyne’s Close in the earliest titles ; more recently it is styled Panmure
Close, from the residence there of John Maule of Inverkeilory, appointed a
Baron of the Court of Exchequer in 1748,—a grandson of the fourth Earl
of Panmure, attainted in 1715 for his adherence to the Stuarts. The large
stone mansion which he occupied at the foot of the close was afterwards
acquired by the Society for Propagating Christian Knowledge, founded in
1701 and erected into a body-corporate by Queen Anne. The chief apart-
ment was used as the Society’s hall, and so gave its present name to
the close.

The old timber land to the east is said to have been the Excise Office
in early times, in proof of which the royal arms are pointed out over the first
floor. The situation was peculiarly convenient for guarding the principal
gate of the city and the direct avenue to the neighbouring seaport. It is a
stately erection of considerable antiquity, and we doubt not has lodged much
more important official occupants than Hanoverian excisemen. It has an
outside stair leading to a stone turnpike on the first floor, and over the door-
way of the latter is the motto DEVS : BENEDICTAT. Since George II's
reign the Excise Office has run through its course with as rapid vicissitudes
as might suffice to mark the career of a profligate spendthrift. In its earlier
days, when a floor of the old land in the Nether Bow sufficed for its
accommodation, it was regarded as foremost among the detested fruits of
the Union. From thence it removed to more commodious chambers in the
Cowgate, since demolished to make way for the southern piers of George
IV Bridge. Its next resting-place was the large tenement on the south .
side of Chessels’ Court in the Canongate, the scene of the notorious Deacon
Brodie’s last robbery. It was next transferred to Sir Lawrence Dundas’s
splendid mansion in St. Andrew Square, now occupied by the Royal
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Bank. This may be considered its culminating point. It descended
thereafter to Bellevue House in Drummond Place, built by General Scott,
the father-in-law of Canning, which was demolished in 1846 in completing
the tunnel of the Edinburgh and Leith Railway; and now, we believe,
the excisernan no longer possesses a “local habitation ” within the Scottish
capital.

On the southern side of the High Street below “the Tron,” some few
remains of antiquity have escaped the ruthless hand of destruction, though
the general character of the buildings partakes largely of modern tameness
and insipidity. Previous to the commencement of the South Bridge in
1785, the east end of the Tron Church, which has since been considerably
curtailed, abutted on a stately range of buildings of polished ashlar, with an
arched piazza supported on stone pillars extending along ncarly the whole
front. A large archway in this building, immediately adjoining the church,
formed the entrance to Marlin’s Wynd, in front of which a row of six
stones, forming the shape of a coffin, indicated the grave of Walter Merlioun,
who, having been the first to pave the High Street, in the sixteenth century,
seems to have considered that useful work his best monument ; though he
was the master-mason by whom the vaulted gateway of Holyrood Abbey
was erected in 1502. The same destructive operations swept away the
whole of Niddry's Wynd, an ancient alley abounding with interesting fabrics
of an carly date, and associated with some of the most cminent citizens of
former times. Here was the civic palace of Nicol Edward, Provost of
Edinburgh in 1591, a large quadrangular building of uniform architectural
design and elegant proportions, in which King James VI and his Queen
took up their residence for a time in that year! This building appears,
from the description of it, to have been one of the most magnificent private
edifices of the old town? In the same wynd, a little farther down on the
opposite side, stood St. Mary’s Chapel, founded and endowed in 1504 by
Elizabeth, Countess of Ross, the widow of John, Lord of the Isles, who was
outlawed and forfeited by James III for trcasonable correspondence with
Edward IV of England. She was the eldest daughter of James, Lord
Livingston, Great Chamberlain of Scotland, and appears to have held con-
siderable property by special charters in her own bchalf. A modern edifice,
which had replaced the ancient chapel before the demolition of Niddry’s
Wynd, formed the hall of the corporation of Wrights and Masons. It was
acquired by them in 1618, since which they have borne the name of the
United Incorporations of Mary's Chapel.

On entering Dickson’s Close, a little farther down the street, the first
house the visitor comes to on the left hand is a substantial stone edifice,

U Ante, vol. i. p. 229.
2 For a detailed account of this very interesting old building, vide Minor Antiquitics, p. 207.
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evidently the work of Robert Mylne, and built about the period of the
Revolution.  Of its first occupants we can give no account, but one of its
more recent inhabitants confers on it a peculiar interest. Here was the
residence of David Allan, “our Scottish Hogarth,” as he was called, an
artist of undoubted genius, whose fair fame has suffered by the insipidity
which incompetent engravers have infused into his illustrations to Ramsay
and Burns. The satiric humour and drollery of his well-known “rebuke
scene” in a country church, and the lively expression and spirit of the
“General Assembly” and others of his own etchings, amply justify the
character assigned to him by his contemporaries. He succeeded Runciman
as master of the Academy established by the Board of Trustees, the classes
of which then met in the College, while he received private pupils at his
house in Dickson’s Close.! A little lower down the close on the same side
an old stone tenement bears on its lower crow-step the Haliburton arms,
impaled with another coat, on one shield. It is a singularly unique and
time-worn edifice, with a curious double window projecting on a corbelled base
into the close. The earliest deed which exists, bearing thc date 1582,
refers to its first proprictor, Master James Halyburton,—a title then of some
meaning,—as #mg” or deceased ; so that it is a building probably of the early
part of the sixteenth century. It afterwards was the residence of Sir John
Haliday of Tillybole. The most interesting fact, however, brought out by
those early titles occurs in defining the boundaries of the property. It is
described as having “the trans of the prebendaries of the kirk of Crightoun
on the east pairt and oyr partes”; and, as appears from the old charters,
the tenement to the north of it and fronting the street had been the lodging
of the Provost of Crichton; while the town mansion of the Abbots of
Melrose stands directly opposite to it, with an entrance from Strichen’s Close.
It thus appears that a considerable part of Cant’s Close and the adjoining
arca had been occupied by ecclesiastical buildings chiefly in connection with
the church of Crichton, crected into a collegiate foundation in 1449 by Sir
Wm. Crichton, Lord High Chancellor of Scotland.? The mansion of the
Abbots of Melrose is a large and substantial stone building, enclosing a
square or court in the centre, the original access to which seems to have
disappeared. The whole building has evidently undergone great alterations ;
and over one of the doorways a carved stone bears a large and very boldly
cut shield, with two coats of arms impaled, and the date 1600. There
seems no reason to doubt, however, that the main portion of the Abbot’s
residence still remains. The lower story is strongly vaulted, and is

v Caledonian Mercury, 15th November 1788.—His terms were one guinea per month for three lessons
in the week, a fee that undoubtedly restricted his private classes at that period to the most wealthy and
fashionable students of art. The date of the advertisement is the year of his marriage.

3 Traditions, vol. i. p. 92.
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evidently the work of an early date. The small quadrangle also is quite in
character with the period assumed for the building. A greatly defaced
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Capitular Scal of Melrose Abbey.

carving on the lintel of the doorway
appears to have been a representation
of the Virgin and child; and as such
accords with the device repeated on
the capitular seals of the Abbey. At
the north-west angle of the Abbot’s
lodging, where the gable is surmounted
by a curiously carved finial combining the
rose and fleur-de-lis, a grotesque gargoyle
of antique form scrves as a gutter to the
roof. Iere, therefore, we may assign
with little hesitation the residence of
Andrew Durie, nominated by James V
to the Abbey of Melrose in the year
1526; and whose death, Knox assures
us, was occasioned by the terror into which
he was put on the memorable uproar on
St. Giles’s day, 1558. The close, which
is called the Abbot of Melrose’s in its
earlier titles, assumes the name of Rose-
haugh Close at a later period, from the
Abbot’s lodging having become the
residence of the celebrated Sir George
Mackenzie of Rosehaugh, king’s advocate
for Scotland after the Restoration. Dur-
ing a great part of last century it was
occupied by Alexander Fraser of Strichen,
who was connected by marriage with
the descendants of Sir George Mackenzie,
and who sat for nearly half a century

on the bench under the title of Lord Strichen, from which it derives its

present name.

The front tcnement, which extends between Strichen’s Close and Black-
friars’ Wynd, is a plain modern land, re-crected after the destruction of its
predecessor in onc of the alarming fires of the memorable year 1824, and
constructed with a view to the humbler requisities of its modern tenants ;
but the old building that occupied its site was a handsome stone fabric of
lofty proportions, and within the present century the residence of people of
rank. The most intercsting among its later occupants was Lady Lovat, the
relict of the cclebrated Simon, Lord Lovat, who was bcheaded on Tower Hill
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in 1747. *“Lady Charlotte Campbell told me,” writes Mr. C. K. Sharpe,
“that her mother, the Duchess of Argyle, took her along with her to visit
Lady Lovat. She was a little, mean-looking woman, and had a tumbler on
the table, into which she dipped her fingers repeatedly and then put them
into her mouth, in a way that made Lady Charlotte sick. But though her
manners werc repulsive, the Jacobite ladies looked on her as a martyred
saint, and tolerated her in every extravagance. She was thus a noted Edin-
burgh character in her day ; and the old building, in the occupancy of which
she shared, was generally known as Lady Lovafs Land” It possesses,
however, more valuable associations than this, for its ancient title-deeds name
as the original proprietor Walter Chepman, the Scottish Caxton, who intro-
duced the printing-press into Scotland in the year 1507, under the munifi-
cent auspices of James IV. To the press of Walter Chepman the admirers
of our early national literature still turn, not without hope that additions may
yet be made, by further discovery of its invaluable fragments, to the writings
of those great men who adorned the Augustan age of Scotland. The build-
ing, however, which perished in the conflagration of 1824 did not appear to
be of an earlier date than the period of the Recvolution ; soon after which
many of the substantial stone tenements of the old town were erected.
The more ancient edifice seems to have been one of the picturesque timber-
fronted ercctions of the reign of James IV, and formed the subject of special
privileges granted by that monarch to his valued servitor. In the Registers
of the Privy Seal (iv. 173) there is preserved the following royal license,
dated at Edinburgh, 5th February 1510: “A licence maid to Walter
Chepman, burges of Edinburgh, to haif staris towart the Hie Strete and
calsay, with bak staris and turngres in the Frer Wynd, or on the forgait, of
sic breid and lenth as he sall think expedient for entre and asiamentis to
his land and tenement; and to flit the pend of the said Frer Wynd, for
making of necidful asiamentis in thes ammyn; and als to big and haif ane
wolt vnder the calsay, befor the for front of the said tenement, of sic breid
as he thinkis expedient ; with ane penteis vnder the greissis of his for star,”
etc. The whole grant is a curious sample of the arbitrary manner in which
private interests and the gencral convenience of the citizens were sacrificed
to the wishes of the royal favourite. The printing-house of Chepman and
Millar was in the sout/t gait, or Cowgate! of Edinburgh, as appears from the
imprint on the rare edition of 7/he Knightly Tale of Golagros and Gawane
and others of the earliest issues from their press in the year 1508 ; and it
no doubt was the same tenement with which, in 1528, Chepman endowed

1 The names of streets so common in Scotland, formed with the adjunct gate, rarely if ever refer to
a gate or port, according to the modern acceptation of the word ; but to gai? or street, as the King’s hie
gatt, or, as here, the south gait, meaning the south street. The Water Gate, which is the only instance
of the ancient use of the word in Edinburgh, is invariably written ye#/ in early notices of it.
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an altar in the chapel of the Holy Rood, in the lower churchyard of St. Giles.
We may infer, however, from the nature of the royal grant, that the ancient
building at the Nether Bow was the residence of Walter Chepman, who was
a citizen of wealth and importance, occupying a high office in the royal
household. In his titles he is styled IWalter Chepman de Everland, and the
carved boss in the groined ceiling of the aisle crected by him in St. Giles’s
Church bears his arms, impaled with those of his wife.

A broad archway, which leads through the modern successor of the old
typographer’s fore tenement, gives entrance to Blackfriars’ Wynd, the largest,
and undoubtedly the most important, of all the ancient wynds of Edinburgh.
Before its final erasure from the historic thoroughfares of Old Edinburgh,
we put on record some of its most curious characteristics. The engraved
view of it as it stood in 1837 suffices to show the old avenue which was
lighted up with the torches of Queen Mary’s attendants as she wended her
way homeward from her last interview with Darnley at the Kirk of Field,
on the fatal gth of February 1567. It derives its name from having formed
the approach to the monastery of the Dominicans, or Black Friars, founded
by Alexander II in 1230, which stood on the site of the old High School.
This royal foundation formed for a time the residence of its founder, and
received from him, among other-endowments, a gift of the whole ground now
occupied by the wynd, to ercct houses thereon. For fully five centuries the
ancient alley formed one of the most aristocratic districts of the Scottish
capital ; and it continued even after the Reformation to be the chosen place
of residence of some of the chief Scottish ecclesiastics. It retained till a’ few
years since much of the fine antique picturesqueness that anciently charac-
terised it, and is represented here as it still appeared in 1837 ; but since
then a rapid demolition of its decaying tenements has taken place; and at
length Provost Chambers’s Improvement Act has sealed the doom of the
ancient Preaching Friars’ Vennel.

We have already noticed, in the introductory sketch, several of the most
memorable incidents of which this alley has been the scene. There some of
the keenest struggles took place during the famous contest known as “ Cleanse
the Causeway ” ; down its straitened thoroughfare the victorious adherents of
the Earl of Angus rushed to assault the palace of the Archbishop of Glasgow
at the foot of the wynd, and from thence to wreak their vengeance on his
person in the neighbouring church of the Black Friars, whither he fled for
shelter. In the reign of James VI, in 1588, it was the arena of a similar
contest between the retainers of the Earl of Bothwell and Sir William
Stewart, when the latter was slain there by the sword of his rival. The
next remarkable incident that occurred was in 1668, when James Sharp,
Archbishop of St. Andrews, was seated in his coach at the head of Black-
friars’ Wynd, waiting for the Bishop of Orkney, whose residence would
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appear from this to have been in the wynd. Just as the Bishop was
approaching, Mitchell, the fanatic assassin already described,! and an intimate
acquaintance of the no less notorious Major Weir,” aimed a pistol at the
Primate, the contents of which missed him, but dangerously wounded the
Bishop of Orkney, who at the moment was stepping into the coach. In
later and more peaceful times the old alley has quietly progressed in its
declining fortunes to desertion and ruin.

On the west side, near the head of the wynd, a decorated lintel bore the
inscription and device represented in the accompanying woodcut, with the
date 1564. The ground floor of this building consisted of one very large
apartment, with a massive stone pillar in the centre, which formed the place

Ancient Doorway, Blackfriars’ Wynd.

of worship to which the adherents of the covenanted kirk retreated on the
settlement of ecclesiastical affairs at the Revolution ; and it is described, in
an advertisement of the year 1798, as “ the Auld Cameronian Meeting-house.”
Tradition pointed out the upper flat of the same tenement as having been
the lodging of “ Nicol Muschett, of ill memorie,” while a student at college,
though it appears, from the evidence on his trial, that his final residence was
in Dickson’s Close. This ancient tenement was latterly regarded with
interest, as bearing the oldest date on any private building in Edinburgh,
excepting that already described in Blyth’s Close. But we have since re-
covered a stone in the possession of James Gibson-Craig, Esq., bearing the
earlier date of 1506, removed from a house which stood in very recent
years, near the foot of this same wynd, on the opposite side. It appears
to have formed the pediment of a dormer window, being triangular in shape,
and surmounted by an unusually large crescent.

Immediately adjoining the former building, on the west side of the wynd,
is the venerable mansion of the Earls of Morton, an ancient timber-fronted

1 Ante, vol. i. p. 133. ? Ravaillac Redivivus, Lond. 1678, p. 12.
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land, already referred to in the description of Brown’s Close, Castle Hill,! with
its fine Gothic doorway and sculptured tympanum, containing a coronet sup-
ported by unicorns. It is shown in the engraved view, with its dark pro-
jecting timber front, about half-way up the wynd. Such portions of the
stone front as remain exposed exhibit the feature, which occurs so frequently
in buildings of an ecarly date, of moulded windows originally divided by stone
mullions.  The desolate and deserted aspect of the vice-regal residence
comports with the degraded state of this once patrician locality, now “fallen
on evil days and evil tongues.” It has long been entirely shut up, defying
as completely all attempts at investigating its interior as when Queen's men
and King’s men were fighting in the High Street, and Kirkaldy of Grange
was bent on driving the Regent and all his followers from the town. The
evidence of this mansion having been occupied by the Regent Morton is
defective, though it is undoubtedly of an earlier date, and appears to have
been possessed by his immediate ancestors. The earliest title which we have
seen is a disposition by Archibald Douglas, younger of Whittinghame, one of
the senators of the College of Justice, in which it is described as “ that tene-
ment which was some time thc Earl of Mortoun’s.” From this it may be
inferred to have bcen the residence of his direct ancestor, John, second Earl
of Morton, who sat in the Parliament of James IV in 1504, and whose
grandson, William Douglas of Whittinghame, was created a senator of the
College of Justice in 1575. He was a contemporary of his kinsman, the
Regent Morton, and an associate with him in the murder of Rizzio ; so that
if the sculpture over the doorway be a device adopted by the Morton family,
the corresponding one, already described in the Castle Hill, may be considered
as affording considerable probability of that house having been the mansion
of the Regent. William Douglas, Lord Whittinghame, resigned his office
as a judge in 1590, and was succeeded by his son Archibald, the granter
of the disposition referred to. He was a special favourite of James VI ;
accompanied him on his matrimonial voyage to Denmark, and was re-
warded for his “lovable service,” soon after his return, by this judicial
appointment.

The portion of the wynd below this old mansion included, along with
the building of 1564, another which was long used as a Roman Catholic
chapel in times when scanty toleration was extended to the worshippers of
the old faith. This is an antique stone fabric, from which a curiously pro-
jecting timber front was removed only a few years before its desertion as a
place of worship. On the fifth flat of this tencment, approached by a steep
and narrow turnpike stair, a large chamber was consecrated to the worship
of the Roman Catholic Church during the greater part of last century, and
probably earlier. When we last visited this primitive retreat of “ Old Giant

1 Ante, vol. i. p. 181. ? Douglas’s Peerage, vol. ii. p. 269.
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Pope, after the many shrewd brushes that he met with in his younger days,”
there still remained painted in simple fashion on onc of the doors immediately
below the chapel the name of the old Bishop, Mr. Hay. This was the once
cclebrated opponent of Bishop Wm. Abernethy Drummond, of the Scottish
Episcopal Church, under the initials G. H.; and well worthy of note in
the history of the locality as the last of the Bishops of Blackfriars’ Wynd,
where the proudest nobles of Scotland were wont of old to give place to the
dignitaries of the Church.

Nearly opposite to this a large and ancient tenement still stands entire
in the midst of ruins, the upper story of which was also used as a chapel.
It was dedicated to St. Andrew, and formed the chief Roman Catholic place
of worship in Edinburgh, until it was abandoned in the year 1813 for the
ecclesiastical edifice at Broughton Street, dedicated in honour of the Virgin
Mary. The interior of the chapel retained most of its original fittings when
we last visited it. The framework of the simple altar-piece still remained,
though the painting of the Patron Saint of Scotland, which originally
filled it, had disappcared. Humble as must have been the appearance of
this chapel, even when furnished with every adjunct of Catholic ceremonial
for Christmas or Easter festivals, aided by the imposing habits of the officiat-
ing priests around its little altar, yet men of ancient lineage were wont to
assemble among the worshippers ; and during the abode of the royal exiles
at Holyrood Palace, Count d’Artois, the future occupant of the French
throne, with the Princes and their attendants, usually formed part of the
congregation. An internal staircase formed the private entrance for the priests
from the floor below, the straitened accommodations of which sufficed for the
residence of these successors of the Cardinals and Archbishops who once
dwelt in the same neighbourhood. The public access was by a projecting
stone staircase, which forms the approach to the different floors of the build-
ing. Over its doorway is a sculptured lintel, with a shield of arms in the
centre, bearing three stars in chief, with a plain cross, and over it two swords
saltier ways. On either side of this is cut, in large antique characters, the
inscription MISERERE MEI DEVS; and below, the initials G. G.

Only one other old building, now deserted and hastening to decay,
remains on the west side of the wynd, bearing over its entrance the pious
inscription: THE FEIR OF THE LORD IS TIIE BEGYNNING OF Al VISDOME.
Below this, at the corner of the Cowgatc, formerly stood the English
Episcopal chapel, founded by Lord Chicf Baron Smith in 1722 for a
congregation of worshippers in communion with the Church of England,
and recognising in its liturgy the reigning sovereign and the Hanoverian
dynasty, in contradistinction to the nonjuring Church of the Scottish Epis-
copalians, who fervently maintained the right divine of the exiled Stuarts.
It was a plain edifice, possessing no external features of an ccclesiastical
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character, as may be seen in our cngraving of “Cardinal Beaton’s House,”
where it appears on the farther side of the wynd. The building existed
exactly a century, having been demolished in 1822, after serving during that
period as the place of worship of all loyal and devout Episcopal Churchmen,
at a time when Episcopacy and Jacobitism were nearly synonymous in Scot-
land. The interest that attaches to it as a feature of the olden time, when
such a site was selected for a chapel probably attended by a congregation
including a greater array of rank and fashion than any that now assembles
in Edinburgh, is further increased from its having been the place of worship
of Dr. Johnson, when residing with Boswell in 1773.

Here also, and not improbably on the same site, was the town mansion
of William St. Clair, Earl of Orkney, the founder of Roslin Chapel, who
maintained his court at Roslin Castle with a magnificence far surpassing
what had often sufficed for that of the Scottish Kings. If we arc to
believe the genealogist, he was royally served at his own table in vessels of
gold and silver: Lord Dirleton being his master of the household, Lord
Borthwick his cup-bearer, and Lord Fleming his carver, with men of ancient
rank and lineage for their deputies. His Countess, Margaret Douglas, was
waited on, according to Father Hay, by seventy-five gentlewomen, whereof
fifty-thrce were daughters of noblemen, “all cloathd in velvets and silks,
with their chains of gold, and other pertinents; togither with two hundred
rideing gentlemen, who accompanied her in all her journeys. She had
carried before her, when she went to Edinburgh, if it were darke, eighty
lighted torches. Her lodgeing was att the foot of Blackfryer Wynde; so
that, in a word, none matched her in all the countrcy, save the Queen’s
Majesty.”!

Dircctly opposite to the site of Baron Smith's chapel still stands one of
the palatial edifices of the old capital, popularly known as Cardinal Beaton’s
house, which undoubtedly formed an archiepiscopal residence of no mean
character in the sixteenth century. It, however, falls more correctly to be
treated of as one of the most interesting among the older features of the
Cowgate, though also a fitting link of that patrician street with the neigh-
bouring haunt of the Dominicans and other ecclesiastics of the olden time.
The Blackfriars’ Wynd must have been stamped with a peculiar antique
character, before time’s effacing fingers wrought such havoc there. The
vignette at the beginning of the chapter exhibits the richest group of
mottoes to be found on any building in Edinburgh, forming the decorations
on the architrave of a decayed old land on the east side, near the head of
the wynd. A shield, charged with armorial bearings, sculptured on the left
side of the doorway, as represented in the woodcut, is accompanied with
the initials E. K. and the date 1619. The building above this, having a

V' Genealogie of the Sainte Claires of Rosslyn, p. 26.
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front to the wynd of polished ashlar, and a range of unusually large windows,
separated only by very narrow uprights, is finished with string courses and
rich mouldings, and forms a fine specimen of an old-town mansion of the
sixteenth century. It is stated by Chambers to be entailed with the estate
of the Clerks of Pennycuik, and to have formed the town residence of their
ancestors. This we presume to have been the later residence of Alexander,
fifth Lord Home ; the same who entertained Queen Mary and Lord Darnley
in his lodging near the Tron in 1565, and who afterwards turned the fortune
of the field at the battle of Langside, at the head of his Border spearmen.
He was one of the noble captives who surrendered to Sir William Drury on
the taking of Edinburgh Castle in 1573. He was detained a prisoner,
while his brave companions perished on the scaffold ; and was only released
at last, after a tedious captivity, to dic a prisoner at large in his own house,
—the same now referred to in Blackfriars’ Wynd. A contemporary writer
remarks: “ Wpoun the sccund day of Junij [1575] Alexander Lord
Home wes relevit out of the Castell of Edinburgh, and wardit in his awne
lugeing in the heid of the Freir Wynd, quha wes carijt thairto in ane bed, be
ressone of his great infirmitie of seiknes.”! No other portion of the Old
Town of Edinburgh is more calculated to impress the thoughtful visitor with
the feeling of a departed glory, replaced by squalor and decay, than the Black-
friars’ Wynd. There still stands the deserted and desecrated fane; the
desolate mansions of powerful nobles and scnators ; and the degraded palace
of the Primate and Cardinal, where even Scottish monarchs have been fitly
entertained. The ground which Alexander II bestowed on the Dominican
Friars, as a special act of regal munificence, seems no longer possessed of
value enough to tempt the labours of the builder.

Emerging again through the archway at the head of the wynd, which
the royal master-printer ffztfed at his pleasure above three centuries ago, an
ancient tenement in the High Street, to the east of the wynd, attracts the
notice of the local historian as the mansion of Lord President Fentonbarns,
a man of humble origin, the son of a baker in Edinburgh, whose eminent
abilities won him the esteem and the suffrages of his contemporaries. He
owed his fortunes to the favour of James VI, by whom he was nominated
to fill the office of a Lord of Session, and afterwards knighted. We are
inclined to think that it is to him Montgomerie alludes in his satirical
sonnets addressed to M. J. Sharpe—in all probability an epithet of similar
origin and significance to that conferred by the Jacobites on the favourite
advocate of William III. The poet had failed in a suit before the Court of
Session, seemingly with James Beaton, Archbishop of Glasgow, and he takes
his revenge against “his Adversars Lawyers,” like other poets, in satiric
rhyme. The lack of “gentle blude ” is a special handle against the plebeian

Y Diurnal of Occurrents, p. 348.
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judge, in the eyes of the high-born poet; and his second sonnet, which is
sufficiently vituperative, begins—
‘“ A Baxter’s bird, a bluiter beggar borne ! 71

This old mansion now forms the sole survivor of all the long unbroken
range of timber-fronted buildings that formerly extended between St. Giles’s
Church and the Nether Bow. In its original state it was one of the very
finest specimens of this ancient style of building in Edinburgh, having the
main timbers and gables of its oaken facade richly carved, in the fashion of
some of the magnificent old dwellings of the opulent Flemings in Bruges or
Ghent. A new timber front, of a very commonplace description, now
replaces the artistic workmanship of the sixteenth century. Some of its
original features, however, still survive the transformation of newer fashions.
The roof is surmounted by a range of crow-steps of the form already
described as peculiar to the fifteenth or earlier part of the sixteenth centuries;
and an outside stair leads to the first floor, where the ancient stone turnpike
remains in its original state, decorated with the abreviated motto, in fine orna-
mental Gothic characters: DEOQO  HONOR - ET - GLIA. Itis thus described
in a disposition by Sir Michael Preston to Lawrence Kenrison, dated 1626,
and preserved in the Burgh Charter Room : “ That tenement or land, some
time waste and burnt be the English ; some time pertaining to umquile Mr.
John Preston, some time President of the College of Justice, and my father ;
on the south part of the King’s High Street, and on the east side of the
trance of the wynd called the Blackfriars’ Wynd, betwixt the said trance
and land above, pertaining to the heirs of umquile Walter Chepman, upon
the west,” etc. The allusion to its burning shows the date of its erection to
be somewhat later than 1544. But it again suffered in the civil wars that
followed, though probably not so completely as to preclude repair, notwith-
standing its appearance among the list of houses destroyed during the siege
of Edinburgh in 1572 : “ Thir ar the houssis that wer destroyit this moneth
(May); to wit, the Erle of Maris, now present Regent, lugeing in the
Cowgait, Mr. Johne Prestonis in the Frier Wynd, David Kinloch Baxteris
house in Dalgleish Closs,” etc.2 In more recent times it was the residence
of Lord Fentonbarns. A little way down the wynd, on the east side, a
favourite motto over an ancient doorway repeats, in bold Roman characters,
with slight variation the favourite text: THE FEIR OF THE LORD IS
THE BEGENING OF VISDOME. It occurs on an ancient tenement which
bears evident tokens of having at one time been the residence of rank and
fashion ; and an iron knobbed door on one of the floors still possesses the
antiquated appendage of a risping pin. The adjoining alley, styled Todrick’s
Wynd, acquires a special interest from its association with a memorable

! Alexander Montgomerie’s Poems ; complete edition, by Dr. Irving, p. 74.
2 Diurnal of Occurrents, p. 299.
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deed in the bloody annals of our national history. An inscription over a
doorway at the head of the wynd, long covered up with plaster by some
former tenant, to save the cost of a signboard, reads: CELUM ASPICIO - SOLUM
DESPICIO. This house, I assume, from its agreement with the narrative
of Bothwell’'s proceedings, to be the lodging of John Cockburn, Laird of
Ormiston, where some of his accomplices joined him, on the gth of February
1567, while Queen Mary spent her last evening with Darnley. They left
the house shortly after nine, having had notice of the Queen’s passing
with her attendants; and so making their way down Todrick’'s Wynd, the
Earl and his wretched hirelings proceeded, by the gate of the Blackfriars’
Monastery in the Cowgate, to the Kirk of Field, and there fired the powder
by which the house of the Provost of the Kirk of Field was blown into the
air, and Lord Darnley, with his servant Taylor, slain.

The closes between this and the Nether Bow mostly exist in the same
state as they have done for two centuries or more, though wofully contam-
inated by the slovenly habits of their modern inmates. South Gray’s or
the Mint Close, however, forms an exception. It is a comparatively spacious
and aristocratic-looking alley ; and some feeble halo of its ancient honours
still lingers about its substantial and picturesque mansions. It affords a
curious instance of a close retaining for centuries the name of a simple
burgess while it has been the residence of nobles and representatives of
ancient families, in striking contrast to the variable nomenclature of most of
the alleys of the old town. It is mentioned by its present name in a charter
dated 1512, in which “ umg™ John Gray, burgess of Edinburgh,” is the author
of earlier titles referred to. By an older deed, the ground on which it is
built appears to have formed part of the lands of the Monastery of
Greyfriars. In “the Inventer and Wryts of ane lodging,” etc., on the east
side of the close, a charter is mentioned, dated 1456, “granted be David
Rae, vicar generall ; Ffindlay Ker, prior; and the rest of the Convent of
Graifriers att Edinburgh, to Andrew Mowbray, burgess,” of a certain piece
of land on which it is built, bounded by the king’s wall on the south.
About halfway down the close, on the east side, stands the ancient mansion
of the Earls of Selkirk, having a large garden to the south, while the
principal entrance is from Hyndford’s Close. The building has the
appearance of great antiquity. The ground floor of the south front seems
to have been an open arcade, or cloister, and on the west wall a picturesque
turret staircase projects from the first floor into the close. This ancient
tenement has successively formed the residence of the Earls of Stirling, of
the Earl of Hyndford, and, at a still later period, of Dr. Rutherford, the
maternal grandfather of Sir Walter Scott. Hyndford's Close, which forms
the main approach to the house, retains its antique character, having on the

west side a range of singularly picturesque overhanging timber gables. It
VOL. 11 F
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is neatly paved, terminating in a small court open at one side, and altogether
presents a very pleasing specimen of the retired old-fashioned gentility
which once characterised those urban retreats. The fine old house possesses
peculiar interest as a favourite haunt of Scott during his earlier years. Its
vicinity to the High School gave it additional attractions to him while
pursuing his studies there; and he frequently referred, in after life, to the
happy associations he had with this alley of the old town. A good view
of the south front of the house, from the garden, is given in the Abbots-
ford edition of the great novelist’s works.! Later associations connect this
venerable memorial of older times with another among the most remarkable
men of his age and country, for here the youthful Thomas Chalmers took
up his lodging, on his first arrival in Edinburgh in 1799.

A lofty tenement, enclosing a small paved area to the south, still bears
the name of Elphinstone’s Court, having been built by Sir James Elphin-
stone in 1679. From him it passed to Sir Francis Scott of Thirlestane,
by whom it was sold to Patrick Wedderburn, Esq., who assumed the title of
Lord Chesterhall on his elevation to the bench in 1755. His son Alex-
ander, afterwards the celebrated Lord Loughborough, Lord High Chancellor
of England, disposed of it shortly after his father’s death to Lord Stonefield,
who sat as a judge in the Court of Session during the long period of thirty-
nine years, and died in this house at the beginning of the present century,—
so recent is the desertion of this locality by the grandees of the capital.

Various ancient tenements are to be found in adjoining closes of which
tradition has kept no note, and we have failed to obtain any other clue to
their history. One large mansion in South Foulis Close bears the date
1539 over its main doorway, with two coats of arms impaled on one large
shield in the centre, but all now greatly defaced. Another, nearly opposite
to it, exhibits an old oak door, ornamented with fine carving still in toler-
able preservation, although the whole place has been converted into store-
rooms and cellars. But adjoining this is a relic of antiquity, beside which
the works of the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries appear but as things of
yesterday ; and even the ancient chapel of St. Margaret, in the Castle,
becomes a work of comparatively recent date. Sir John Clerk, in writing
to his friend and brother antiquary, Mr. Gale, in 1741, refers to the
recent destruction of an old arch at Edinburgh “that nobody ever imagined
to be Roman, and yet it seems it was, by an urn discovered in it, with a
good many silver coins,” including a rare one of Faustina Minor. It repre-
sents, he says, “ her bust on one side, and on the reverse a lectisternium, with
this inscription, SAECULA FELICITAS.”? He does not mention the site of
this Roman arch ; for his object is to express sympathy with his correspond-

! Vol. ix. Redgauntlet, p. 37.
2 RBibliotheca Topographica Britannia, No. 11. Part iii. p. 348.
opograp: P
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ent in the fate of a similar structure at York. The omission is greatly to
be regretted ; but in the absence of any definite localisation one is tempted
to associate it with other Roman remains on the site of a historical arch of
later times. In the front of a tall and narrow tenement at the Nether
Bow, nearly opposite to “ John Knox’s House,” a piece of ancient sculpture
long formed one of the most noted of the antiquities of Edinburgh. It con-
sists of two fine profile heads, in relief and life-size, pronounced by the
carliest writers on the subject to be undoubted specimens of Roman art.
The bas-reliefs were first noticed in 1727, in Gordon’s /tinerarium Septen-
trionale, accompanied by an engraving, where he remarks: “ A very learned
and illustrious antiquary here, by the ideas of the heads, judges them to be
representations of the Emperor SEPTIMIUS SEVERUS, and his wife JULIA.
This is highly probable and consistent with the Roman history ; for that the
Emperor, and most of his august family, were in Scotland appears plain in
Xephiline, from Dio.”! This idea, thus first suggested, is fully warranted
by the general resemblance of the heads to those on the Roman coins of
that reign. A tablet inserted between the heads contains the inscription in
antique characters—

In sudore vults. tui veceris, pane tuo, * & * 3.2

This quotation from the Latin Bible, of the curse pronounced on our first
parents after the fall, and no doubt the work of a very different period, was
the source of the vulgar tradition gravely combated by Maitland, our earliest
local historian, that the heads were intended as representations of Adam and
Eve. These pieces of ancient sculpture, which were said in his time to
have been removed from a house on the north side of the street, may have
been discovered in digging the foundations of the building, and along with
them the Gothic inscription : to all appearance a fragment from the ruins of
the neighbouring convent of St. Mary, or some other of the old monastic
establishments of Edinburgh. The words of the inscription correspond with
the reading of Gutenberg’s Bible, the first edition, printed at Mentz in 1455 ;
and it would have a greater interest to the antiquary were it not brought
into association with valuable relics of a remoter era. The characters of the
inscription leave little reason to doubt that it is the work of the same period
as the printing of the Mentz Bible.
The old tenement, which is rendered interesting as the conservator of
those valuable monuments of the Roman invasion, and is thus also associated
V Itiner. Septent. p. 186.

2 Maitland and others have mistaken the concluding letters of the inscription as a contraction for
the date, which the former states as 1621, and a subsequent writer as 1603. Mr. D. Laing was the first
to point out its true meaning as a contracted form of reference to Genesis, chapter iii. Vide Archzologia

Scotica, vol. iii. p. 287, where a very accurate engraving of the sculpture, by David Allan, is introduced.
The bas-reliefs are now (1891) in the Antiquarian Museum.
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in some degree with the introduction of the first printed Bible into Scotland,
has already been referred to as that from whence Thomas Bassendyne, our
famed old Scottish typographer, issued his beautiful folio Bible in 1574.
The front land, which is adorned with the Roman bas-reliefs, is proved from
the titles to have been rebuilt about the beginning of the eighteenth century,
in the room of an ancient timber-fronted land, which was “lately, of need,
taken down,” having no doubt fallen into ruinous decay. The back part of
the tenement, however, retains unequivocal evidence of being the original
building. It is approached from the Fountain Close by the same turnpike
stair as gives access to the front land ; and owing to the alteration in the
level of floors, and other changes consequent on the wedding of this wrinkled
dowager of the sixteenth century with its spruce partner of the eighteenth,
an explorer of its intricate labyrinths finds himself beset by as many incon-
veniences as Mr. Lovel experienced on his first introduction to the mitred
Abbot of Trotcosey’s Grange, at Monkbarns. On ascending the winding
stair by which he reaches the door of the first floor, he has then to descend
another ; and after threading a dark passage on this lower level, somewhat
in the form of the letter Z, he reaches a third flight of steps equally zigzag
in their direction, whose ascent—if he have courage to persevere so far,—
lands him in “ that other tenement of land, commonly called the Fountain,
a little above the Nether Bow, on the south side of the High Street of
Edinburgh ; and which tenement of land, formerly called the Backland,
some time belonged to Nicol and Alexander Bassandene, lawful sons to
Michael Bassandene, lying in the closs called Bassandene’s Closs.” Such is
the description of this ancient fabric, as given in the earlier title-deeds of
the present proprietor. The same building is repeatedly referred to in the
evidence of the accomplices of the Earl of Bothwell in the murder of
Darnley, an event which took place in the lifetime of the old printer. In
the deposition of George Dalgleish, one of those, who was executed for his
share in that crime, it is stated that “eftir thay enterit within the [Nether
Bow] Port, thai zeid up abone Bassyntine’s house, on the south side of the
gait, and knockit at ane dur beneth the sword slippers, and callit for the
Laird of Ormestounes, and one within answerit he was not thare; and thai
passit down a cloiss beneth Frier Wynd, and enterit in at the zet of the
Black Friers.”! This reference clearly indicates the site of the Laird of
Ormiston’s lodging, as well as that of the tenement now described; the
only question is, whether the latter was that of Thomas Bassendyne, the
printer, referred to in the imprint of his rare quarto edition of Sir David
Lindsay’s Poems, printed in 1574, while “ dwelland at the Nether Bow.” In
the statement of debts appended to his will,? there was “awand to Alesoun
Tod, mother to the defunct, for half ane zeiris male of the house iiii 1. ;"

! Pitcairn's Crimina! 7'rials, Supplement, p. 495. 2 Bannatyne Misc. vol. ii. p. 202.
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while there was due to him, “be Michael Bassinden, bruther to the said
vmquhile Thomas, of byrun annuellis, the soume of ane hundreth ten
pundis.” From this it seems probable that his mother was life-rented in
that part of the house which formed the printer's dwelling and establish-
ment, while the remainder, belonging to himself, was occupied by his
brother. At all events he leaves, in his will, * his thrid, the ane half thairof
to his wyf, and the vthir half to his mother, and Michael, and his bairnes ;”
in which we presume to have been included the house, which we find both
he and /4is bairns afterwards possessing, and for which no rent would appear
to have been exacted during the lifetime of the printer.

The name of the Fountain, by which the old tenement is distinguished
in the titles, is curious. The well, which now bears the same name, had in
all probability formerly stood either in front of this building, or more probably

Ancient Doorways, Fountain Close.

—from the speciality of the name, and the narrowness of the street at that
point,—it had formed a portion of the building itself ; for it is not styled the
Fountain Land, according to usual custom, but simply 7/ke Fountain. In
the evidence of the Earl of Bothwell’s accomplices, already referred to, it is
stated by William Powrie, that after “thai hard the crack, thai past away
togidder out at the Frier Yet, and sinderit quhen thai came to the Cowgate,
pairt up the Blackfrier Wynd, and pairt up the cloiss which is under the
Endmyleis Well.”! This there can be little doubt is the same well, though
no alley lower down appears as a thoroughfare in early maps.

On the east side of the close, directly opposite the entrance to Bassen-
dyne’s house, an ancient entrance of a highly ornamental character appears.
It consists of two doorways, with pilasters on each side supporting an archi-
trave adorned with inscriptions and the date 1573, as represented in the
accompanying woodcut. Adam Fullerton, the builder of this mansion,
whose name is carved over the left doorway, was an influential citizen in the
reign of Queen Mary, and an active colleague and coadjutor of Edward Hope
in the cause of the Reformation. In 1561 his name appears as one of the

! Pitcairn’s Criminal 7rials, Supplement, p. §567.
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bailies of Edinburgh, who, along with Archibald Douglas of Kilspindie, the
Provost, laid hold of a poor craftsman who had been guilty of the enormity
of playing Robin Hood, and condemned him to be hanged: a procedure
which ended in the mob becoming masters of the town, compelling the
magistrates to sue for the mediation of the Governor of the Castle, and at
length fairly to succumb to the rioters! Only two months after this com-
motion Queen Mary landed at Leith, and was loyally entertained by the
town of Edinburgh, Adam Fullerton doubtless taking a prominent part
among her civic hosts. In the General Assembly held at Leith, 16th January
1571, his name occurs as commissioner for the town of Edinburgh? On
the 23d of June following, during the memorable siege of Edinburgh by the
Regent Mar, in the name of the infant King, two hundred of the burgesses
of the capital who favoured the Regent passed privately to Leith, which was
then held by the Regent’s forces, and there made choice of Adam Fullerton
for their captain® The consequence of this was his being “denuncit our
souerane ladies rebell, and put to the horne” on the 18th of August follow-
ing ;* and “vpoun the tuantie nynt day of the said moneth, James Duke of
Chattellarault, George Erle of Huntlie, Alexander Lord Home, accumpanyit
with diuerse prelatis and barronis, past to the tolbuith of Edinburgh; and
thair sittand in parliament, the thrie estaitts being convenit, foirfaltit Matho
Erle of Lennox, James Erle of Mortoun, John Erle of Mar,” and many other
nobles, knights, and burgesses, of the Parliament, foremost among the latter
of whom is Adam Fullerton, burgess of Edinburgh, “and decernit ilk ane of
thame to have tint and foirfaltit thair lyvis, lands, and guidis, and ordaynit
thair armes to be riffin, and thair names and armes to be eleidit out of the
buikis thairof for euer.”® The outlawed burgess’s house in the Fountain
Close appears to have been immediately seized by his opponents as a for-
feiture to the Queen, in whose name they acted, and to have been converted
into a battery and stronghold for assailing the enemy, for which its lofty
character and vicinity to the city wall peculiarly fitted it. A contemporary
historian relates that “ the Regent, Johne Erle of Mar, for beseageing of the
toun of Edinburgh, cawsit nyne pece of ordonance, great and small, be
broght to the Cannogait, to have assailzeit the east port of the toun; bot that
place was not thoght commodious, wharefore the gunnis war transportit to a
fauxburg of the toun, callit Pleasands ; and thairfra they laid to thair batterie
aganis the toun walls, whilk began the tent of September, and shot at a plat-
furme whilk was erectit upon a housheid, perteining to Adame Fullartoun.” ®

This desperate and bloody civil war was happily of brief duration. Adam
Fullerton speedily returned to his house at the Nether Bow ; and while the

U Diurn. of Occurrents, p. 283 ; ante, vol. i. p. 88.

2 Booke of the Universall Kirk, p. 208. 3 Diurn. of Occurrents, p. 227. 3 Jbid. p. 239.
8 Ibid, p. 244. ¢ Hist. of James the Sext, Bann. Club, p. 94.
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English forces under Sir William Drury were casting up trenches and planting
cannon for the siege of Edinburgh Castle, in the name of the young King,
he was chosen a burgess of the Parliament which assembled in the Tolbooth
on the 26th of April 1573.) This date corresponds with that carved on the
lintel of the old mansion in the Fountain Close. It may be doubted, how-
ever, whether it indicates more than its repair, as it is expressly mentioned
by the contemporary already quoted that “thaj did litill or na skaith to the
said hous and platforme.”? This tenement of the stout-hearted old burgher
of Queen Mary's day, with its apt inscriptions carved in grateful acknow-
ledgment of triumph in a good cause, presents special claims of interest,
associated as it is with so important a period of national history. The
VINCIT VERITAS of Adam Fullerton acquires a new force when we consider
the circumstances that dictated it, and the desperate struggle in which he
had borne a part before he returned to carve it over the threshold so
recently held by his enemies. To this he added the pious aphorisms,
ONLY. BE. CRYST and ARYIS.O.LORD, and coupled with his own name
that of his wife, Marjory Roger, the partner in his trials and his triumph.
The Marquis of Tweeddale’s Close, which lies immediately to the east of
the venerable tenement of Adam Fullerton, derives its name from the large
mansion still remaining at the foot of it, though long since deserted by its
noble occupants. It is mentioned by Defoe among the princely buildings of
Edinburgh, “ with a plantation of lime trees behind it, the place not allowing
room for a large garden.”® This, however, must have been afterwards
remedied, as its pleasure-grounds latterly extended down to the Cowgate.
Successive generations of the Tweeddale family occupied this house, which
continued to be their town residence till the general desertion of the Scottish
capital by the nobility soon after the Union. The old mansion still retains
many traces of former magnificence, notwithstanding the rude changes to
which it has been subjected. Its builder and first occupant was Dame
Margaret Ker, Lady Yester, third daughter of Mark, first Earl of Lothian,
born in 1572, the year of John Knox’s death. Among the list of Lady
Yester’'s “ Mortifications” (MS. Advoc. Lib.) is the following: “At Edin-
burgh built and repaired ane great lodging, in the south side of the High
Street, near the Nether Bow, and mortified out of the same ane yearly an:
rent 200 m. for the poor in the hospital beside the College kirk y"; and
yrafter having resolved to bestow ye s lodging, with the whole furniture yrin
to Jo: now E. of Tweeddale, her oy, by consent of the Town Council,
ministers, and kirk-sessions, she redeemed the s? lodging, and freed it, by
payment of 2000 merks, and left the s? lodging only burdened with 40 m.
yearly.” Lady Yester was also the founder of the church in Edinburgh that
bears her name. By her the house was presented, as thus appears, to her

Y Diurn. of Occurrents, p. 331.  * Hist. of James the Sext, p. 251. 3 Defoe’s Tour, vol. iv. p. 86.
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oy, or grandson, John, second Earl of Tweeddale, a somewhat versatile
politician, who joined the standard of Charles I. at Nottingham in 1642,
during the lifetime of his father. He afterwards adopted the popular cause,
and fought at the head of a Scottish troop at the battle of Marston Moor.
He assisted at the coronation of Charles II at Scone, and sat thereafter in
Cromwell’s Parliament as member for the county of Haddington. He was
sworn a privy councillor to the King on his restoration, and continued in the
same by James VII. He lived to take an active share in the Revolution,
and to fill the office of High Chancellor of Scotland under William III; by
whom he was created Marquis of Tweeddale, and afterwards appointed High
Commissioner to the Scottish Parliament in 1695, while the grand project
of the Darien expedition was pending. He died at Edinburgh before that
scheme was carried out, and is perhaps as good a specimen as could be
selected of the weathercock politician of uncertain times. The last noble
occupant of the old mansion at the Nether Bow was, we believe, the fourth
marquis, who held the office of Secretary of State for Scotland from 1742
until its abolition. The fine old gardens, which descended by a succession
of ornamental terraces to the Cowgate, were destroyed to make way for the
Cowgate Chapel, now also forsaken by its original founders. The locality
acquired a fascinating interest for a past generation as the scene of a
mysterious murder perpetrated there in open day. At the date of this deed
in 1806 Tweeddale House was occupied by the British Linen Banking
Company, and as Begbie, a porter of the Bank, was entering the close, having
in his possession £4392 which he was bringing from the Leith branch, he
was stabbed directly to the heart with the blow of a knife, furnished with a
broad pasteboard guard to prevent the blood spurting on the murderer’s
sleeve, and the whole money was carried off without any clue being found
to the perpetrator of the murder. The blood, flowing in a channel to the
street, gave the first warning of the deed. Its character, so differing from
the ordinary ruffian’s bludgeon, and the blow aimed so exactly at the heart,
suggested the idea of an Italian poniard ; and perhaps helped to lead the
officers of justice astray in their search for the assassin. A reward of five
hundred guineas was offered for his discovery ; but although some of the
notes were found concealed in the grounds of Bellevue, in the neighbourhood
of the town, no trace of the murderer could be obtained. The exact spot on
which this mysterious deed was effected is pointed out to the curious. The
murderer must have stood within the entry to a stair on the right side of the
close, at the step of which Begbie bled to death undiscovered, though within
a few feet of the most crowded thoroughfare in the town. The lovers of the
marvellous may still be found occasionally recurring to this riddle. James
Mackoull, a desperado who subsequently resided in Rose Street under the
name of Captain Moffat, was convicted of a subsequent bank robbery on a
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larger scale, reprieved from the gallows, and died in Edinburgh jail fourteen
years afterwards without any confession, though accredited by the secret
agents of police with the crime. This was, however, a mere suspicion. Mr.
C. K. Sharpe informed me that a medical man of strangely recluse habits,
who had been at the time a student at the University, died in Leith many
years after, and on his deathbed he confessed to the deed. But if so, the
fact was known to few. The story now survives as one of the unsolved
mysteries of crime; and as the memories of a past generation prolong
themselves into our own time, the question is at times recalled with some-
what of its old seductive mystery : “ Who murdered Begbie ?”

But this eastern nook of the old town has associations of a higher and
more enduring interest, with men eminent for talents and noted for their
deeds ; though tradition has neglected to assign the exact tenements wherein
they dwelt of yore, while mingling with the living crowd. Here was the
abode of Robert Lekprevik, another of our early Scottish printers, to whom
it is probable that Bassendyne succeeded, on his removal to St. Andrews
in 1570. Here, too, appears to have been the lodging of Archbishop
Sharp. Nicoll tells us that the newly-consecrated bishops, on the 8th of
May 1662, “being all convenit in the Bishop of St. Androis hous neir to the
Neddir Bow, come up all in their gownis, and come to the Parliament, quha
wer resavit with much honour, being convoyit fra the Archebischop of Sant
Androis hous with 2 erles, viz. the Erle of Kellie and the Erle of Weymis.”
Of scarce less interest is the lodging of a humble barber and wig maker
who carried on business at the Nether Bow, where his gifted son, William
Falconer, the author of 7/4e Shipwreck, is believed to have been born about
1730. Here, at least, was his home and playground during his early years,
while he shared in the sports and frolics of the rising generation ; all but
himself long since at rest in forgotten graves.

World’s End Close is the appropriate title of the last alley before we
reach the site of the Nether Bow Port, which terminated of old the
boundaries of the walled capital, and separated it from its courtly rival, the
burgh of Canongate. In the earliest title-deed we have seen connected
with it, it is called Sir James Stanfield’s Close. The name perpetuates that
of an old resident once associated with a stranger mystery than that of the
murdered Begbie. Sir James Stanfield of Newmills, ‘whose death took
place in 1687 under circumstances which excited great interest at the time,
occupied the house at the head of the close looking into the main street ;
and in the evidence subsequently adduced to prove that he had been subject
to fits of melancholy, and was therefore not unlikely to have attempted self-
destruction, it is stated “that once he was throwing himself out at ane
window at the Nether Bow, if Thomas Lendall had not pulled him in by the
feet.” The judicial proceedings reveal the faith in an ancient superstition
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surviving with undiminished power at this comparatively recent date. Sir
James was found drowned ; and suspicion being excited by a hasty funeral,
and the alleged fact that his wife had the grave clothes already prepared,
the Privy Council appointed two surgeons to examine the body, who
reported that the corpse bled on being touched by the eldest son, Philip.
The servants of the family were examined by torture, without eliciting any
further proof. Yet on very vague circumstantial evidence, added to the
supernatural testimony of the murdered man, the son, a notorious pro-
fligate, was condemned and hanged at the Cross. His tongue was cut
out for cursing his father, his right hand struck off for parricide, his head
exposed on the east port of Haddington, and his body hung in chains on
the Gallow-lee, between Edinburgh and Leith. He died denying his guilt ;
and Fountainhall adds, after recording sundry miraculous evidences against
him: “This is a dark case of divination, to be remitted to the great
day ; only it is certain he was a bad youth, and may serve as a beacon to
all profligate persons.” Though a great part of the old close has been
recently rebuilt, it retains some interesting traces of former times. A finely
sculptured piece of open tracery, apparently the top of a rich Gothic niche
or ambry, is built into the wall over a modern doorway ; and the lintel of
an old land at the foot of the close is decorated with a shield of arms, now
partly defaced, and this variation of the common motto: PRAISZE. THE.
LORD.FOR. AL. HIS. GIFTIS. M. S. With which pious ascription we bid
adieu for a time to Old Edinburgh, properly so called, and pass into the
ancient Royal Burgh of Canongate.



CHAPTER VII

THE CANONGATE AND ABBEY SANCTUARY

HE ancient Burgh of Canongate
may claim as its founder David I,

by whom the Abbey of Holyrood was
reared in the forest of Drumselch early
in the twelfth century, according to the
legend of a later age, as a shrine for the
miraculous cross so opportunely brought
to the aid of the royal hunter who had
profaned the festival of the exaltation of
the Cross by yielding to the temptations
of the chase. But Alred had long before
stated that it was founded by the youngest
son of Queen Margaret for the Black
Rood “which she brought with her to
Scotland and handed down as an heir-
loom to her sons.” The erection, in the
sheltered valley under Salisbury Crags,
of the Abbey dedicated to the most
prized relic of Scotland’s sainted Queen
was certain to be followed, as in all
. similar foundations, by a settlement of
church vassals on its outskirts. Its right
of sanctuary, guarded for centuries by the
Girth Cross, attracted others; and its
canons and other ecclesiastics contributed
ere long to the growth of the little

church town by pious foundations, such |

as St. Thomas’s Chapel and Hospital
near the Abbey Close; as well as by others
of a secular character, including the Burgh

/
‘\

Canongate Tolbooth.
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Tolbooth, where the Abbot held his courts, and administered justice after the
fashion of such old feudal spiritual lords. Hence the origin of the Burgh of
Canongate. Its characteristics as a vassal of the Church have perpetuated
themselves into modern times ; its bailies inherit some of the old canons’
rights, and still claim a feudal lordship over the property of the burgh as
their successors. Most of the title-deeds set forth that the property is “ to
be holden of the Magistrates of the Canongate, as come in place of the
Monastery of Holycross.” The ancient burgh thus sprang up wholly
independent of the neighbouring capital, gathering as naturally around the
consecrated walls of the monastery, whose dependents and vassals were its
earliest builders, as did its warlike neighbour under shelter of the over-
hanging battlements of the more ancient fortress. Something of native-born
character seems to have possessed these rivals, and exhibited itself in very
legible phases in their history ; each of them retaining distinctive marks of
their very different parentage.

In the year 1450, when James II granted to the lieges his charter,
empowering them to “fosse, bulwark, wall, toure, turate, and otherwise to
strengthen ” his Burgh of Edinburgh, because of their *“dreid of the evil and
skeith of oure enemies of England,” the ramparts extended no farther
eastward than the Nether Bow. Open fields, in all probability, then lay
outside the gate, dividing from it the neighbouring Abbey village; and
although at a later period a suburb would appear to have been built beyond
the walls, so that the jurisdiction of the town was claimed within the Burgh
of Canongate so far as St. John’s Cross, no attempt was made to secure or
to protect it in any later extension of the fortifications of the capital
Towards this suburb the Burgh of the Canons of Holyrood gradually
progressed westward, until as now one unbroken line of houses extended
from the Castle to the Abbey.

It seems strange that no attempt should have been made, either in the
disastrous year 1513, when the Cowgate was enclosed, or at any subsequent
period, to include the Canongate and the royal residence within the extended
military defences. It only affords, however, additional evidence that the
marked difference in the origin of each maintained an influence after the
lapse of centuries! The probability is that greater confidence was reposed,
both by clergy and laity, in the sanctity of the monks of Holyrood than in
the martial prowess of their vassals. Nor did such reliance prove misplaced
until, in the year 1544, the hosts of Henry VIII ravaged the distracted
and defenceless kingdom, under the guidance of the Earl of Hertford, to

1 The Canongate appears to have been so far enclosed as to answer ordinary municipal purposes.
It had its gates, which were shut at night, as is shown farther on, but the walls do not seem to have
partaken in any degree of the character of military defences, and were never attempted to be held out
against an enemy.
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whom the monk’s cowl and the abbot’s mitre were even less sacred than the
jester’s suit of motley. There is little reason to think that a single fragment
of building prior to that invasion exists in the Canongate, apart from the
remains of the Abbey and Palace. The return, however, of Queen Mary
to Scotland in 1561, and the permanent residence of the Court at Holyrood,
gave a new impetus to the capital and its suburban neighbour. The earliest
date now to be found on any private building is that of 15635, which occurs
on a tenement at the head of Dunbar’s Close, characterised by features
of antiquity no less strongly marked than those of any among the most
venerable fabrics in the burgh.

The rival Parliament which assembled here during the siege of the
capital in 1571, under the Regent Lennox, “in William Oikis hous in the
Cannongat, within the freidom of Edinburgh, albeit the samyne wes nocht
within the portis thairof,” has already been referred to.! But an ingenious
stratagem which was tried by the besiegers shortly afterwards, for the
purpose of surprising the town, forms one of the most interesting incidents
connected with this locality. This “slicht of weir"” is thus narrated by the
contemporary diarist already quoted : Upon the 22nd day of August 1571,
my Lord Regent and the nobles professing the King’s authority, seeing they
could not obtain entry into the burgh of Edinburgh, caused several bands of
soldiers to proceed from Leith during the night, and conceal themselves in
the closes and adjoining houses immediately without the Nether Bow Port,
while a considerable reserve force was collected at the Abbey, rcady on a
concerted signal from their trumpets to hasten to their aid. On the following
morning, about five o'clock, when it was believed the night watch would be
withdrawn, six soldiers, disguised as millers, approached the Port, leading a
file of horses laden with sacks of meal, which were to be thrown down as
they entered, so as to impede the closing of the gates; and while they
assailed the warders with weapons they wore concealed under their disguise,
the men in ambush were ready to rush out and storm the town. “ But,” says
the diarist, “ the cternall God, knawing the cruell murther that wald haue
bene done and committit vpoun innocent pover personis of the said burgh,
wald not thole this interpryse to tak successe, bot ecvin quhen the said meill
wes almaist at the port, and the said men of weare standand in clois heids
in readines to haue enterit at the bak of the samyne, movit Thomas Barrie
to pass furth of the port, doun to the Cannogait, to have sene his awne hous,
quhair in his said passage he persavit the saidis ambushmentis of men of
weare, and with celeritie returnit and warnit the watchemen and keiparis of
the said port ; quhilk causit thame to steik the samin quicklie, and sua this
devyse and interpryse tuke na prosperous effect”? The citizens took

Y Diurnal of Occurrents, p. 214 ; vide ante, vol. i. p. 108.
2 Diurnal of Occurrents, pp. 239, 240.
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warning from this, and built another gate within the outer port to secure
them against any such surprise. There is something amusingly simple both
in the ambuscade of the besiegers, and its discovery by the honest burgher
while taking his morning’s stroll beyond the walls. But the whole incidents
of this siege display an almost total ignorance of the science of war, or of
the use of the engines they had at command. The besiegers gallop up
Leith Wynd and down St. Mary’s Wynd on their way to Dalkeith,
seemingly unmolested by the burgher watch, who overlooked them from the
walls ; or they valorously drag their artil-

lery up the Canongate, and after venturing

a few shots at the Nether Bow they drag

them back, regarding it as a feat of no

little merit to get them safely home again.

Many houses still remain scattered

about the main street and the lanes of the

Canongate, which withstood these vicis-

situdes of the Douglas wars; and one

which has been described to us by its

present owner as of old styled #khe Parlia-

ment House, may possibly be that of

William Oikis, wherein the Regent Lennox,

with the Earls of Morton, Mar, Glencairn,

Crawford, Menteith, and Buchan, the

Lords Ruthven and Lindsay, and others

. , assembled, and after pronouncing the

Gothic Niche, doom of forfaulture against William Mait-

Old Fleshmarket Close, Canongate. land, younger of Lethington, and the chief

of their opponents, adjourned the Parliament to meet again at Stirling. This
house, which is situated on the west side of the Old Fleshmarket Close,
presents externally as mecan an appearance as may well be conceived. An
inspection of its interior, however, furnishes unquestionable évidence both of
its former magnificence and its early date. The house is now in the most
wretched state of dilapidation and decay, and is one of the very last buildings
in Edinburgh that a superficial observer would single out for any assemblage
except a parliament of jolly beggars ; but on penetrating to an inner lobby of
its gloomy interior, and exploring the apartments partitioned off beyond it, it
becomes obvious that here was originally a large chamber of ornate character,
amply sufficing for the meeting of the Regent Lennox and the nobles of his
party. On one side is seen a large and curiously carved niche, of the
same character as those described in the Guise Palace. The workmanship
of it, as shown in the accompanying woodcut, is more elaborate than most of
those previously noticed. Directly opposite to this, but separated from it by
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modern partitions, a large Gothic fireplace is decorated with rich mouldings
and clustered pillars at the sides; and alongside of it is a square-headed
ambry, deeply recessed, and finished with mouldings in the same style.
When it became known that an attempt was being made to hold a meeting
of the Estates in the neighbouring burgh, the burgesses and the garrison of
the Castle used their utmost efforts to compel the Regent’s advisers to
adjourn. Cannon were planted in the Blackfriars’ Yards, as well as on the
walls, to batter this novel Parliament House ; and the Castle guns were plied
with such effect as “did greit skaith in the heid of the Cannogait to the
houssis thairof.” In all probability this dilapidated relic of ancient wealth
and magnificence survives nearly in the same dismantled state in which its
ruins were hastily repaired on the return of peace.

The adjoining closes to the eastward abounded, a few years since, with
ancient timber-fronted tenements of a singularly picturesque character ; but
the value of property became for a time so much depreciated in this neigh-
bourhood that they were abandoned by their owners to decay. When
making a drawing of a group of them, which presented peculiarly attractive
features for the pencil, we observed more than one weather-worn intimation of
Lodgings to Let enlivening the fronts of tenements which even the most
needy mendicant would have hesitated to occupy, though their hospitable
doors stood wide to second the invitation. When we next visited them, the
whole mass had tumbled to ruin, leaving only here and there a sculptured
doorway and defaced inscription to indicate their former importance. Several
of the inscribed lintels still remain in Coul’s and the Old High School Closes.
Among the ruined tenements to the east of the latter a fine stone land in-
vited special notice. Its main front, in Mid Common Close, was adorned with
dormer windows, string-courses, and other architectural decorations of an carly
period. Over one of the windows on the first floor this devout confession
of faith was cut in large Roman characters: I.TAKE.THE.LORD .JESVS
AS . MY . ONLY . ALL . SVFFICIENT . PORTION . TO . CONTENT . ME . 1614.
This tenement, however, has shared the fate of its less substantial neighbours,
having been pulled down to make way for a manufactory that now occupics
its site.

The Old High School Close derives its name from a large mansion
which stands in an open court at the foot, and was occupied for many ycars
as the High School of the Burgh. The building is ornamented with dormer
windows, and a neat pediment in the centre, bearing a sun-dial, with the
date 1704. The school dates from a remote era. It appears to have been
founded in connection with the Abbey, before a similar institution existed
in the capital. It is referred to in a charter granted by James V in 1529;
and Henryson, once the pupil of Vocat, clerk and orator of the Convent of
Holyrood, is named as having successfully taught the Burgh Grammar School.
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Repeated notices of it occur in the Burgh Records, eg.: “s5 Apri 1580.
—The quhilk day compeirit Gilbert Tailyeour, skuilmaister, and renuncit
and dimittit his gift grauntit to him be Adame Bischope of Orknay, of the
rycht of the Grammar Schole during his lyftyme, in favouris of the baillies
and counsall,” who accordingly restored it to him, “to be haldin of thame, as
thai quha hes undoutitt rycht to dispone the samyne.”! A little farther east
one of the most beautifully executed inscriptions of the seventeenth century
is carved over the entrance to Rae’s Close. It consists of the following
comprehensive prayer—

MISERERE MEI DOMINE ; A PECCATO, PROBRO, DEBITO,
ET MORTE SUBITA, ME LIBERA. 1.6.1.8.

Rae’s Close appears, from repeated references to it in the Register of the
Burgh, to have been the only open thoroughfare between Leith Wynd and
the Water Gate: eg. orders are given, 6th December 1568, “to caus big
vpe the fuit of Ra Cloce”; again, 18th October 1574, “ The Bailleis and
Counsale ordains thair Thesaurer to big and upput ane yett upon Rais Cloce,
and mak the samyn lokfast,” a charge for which afterwards appears in the
Treasurer's accounts (Mait. Misc. vol. ii. pp. 316, 330, 336). Even in
1647, when Gordon’s bird’s-eye view was drawn, only one other thoroughfare
appears, and nearly the whole ground lying behind the row of houses in the
main street consists of open gardens, with a wall running along the North
Back of the Canongate.

Another stone tenement in the same locality presents its antique gabled
fagade to the street, adorned with a curious figure of a turbaned Moor
occupying a pulpit, projecting from a recess over the second floor. Various
romantic stories are told of the Morocco Land, as this ancient tenement is
styled. The following is as complete an outline of the most consistent of
them as we have been able to gather, though it is scarcely necessary to
premise that it rests on very different authority from some of the historical
associations previously noticed. During one of the tumultuous outbreaks
for which the mob of Edinburgh has been noted from remote times which
occurred soon after the accession of Charles 1. to his father's throne, the
Provost, who had rendered himself peculiarly obnoxious, was assaulted, his
house broken into and fired, and mob law completely established in the
town. On the restoration of order several of the rioters were seized, and,
among others, Andrew Gray, a younger son of the Master of Gray, whose
descendants now inherit the ancient honours and title of that family. He
was convicted as the ringleader of the mob and, notwithstanding the exer-
tions of powerful friends, such was the influence of the Provost—who was
naturally exasperated by the proceedings of the rioters,—that young Gray

! Register of the Burgh of the Canongate ; Maitland Club Miscellany, vol. ii. p. 345.
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was condemned to be executed within a day or two after his trial. The
last day of his doomed life had drawn to a close, and the scaffold was already
preparing at the Cross for his ignominious death; but the old Tolbooth
showed as usual its proper sense of the privileges of gentle blood. That
very night he effected his escape by means of a rope and file conveyed to
him by a faithful vassal, who had previously drugged a posset for the sentinel
at the Purses and effectually put a stop to his interference. A boat lay at
the foot of one of the neighbouring closes by which he was ferried over the
North Loch; and long before the town gates were opened on the following
morning, a lessening sail near the mouth of the Firth told to the watchful
eye of his vassal that Andrew Gray was safe beyond pursuit.

Years passed over, and the sack of the obnoxious Provost’s house, as
well as the escape of the ringleader, had faded from the minds of all save
some of his own immediate relatives. Gloom and terror now pervaded the
streets of the capital. It was the terrible year 1645—the last visitation of
the pestilence to Edinburgh,—when, as tradition tells us, grass grew thickly
about the Cross, once as crowded a centre of thoroughfare as Europe had to
boast of. Maitland relates that such was the terror which prevailed at this
period that debtors incarcerated in the Tolbooth were set at large ; all who
were not freemen were compelled, under heavy penalties, to leave the town ;
until at length, “ by the unparalleled ravages committed by the plague, it was
spoiled of its inhabitants to such a degree that there were scarce sixty men
left capable of assisting in defence of the town, in case of an attack.”' The
common council ordered the town walls to be repaired, and a party of the
train-bands to guard them, an immediate attack being dreaded from the
victorious army of Montrose. They strove to provide against the more
insidious assaults of their dreadful enemy within, by agreeing with Joannes
Paulitius, M.D,, to visit the infected, on a salary of eighty pounds Scots per
month.? In the midst of all those preparations, a large armed vessel of
curious form and rigging was seen to sail up the Firth and cast anchor in
Leith Roads. The vessel was pronounced by experienced seamen to be an
Algerine rover, and all was consternation and dismay both in the seaport
and the neighbouring capital. A detachment of the crew landed, and
proceeded immediately towards Edinburgh, which they approached by the
Water Gate, and passing up the Canongate demanded admission at the
Nether Bow Port. The magistrates entered into parley with their leader,
and offered to ransom the city on exorbitant terms, warning them at the
same time of the dreadful scourge to which they would expose themselves
if they entered the plague-stricken city, but all in vain.

Sir John Smith, the Provost at the time, withdrew in this dilemma to
consult with the most influential citizens, who volunteered large contributions
1 Maitland, p. 8s. 3 Ibid. p. 85.
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towards the ransom of the town. He returned to the Nether Bow, accom-
panied by a body of them, among whom was his own brother-in-law, Sir
William Gray, one of the wealthiest citizens of the period. Negotiations
were resumed, and seemingly with more effect. A large ransom was agreed
to be received, on condition that the son of the Provost should be delivered
up to the leader of the pirates, It seems, however, that the Provost’s only
child was a daughter, who then lay stricken of the plague, of which her
cousin, Egidia Gray, had recently died. This information seemed to work
an immediate change on the leader of the Moors. After conference with
his men, he intimated his possession of an elixir of wondrous potency, and
demanded that the Provost’s daughter should be entrusted to his skill ;
engaging, if he did not cure her, to embark immediately with his men,
and free the city without ransom. After considerable parley the Provost
proposed that the leader should enter the city, and take up his abode in his
house ; but this he peremptorily refused, rejecting at the same time all offers
of higher ransom, which the distracted father was now prepared to make.
Sir John Smith at length yielded to the exhortations of his friends, who
urged him in so dreadful an alternative to accept the offer of the Moor.
The fair invalid was borne on a litter to the house near the head of the
Canongate where he had taken up his abode, and, to the astonishment and
delight of her father, she was restored to him shortly afterwards safe and
well.

The denouement of this singular story bears that the Moorish leader and
physician proved to be Andrew Gray, who, after being captured by pirates
and sold as a slave,! had won the favour of the Emperor of Morocco, and
risen to rank and wealth in his service. He had returned to Scotland, bent
on revenging his own early wrongs on the magistrates of Edinburgh, when,
to his surprise, he found in the destined object of his special vengeance a
relative of his own. The remainder of the tale is soon told. He married
the Provost’s daughter, and settled down a wealthy citizen of the Burgh of
Canongate. The house to which his fair patient was borne, and whither he
afterwards brought her as his bride, is still adorned with an effigy of his
royal patron, the Emperor of Morocco; and the tenement has ever since

1 Numerous references will be found in the records of the 17th century to similar slavery among
the Moors. In Selections from the Registers of the Presbytery of Lanark, Abbotsford Club, 1839,
is the following: “¢27th Oct. 1625.—The quilk day ane letter ressavit from the Bishope for ane
contributioun to be collectit for the releaff of some folks of Queinsfarie and Kingorne, deteinet under
slaverie by the Turkes at Salie.” Again, in the Minules of the Synod of Fyfe, printed for the same
Club: ‘‘2d April 1616.—Anent the supplication proponed be Mr. Williame Wedderburne, minister at
Dundee, making mentione, that whairas the Lordis of his Hienes’ Privie Counsell being certanelie
informed that Androw Robertson, Johne Cowie, Johne Dauling, James Pratt, and their complices,
marineris, indwellaris in Leyth, being laitlie upon the coast of Barbarie, efter ane cruell and bloodie

conflict, were overcome and led into captivitie be certaine merciless Turkes, who presented them to
open mercatt at Argiers in Barbarie, to be sawld as slaves to the cruell barbarians,” etc.
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borne the name of Morocco Land. It is added that he had vowed never to
enter the city but sword in hand; and having abandoned all thoughts of
revenge, he kept the vow till his death, having never again passed the
threshold of the Nether Bow Port. We do not pretend to guarantee this
romantic legend of the burgh; all that has been aimed at is to put into a
consistent whole the different versions related to us. We have had the
curiosity to obtain a sight of the title-deeds of the property, which prove to
be of recent date. The earliest, a disposition of 1731, so far confirms the
tale that the proprietor at that date is John Gray, merchant, a descendant,
it may be, of the Algerine rover and the Provost’s daughter. The figure of
the Moor has ever been a subject of popular admiration and wonder, and
a variety of legends are told to account for its existence. Most of them,
however, though differing in almost every other point, seem to agree in
connecting it with the last visitation of the plague.

A little to the eastward of Morocco Land two ancient buildings, of less
dimensions in every way than the more recent erections beside them, and
the eastern one more especially of a singularly antique character, form
striking features among the architectural elevations in the street. The latter,
indeed, is one of the most noticeable relics of the olden time still remaining
among the private dwellings of the burgh. It is described in the titles as
that tenement of land called Oliver’s Land, partly stone and partly timber ;
and is one of the very best specimens of this mixed style of building that
now remain. The gables are finished with the earliest style of crow-step
considerably ornamented. A curiously moulded dormer window, of an
unusual form, rises into the roof; while on the floor below an antique
timber projection is thrown out as a covered gallery, within which is a large
fireplace on the external front of the stone wall, proving, as previously pointed
out, that the timber work is part of the original plan of the building. The
first floor is approached as usual by an outer stair, at the top of which a
beautifully moulded doorway affords entrance to a stone turnpike, forming
the communication to the different floors. A rich double cornice encircles
this externally, and beneath it is the inscription in antique ornamental
characters: SOLI-DEO - HONOR - ET *GLORIA. Owing to the protec-
tion afforded by the deep mouldings and the timber additions, this inscription
has been safely preserved from injury, and remains nearly as sharp and fresh
as when cut. The character of the letters corresponds with other inscriptions
dating early in the sixteenth century, and the whole building is a very per-
fect specimen of the best class of mansions at that period. The interior,
though described in the titles as having “a fore chamber and gallery, a
chamber of dais,” etc., has in reality accommodations only of the most
limited description, each floor consisting of a moderately-sized single apart-
ment, subdivided by such temporary wooden partitions as the convenience
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of later tenants has suggested. It appears to have been the mansion of
John, the second son of Lawrence, fourth Lord Oliphant, an active adherent
of Queen Mary. His elder brother, who is styled Master of Oliphant, joined
the Ruthven conspirators in 1582, and perished shortly afterwards, with the
vessel and whole crew, when fleeing from the kingdom. The other tenement,
apparently of equal antiquity and similar in style of construction, though with
fewer noticcable features, adjoins it on the west. It formed at a somewhat
later date the residence of Lord David Hay of Belton, to whom that barony
was secured in succession by a charter granted to his father, John, second
Earl of Tweeddale, in 1687. The locality, indeed, appears from the ancient
deeds to have been one of honourable resort down to a comparatively recent
period, as knights and men of good family occur among the occupants during
the eighteenth century. The boundaries of this house are defined on the
north “by the stone tenement of land some time belonging to the Earl of
Angus.” Only a portion of the walls of this noble dwelling now remains.
It probably was the town residence of David, the eighth Earl, and brother
of the Regent Morton. At the latest it must have formed the mansion of
his son Archibald, ninth Earl of Angus, the last of the Douglases who bore
that title. As nephew and ward of the Regent Morton he was involved
in his fall. After the death of the Regent he fled to England, where he
was honourably entertained by Queen Elizabeth, and became the friend and
confidant of Sir Philip Sidney while writing his Arcadia® He afterwards
returned to Scotland and bore his full share in the troubles of the time. He
died in 1588, the victim, as was believed, of witchcraft. Godscroft tells that
Barbara Napier in Edinburgh was tried and found guilty, though she escaped
execution ; and “ Anna Simson, a famous witch, is reported to have con-
fessed at her death that a picture of wax was brought to her having A.D.
written on it, which, as they said to her, did signify Archibald Davidson ;
and she, not thinking of the Earl of Angus, whose name was Archibald
Douglas, and might have been called Davidson because his father’s name
was David, did consecrate or execrate it after her form, which she said if she
had known to have represented him she would not have done it for all the
world.”? It was the fate of this old mansion of the Earls of Angus to be
linked at its close in the misfortunes of a Douglas. It formed during last
century the banking-house of Douglas, Heron, and Company, whose failure
spread dismay through a widely-scattered circle, involving both high and low
in its ruin. The Chapel of Ease in New Street, erected in 1794, now partly
occupies its site. Several other interesting relics of the olden time were
destroyed to make way for this ungainly ecclesiastical edifice. One of these
appears from the titles to have been the residence of Henry Kinloch, a
wealthy burgess of the Canongate, to whose hospitable care the French

! Hume of Godscroft’s History of the Douglases, p. 362. ? Ibid. p. 432.
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ambassador was consigned by Queen Mary in 1565. An old diarist of the
period relates that “ Vpoun Monunday the ferd day of Februar, the zeir of
God foirsaid, thair come ane ambassatour out of the realm of France, callit
Monsieur Rambollat, with xxxvj horse in tryne, gentilmen, throw Ingland,
to Halyrudhous, quhair the King and Queenis Majesties wes for the tyme,
accumpanyit with thair nobillis. And incontinent efter his lychting the said
ambassatour gat presens of thair graces, and thairefter depairtit to Henrie
Kynloches lugeing in the Cannogait besyid Edinburgh.” A few days after-
wards, “ The Kingis Majestie [[.ord Darnley], accumpanyit with his nobillis
in Halyrudhous, ressavit the ordour of knychtheid of the cokill fra the said
Rambollat with great magnificence. And the samin nycht at evin, our
soueranis maid ane banket to the ambassatour foirsaid, in the auld chappell
of Halyrudhous, quhilk wes reapparrellit with fyne tapestrie, and hung
magnificentlie, the said lordis maid the maskery efter supper in ane honrable
manner. And vpoun the ellevint day of the said moneth, the King and
Quene in lyik manner bankettit the samin ambassatour; and at evin our
soueranis maid the maskrie and mumschance, in the quhilk 22 Queenis grace,
and all her maries and ladies wer all cled in men's appervell; and everie ane
of thame presentit ane quhingar, bravelic and maist artificiallie made and
embroiderit with gold, to the said ambassatour and his gentlemen.”! On the
following day the King and Queen were entertained, along with the
ambassador and his suite, at a splendid banquet provided for them in the
Castle by the Earl of Mar; and on the second day thereafter Monsieur
Rambollat bade adieu to the Court of Holyrood. It is to be regretted that
an accurate description cannot now be obtained of the burgher mansion
which was deemed a fitting residence for one whom Queen Mary delighted
to honour, and for whose entertainment the Qucen and her Maries enacted
such unwonted masquerades. The sole memorial of it that now remains is
the name of Kinloch’s Close still attached to the alley running between the
two ancient front lands previously described, through which the ambassador
and his noble visitors must have passed.

New Street is a curious sample of a fashionable modern improvement,
prior to the bold scheme of the New Town. It still presents the aristocratic
feature of a series of detached and somewhat elegant mansions. Its last
century occupants were Lord Kames—whose house is at the head of the
street on the east side,—Lord Hailes, Sir Philip and Lady Betty Anstruther,
and Dr. Young, a celebrated physician of the period, with others of wealth
and influence, among whom may be mentioned Miss Jean Ramsay, a daughter
of the poet, who lived there till a very advanced age in the second house
below the chapel.

A lofty stone tenement on the south side of the main street, to the east

Y Diurnal of Occurrents, pp. 86, 87.
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of Gillon’s Close, was erected by Charles, fourth Earl of Traquair, and formed
the residence of his twin daughters, Lady Barbara and Lady Margaret
Stewart, until their death at a very advanced age: Lady Margaret in 1791,
and her sister in 1794. They must have been born very early in the
eighteenth century, as Dr Archibald Pitcairn, who died in 1713, made them
the subject of some elegant Latin verses. They were recalled to remem-
brance by Mr. C. K. Sharpe as two kindly but very precise old ladies, the
amusement and main business of whose lives consisted in dressing and nurs-
ing a family of little dolls, a recreation by no means unusual among the
venerable spinsters of former days. The date over the main doorway of the
building is 1700. A little farther to the eastward, and almost directly
opposite the head of New Street, is the Playhouse Close, within the narrow
precincts of which the stage was established in 1747, on such a footing as
was then deemed not only satisfactory, but highly creditable to the northern
capital. It was a significant index of the change in manners and sentiment
towards the middle of the eighteenth century, prior to which the drama had
skulked about from place to place ever since its denouncement by the early
reformers, finding even the patronage of royalty and the favour of the vice-
regal court of Holyrood hardly sufficient to protect it from ignominious
expulsion.

The history of the Scottish drama is one of very fitful and stinted
encouragement, and of correspondingly meagre results. The first approach
to regular dramatic composition, after the period when religious mysteries
and moralities were enacted under the sanction of the Church,! was Sir David
Lindsay's Pleasant Satyre of the Three Estaitis ; and this so effectually aided
the work of the reformers, under whose care the stage was immediately
placed, that it might almost be styled the first and last genuine effort of
dramatic genius in Scotland. It was “ playit besyde Edinburgh in 1544, in
presence of the Quene Regent,” as is mentioned by Henry Charteris, the
printer, who sat patiently for nine hours on the bank at Greenside to witness
the performance. It so far surpasses any effort of contemporary English
dramatists that it renders the subsequent barrenness of the Scottish muse
in this department the more apparent. Birrell notes on the 17th January
1568 : “A play made by Robert Semple, and played before the Regent

1 A few extracts from the Treasurers’ Accounts will afford a hint of the dawn of theatrical amuse-
ments at the Scottish Court in the reign of James 1V, 1st January 1503 : ‘‘Item ye samyn nycht to ye
gysaris that playit to ye King, 41. 4s. Feb. 8.—To ye mene that brocht in ye Morice Dance, and to ye
menstralis in Strevelin, 42s. Feb. 18.—To ye QUENE OF YE CANONGAIT, 14s.” This character
repeatedly occurs in the accounts, and seems to have been a favourite masker. ‘1504, Jan. 1.—To
Hog the tale-tellar, 14s. Jan. 3.—Yat samyn day to Thos. Bosuell and Pate Sinclair to by yaim
daunsing gere, 28s. Yat day to Maister Johne to by beltis for ye Morise Danse, 28s. Yat samyne
nycht to ye GYSARIS OF YE TOUNE OF EDINBURGH, 8fr. cr. [French crowns.] June 10.—Payit to
James Dog that he laid doune for girse one Corpus Christi day, at the play to the Kingis and Quenis
chameris, 3s. 4d.” etc.

- ———————— e .



THE CANONGATE AND ABBEY SANCTUARY 87

[Murray] and divers uthers of the nobilitie.” This has been affirmed, though
on very imperfect evidence, to have been Plhilotus, a comedy printed at
Edinburgh by Robert Charteris in 1603 ; the author of which is not named.
It exhibits, both in plan and execution, a much nearer approach to the modern
drama than Sir David Lindsay’s Satsre,and is altogether a work of great merit.
In the same year there issued from the Edinburgh press Darius, a tragedy,
written by “ that most excellent spirit and earliest gem of our north,”! Sir
William Alexander, afterwards Earl of Stirling. His tragedies, however, are
dramatic only in title, and not at all adapted for the stage. James VI
endeavoured to mediate between the clergy and the encouragers of the drama,
and, by his royal authority, stayed for a time their opposition to theatrical
representations. In the year 1592 a company of English players was
licensed by the King to perform in Edinburgh; but an act of the Ziré-
sessions was forthwith published, prohibiting the people to resort to such
profane amusements, as appears by the charge in the Treasurers’ Accounts :
“Nov. 1599.—Item, to Wm. Forsy', messenger, passand with lettres to the
mercat croce of Ed", chairging ye elderis and deacouns of the haill four
sessionis of Ed", to annull thair act maid for ye discharge of certane Inglis
commedianis, x s, viiij d.” The King appears to have heartily espoused the
cause of the players, as various later entries in the treasury accounts attest,
eg.: “Oct. 1599.—Item, Delyuerit to his hienes selff to be gevin to ye
Inglis commeidianis xiij crownes of ye sone, at iij li. ij s. viij d. ye pece. Nov.
—Item, Be his Ma'"* directioun gevin to S* George Elphingstoun, to be
delyuerit to ye Inglis commedians, to by timber for ye prepar'atioun of ane
hous to thair pastyme, as the said S* George ticket beiris, x1 li. ;” and again
a sum is paid to a royal messenger for notifying at the Cross with sound
of trumpet, “ his Ma%* plesour to all his lieges, that ye saidis commedianis
mycht vse thair playis in Ed",” etc. In the year 1601 an English company
of players visited Scotland, and appeared publicly at Aberdeen, headed by
“ Laurence Fletcher, comediane to his Majestie.” The freedom of that burgh
was conferred on him at the same time that it was bestowed on sundry
French knights and other distinguished strangers, in whose train the players
had arrived. Mr. Charles Knight, in his ingenious life of Shakespeare, shows
that this is the same player whose name occurs along with that of the great
English dramatist, in the patent granted by James VI, immediately after his
arrival in the southern capital in 1603, in favour of the company at the
Globe ; and from thence he draws the conclusion that Shakespeare himself
visited Scotland at this period, and sketched out the plan of his great
Scottish tragedy amid the scenes of its historic eventsr By the same
course of inference, Shakespeare’s name is associated with the ancient Tennis
Court at the Water Gate, as it cannot be doubted that His Majesty’s players

! Drummond of Hawthornden’s Letters, Arckeol. Scot. vol. iv. p. 83.
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made their appearance at the capital, and before the Court of Holyrood,
either in going to or returning from the northern burgh, whither they had
proceeded by the King’s special orders ; but it must be confessed the argu-
ment is a very slender one, to form the sole basis for a conclusion which we
should so willingly accept on any satisfactory evidence.

The civil wars in the reign of Charles I., and the changes they led to, put
an effectual stop to all theatrical representations until after the Restoration.
One curious exhibition, however, is mentioned in the interval, which may be
considered as a substitute for these forbidden displays. “ At this tyme,”
says Nicoll, in 1659, “thair wes brocht to this natioun ane heigh great
beast, callit ane Drummodrary, quhilk being keipit clos in the Cannogate,
nane haid a sight of it without thrie pence the persone, quhilk producit
much gayne to the keipar, in respect of the great numberis of pepill that
resoirtit to it, for the sight thairof. It wes very big, and of great height,
and clovin futted lyke unto a kow, and on the bak ane saitt, as it were a
sadill, to sit on. Thair wes brocht in with it ane liytill baboun, faced lyke
unto a naip.”!

During the government of the Earl of Rothes as High Commissioner
for Scotland, a play called Marciano, or the Discovery, by Sir Thomas
Sydserff, was acted on the festival of St. John, before His Grace and his
court at Holyrood ;* and at the court of the Duke of York, at a somewhat
later period, a regular company of actors was maintained, and the tennis
court fitted up for their performances, in defiance of the scandal created
by such innovations® Lord Fountainhall notes among his Historical
Observes,!—* 15th Novembris 1681, being the Quean of Brittain’s birth-
day, it was keeped by our Court at Halirudhouse with great solemnitie,
such as bonfyres, shooting of canons, and the acting a comedy called
Mithridates King of Pontus, before ther Royall Hynesses, etc., wheirin Ladie
Anne, the Duke’s daughter, and the Ladies of Honor ware the onlie actors.
Not only the canonists, both protestant and popish,” adds my Lord Foun-
tainhall in indignant confusion of rhetoric, “ but the very heathen Roman
lawyers declared all scenicks and stage players infamous, and will scarce
admit them to the sacrament of the Lord’s Supper,”—a novel mark of dis-
approbation from heathen lawyers! The Revolution again banished the
drama from Scotland, and we hear no more of it till the year 1714, when
the play of Macbeth was performed at the Tennis Court in presence of a
number of the Scottish nobility and gentry assembled in Edinburgh for a
grand archery meeting. Party politics ran high at the time; some of the

1 Nicoll’s Diary, p. 226. 2 Campbell’s Journey, vol. ii. p. 163. 2 Vide vol. i. p. 135.

4 Fountainhall's Historscal Observes, p. 51. Tytler concludes his account of the Duke’s theatrical
entertainment with the following inference, which would have done credit to a history of the Irish
stage : *‘ Private balls and concerts of music, it would seem, were now the only species of pubdlic
entertainments amongst us ! "—Arckaol. Scot. vol. i. p. 504.



THE CANONGATE AND ABBEY SANCTUARY 89

company present called for the favourite song, May the king enjoy his ain
again,! while others as stoutly opposed it, and the entertainment wound up
in a regular melee, anticipatory of the rebellion which speedily followed.
Allan Ramsay’s unfortunate theatrical speculation has already been
referred to in connection with the locality first chosen by Signora Violante,
an Italian dancer and tumbler, who afterwards took the legitimate drama
under her protection and management. This virago, as Arnot styles her}?
returned to Edinburgh, “ where she fitted up that house in the foot of Car-
ruber’s Close, which has since been occupied as a meeting-house by succes-
sive tribes of sectaries.” Driven from this quarter at a later date, the
players betook themselves to the Tailors’ Hall in the Cowgate; and
though mere strolling bands, they were persecuted into popularity by their
opponents, until this large hall proved insufficient for their accommodation.
A rival establishment was accordingly set agoing, and in the year 1746
the foundation-stone of the first regular theatre in Edinburgh was laid
within the Playhouse Close, Canongate, by Mr. John Ryan, to whom Mr.
Digges, an actor of high repute in his day, succeeded. Digges was a player
of a type by no means rare; a well-born spendthrift of considerable ability,
who had held a commission in the army under the Duke of Cumberland,
and seen much of the world. He was a skilful actor in gentcel comedy,
and one whose conversational powers made him a favourite off the stage.
In the same year in which the foundation-stone of the theatre in Playhouse
Close was laid, John Home, son of Mr. Alexander -‘Home, town-clerk of
Leith, was presented to the church and parish of Athelstaneford in East
Lothian, rendered vacant by the death of another poet, Robert Blair, author
of The Grave. There Home wrote his first tragedy of Agss, King of
Sparta, one of Plutarch’s heroes, and had to endure the mortification of its
rejection by Garrick as unsuited for the stage. He next selected a national
subject, founded on the beautiful old ballad of Gil Morrice. To his Scottish
friends the new tragedy of Douglas seemed a marvel of genius; and it
continued to retain its popularity in our own school days as a favourite
source of passages for public recitation. According to the Edinburgh
Weekly Chronicle of 21st January 1829, Dr. Carlyle of Inveresk, Dr. Blair,
and others of the author’s clerical brethren, took part in a private rehearsal
at the lodging in the Abbey Close occupied by Mrs. Sarah Ward, one of
Mr. Digges's company. Among actors or audience at this private perform-
ance are named Hume, the historian, Professor Ferguson, Lord Elibank,
Lord Milton, and two rising barristers, afterwards famous as Lord Monboddo
and Lord Kames. It is even affirmed, as a scandal then first disclosed,
that Dr. Blair actually assumed the part of the gentle Anna. The appear-
ance of the minister of the High Church of Edinburgh personating even the

! Campbell’s History of Poetry in Scotland, p. 353. 2 Armot, p. 366.
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most virtuous of maidens in a tragedy was a scandalous counterpart to
the scene when the Queen and her Maries offended the old reformers by
taking part in a Canongate masque clad in men’s apparel. On the 14th
of December 1756 the tragedy of Douglas was at length produced to a
public audience on the Edinburgh stage. It was the work of a clergyman ;
and though without a line in it that the most rigid censor could challenge
as inconsistent with the purest virtue or patriotism, the clergy renewed their
assault on the drama with redoubled zeal. Digges took the character of
Douglas, Mrs. Ward that of Lady Randolph ; and Mrs. Hopkins played the
part which Dr. Blair is said to have filled at the rehearsal. The prologue
thus appealed to the national sympathies of the audience —

“ This night our scenes no common tears demand,
He comes the hero of your native land !
Douglas, a name thro’ all the world renown’d,
A name that rouses like the trumpet’s sound.
Oft have your fathers, prodigal of life,
A Douglas followed through the bloody strife ;
Hosts have been known at that dread name to yield,
And Douglas dead, his name hath won the field.”

The novelty of a clerical dramatist, and the antagonism of the more rigid
members of his order, combined to give to the new tragedy all the zest of
a forbidden pleasure. Home became for the time a popular hero and
martyr, and the merits of his drama were proportionately exaggerated.
The prologue proceeds to crave on his behalf a favourable reception for his

drama —
« Swayed by alternate hopes, alternate fears,
He waits the test of your congenial tears.
If they shall flow, back to the Muse he flies,
And bids your heroes in succession rise.”

The audience in the old Playhouse Close responded with ardour to the
poet’s appeal, fully persuaded that Shakespeare had at last found a rival,
and that new “ Macbeths” of native growth would thenceforth issue “in
bright succession” from a Scottish manse! From Mr. C. K. Sharpe’s notes
we are able to recall an incident attending the original production of the
tragedy. “My mother,” he writes, “told me that when Douglas was first
acted, the tune of Gil Morrice was played before the. drawing up of the
curtain, and most of the ladies began to weep at that, previous to the
appearance of Mrs. Ward as Lady Barnet; for such was the name of the
heroine when the play was produced.” The popularity of the new drama
was an additional incentment to the clergy. The wrath of the Church
blazed up in intensest furor at such an innovation on the conventionalities
of clerical decorum. The presbyteries returned with fresh zeal to the
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assault of the drama ; and although they were no longer able to chase the
players from the stage, John Home, the author of the obnoxious tragedy,
deemed it prudent to renounce the orders that had been tarnished by a
composition so unwonted and unclerical.

The more recent history of the Edinburgh stage is characterised by no
incidents of very special note until the year 1768, when it followed the tide
of fashionable emigration to the New Town, and the Theatre Royal was
built in the Orphan’s Park,! which had previously been the scene of Whit-
field’s labours during his itinerant visits to Edinburgh. The eloquent
preacher is said to have expressed his indignation in no measured terms
when he found the very spot which had been so often consecrated by his
ministrations thus being set apart to the very service of the devil.

The front land in the Canongate through which the archway leads into
the Playhouse Close is a fine specimen of the style of building prevalent in
the reign of Charles I. The dormer windows exhibit considerable variety of
ornament, and a row of storm windows above them gives a singular, and
indeed foreign, air to the building, corresponding in style to the steep and
picturesque roofs of Strasbourg or Mayence. A Latin inscription on an
ornamental tablet over the doorway within the close is now so much defaced
that only a word or two can be deciphered. The building where Ryan,
Digges, Bellamy, Lancashire, and a host of nameless actors figured on the
stage to the admiring gaze of fashionable audiences of last century, has long
since been displaced by private erections.

Nearly fronting the entrance to this close a radiated arrangement of the
paving indicates the site of St. John’s Cross, the ancient eastern boundary
of the capital. It still marks the limit of its ecclesiastical bounds, and
retains its prerogative as the place where, as in ancient times, all pro-
clamations are announced by the Lion Heralds, and the magistrates
and public bodies of the Burgh of Canongate join such processions as pass
through their ancient jurisdiction in their progress to the Abbey. A little
farther eastward is St. John’s Close, an ancient alley bearing over an old
doorway within it- the inscription in bold Roman characters: THE.LORD.
IS.ONLY.MY.SVPORT. Immediately adjoining this, St. John Street, a
broad and handsome thoroughfare, formed the boldest scheme of civic
improvement effected in Edinburgh before the completion of the North
Bridge and the rival works on the south side of the town. This aristocratic

1 So called from its vicinity to the Orphan’s Hospital, a benevolent institution which obtained the
high commendations of Howard and the aid of Whitfield during the repeated visits made by both to
Edinburgh. A very characteristic portrait of the latter is now in the hall of the new hospital erected at
the Dean. The venerable clock of the Nether Bow Port has also been transferred from the steeple of
the old building to an ornate site over the pediment of the new portico, where, notwithstanding such
external symptoms of renewing its youth, it still asserts its claim to the privileges and immunities of age
by frequent aberrations of a very eccentric character.
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quarter of last century was in progress in 1768, as appears from the date
cut over a back doorway of the centre house; and soon afterwards the
names of the old Scottish aristocracy that still resided in the capital—Earls,
Lords, Baronets, and Lords of Session—are found among its chief occupants.
Here, at No. 13, was the residence of Lord Monboddo, where Burns was a
frequent guest while in Edinburgh, and recognised the “ beauty, grace, and
goodness ” of his daughter Eliza, whose charms he celebrates in his Address
to Edinburgh, and whose early death he thus commemorated at a later
date— -
¢ Life ne’er exulted in so rich a prize
As Burnet lovely from her native skies ;

Nor envious death so triumphed in a blow,
As that which laid th’ accomplished Burnet low.

“ We saw thee shine in youth and beauty’s pride,
And virtue’s light, that beams beyond the spheres ;
But, like the sun eclipsed at moming-tide,
Thou left’st us darkling in a world of tears.”

Within a few doors of Lord Monboddo’s house, at No. 10, the old Countess
of Hyndford lived and died. According to Mr. C. K. Sharpe’s reminiscences,
she had a long beard, which she took a pride in preserving, and “ was exactly
the bearded countess of Don Quixote.” At a later date the same house was
occupied by James Ballantyne, the partner and confidant of Sir Walter Scott
in the literary adventures of the Great Unknown. Here was the scene of
those assemblies of select and favoured guests to whom the hospitable
printer read snatches of the forthcoming novel; and whetted, while he
seemed to gratily, their curiosity, by many a shrewd wink and mysterious
hint of confidential insight into the literary riddle of the age. The scene,
indeed, has melancholy associations with the great novelist. It is a place
which he often visited as an honoured guest, while yet with sanguine mind
and fertile imagination he was anticipating the realisation of dreams as
visionary as his most fanciful legends; but it is far more nearly allied to
those mournful years when the brave man faced the sad realities of ruined
hopes, and bent himself sternly to rebuild and to restore. The house at the
head of the street, facing the Canongate, where James Earl of Hopetoun
resided previous to 1788, is associated with another of the most eminent
Scottish poets and novelists, the precursor of Scott in the popular field of
romance. It is a tall land with distinct houses on its several floors, the
common entrance to which is by a turnpike stair at the head of St. John
Street, as shown on the plate. The first floor was the residence of Mrs.
Telfer, of Scotstown, the sister of Smollett, during his second visit to his
native country in 1766. Mr. C. K. Sharpe recalled some interesting
reminiscences of both. Mrs. Telfer was a tall, sharp-looking dame, with a
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hooked nose, and devoted to whist. Mr. Sharpe’s mother repeatedly met
the novelist, and indeed figures among the characters incidentally referred to
in his Humphrey Clinker. She described him as a tall handsome man, very
pale. His conversation was exceedingly attractive when he was not in ill-
humour. But he was full of venom at times, and bitterly sarcastic on his
visitors. He was suffering from a boil on his arm, which made him very
peevish. This, however, did not preclude him from sharing in the
hospitalities of the time. Notwithstanding his infirm state of health, he
mixed in the best society, and treasured up the graphic pictures of men and
manners which he afterwards embodied in his last and best novel. The
Mathew Bramble who figures there is undoubtedly meant for himself; and
Jerry Melford for his necphew, Major Telfer, a son of the widow in St. John
Street. The charming Miss R—-—n, whom the latter had the honour to
dance with at the Hunters’ Ball, and from whose bright eyes he sustained
some damage, was a granddaughter of Susannah, the beautiful and witty
‘Countess of Eglinton, and inheriting from her own mother the charms
which Hamilton of Bangour had long before celebrated as so specially fitted
-“in the dance to shine.” Lady Susan, the daughter of the countess, became
the wife of John Renton, Esq., of Lammerton ; and their daughter Eleonora
—whose bright eyes still flash forth on us from the pages of Humphrey
Clinker,—wedded Mr. Sharpe of Hoddam, and communicated to her son,
Charles Kirkpatrick Sharpe, some of the reminiscences of an elder generation
which appear in these pages. Smollett had more enduring reasons than the
mere glance of bright eyes for remembering the Rentons of Lammerton. A
sister of Miss Eleonora married Mr. Telfer, another nephew of the novelist,
who ultimately assumed the name of Smollett on succeeding to the family
estate.

At the foot of the Pleasance, and extending between that ancient
thoroughfare and the valley that skirts the base of Salisbury Crags, is a
rising ground called St. John’s Hill, with its own interesting literary
associations as the locality whither Thomas Campbell transferred his house-
hold gods in 1798, and where he continued to reside with his aged father
and mother, while he wrote his Pleasures of Hope. The Knights of St. John
of Jerusalem, who succeeded to the forfeited possessions of the Templars,
it is well known, held lands in almost every shire in Scotland, and claimed
a jurisdiction, even within the capital, over certain tenements built on their
ground, some of which, now remaining in the Grassmarket, still bear the
name of Temple Lands. In the absence of all evidence on this subject, we
may assume the probability of a similar proprietorship having been the
source of this name. In the earliest map of Edinburgh, that of 1544, a
church of large dimensions appears occupying the exact site of St. John’s
Hill; but this is no doubt intended for the Blackfriars’. Monastery, which
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stood on the opposite side of the Pleasance. It is possible that early
deeds or charters may yet be discovered to throw light on this subject, for
ecclesiastical ruins occupied a neighbouring height, and the Templars are
believed to have had an establishment at Mount Hooly on the southern
verge of St. Leonard’s Hill, where Mr. Sharpe remembered a fragment of
wall standing in his younger days, with the lower part of a deeply splayed
and moulded window, divided by a transom; and with a small niche and
sculptured basin, or stoup, projecting from its base. On trying to obtain
the sculptured basin at a later date, he writes: “It was destroyed, as a brute
told me, who had a hand in the work.” “ On the eastern side of Newington,”
says Maitland, “on a gentle eminence denominated Mons Sacer or Holy
Mount, now corruptly Mount Hooly, was situate a chapel, which, from the
position of the bodies buried cross-legged ways, with their swords by their
sides, which were found lately in digging there, I take to have belonged
to the Knights Templars.” The cross-legged knights with their swords
by their sides, it is to be presumed, were sculptured recumbent figures
which had once adorned the Templars’ tombs, and suggest features of
exceptional interest in the long-vanished sacred edifice to which they
pertained. It is difficult now even to fix the exact site of the church,
owing to the changes effected on the whole district by the extended
buildings of the town.!

On the north side of the Canongate, opposite to St. John Street, a
lofty stone tenement named Jack’s Land was the later abode of Susannah,
Countess of Eglinton, where she resided in her old age, and was visited by
Lady Jane Douglas, as appears in the evidence of the famous Douglas Cause.
The other tenants of its numerous flass were doubtless of corresponding
importance in the social scale ;? but its most eminent occupant was David
Hume, who removed thither from Riddle’s Land, Lawnmarket, in 1753,
while engaged in writing his History of England, and continued to reside at

1 Maitland, p. 176.

2 The following advertisement will probably be considered a curious illustration of the Canongate
aristocracy of the period: ‘‘ A negro run-away.—That on Wednesday the 10th current, an East-india
negro lad eloped from a family of distinction residing in the Canongate of Edinburgh, and is supposed
to have gone towards Newcastle. He is of the mulatto colour, aged betwixt sixteen and seventeen
years, about five feet high, having long black hair, slender made and long limbed. He had on, when
he went off, a brown cloth short coat, with brass buttons, mounted with black and yellow button holes,
breeches of the same, and a yellow vest with black and yellow lace, with a brown duffle surtout coat
with yellow lining, and metal buttons, gray and white marled stockings, a fine English hat with yellow
lining, having a gold loop and tassle, and double gilded button. As this negro lad has carried off
sundry articles of value, whoever shall receive him, so that he may be restored to the owner, on sending
notice thereof to Patrick M‘Dougal, writer in Edinburgh, shall be handsomely rewarded.”— Edinburgh
Adyertiser, 12th March 1773. An earlier advertisement in the Courant, 7th March 1727, offers a
reward for the apprehension of another run-away : *‘ A'negro woman, named Ann, about eighteen years
of age, with a green gown, and a brass collar about her neck on which are engraved these words,
¢ Gustavus Brown in Dalkeith, his negro, 1726."”
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Jack’s Land during the most important period of his literary career.
Immediately behind this, in a court on the east side of Big Jack’s Close,
there existed till a few years since some remains of the town mansion of
General Dalziel, commander of the forces in Scotland during most of the
reign of Charles II, and the merciless persecutor of the outlawed Presby-
terians. The General's dwelling is described by Dr. Robert Chambers,
in the Minor Antiquities,) as “one of the meanest-looking buildings ever,
perhaps, inhabited by a gentleman.” In this, however, the author was
deceived by the humble appearance of the small portion that then remained.
There is no reason to believe that the stern Muscovite—as he was styled
from serving under the Russian Czar during the protectorate—tempered
his cruelties by any such Spartan-like self-denial. The General’s residence,
on the contrary, appears to have done full credit to a courtier of the
Restoration. We owe the description of it, as it existed about the beginning
of the present century, to a zealous antiquary 2 who was born there in 1787,
and resided in the house for many years. He has often conversed with
another of its tenants who remembered being taken to Holyrood when a
child to see Prince Charles on his arrival at the palace of his forefathers.
The chief apartment was a hall of unusually large dimensions, with an arched
or waggon-shaped ceiling adorned with a painting of the sun in the centre,
surrounded by gilded rays on an azure ground. The remainder of the
ceiling was painted to represent sky and clouds, and spangled over with a
series of silvered stars in relief. The large windows were closed below with
carved oaken shutters, similar in style to the fine specimen still remaining
in Riddle’s Close, and the same kind of windows existed in other parts of
the building. The kitchen also was worthy of notice for a fireplace, formed
of a plain circular arch, of such unusual dimensions that popular credulity
might have assigned it for the perpetration of those rites it had ascribed to
him, of spitting and roasting his miserable captives!® Our informant was
told by an intelligent old man, who had resided in the house for many years,
that a chapel formerly stood on the site of the open court, but all traces of
it were removed in 1779. It is not at all inconsistent with the character of
the fierce old Cavalier that he should have erected a private chapel for his
own use. Death fortunately stepped in, says his fellow-soldier, Captain
Crichton, in allusion to the dilemma in which the General was placed on the
accession of James VII, and “rescued him from the difficulties he was likely
to be under, between the notions he had of duty to his prince on one side,
and true zeal for his religion on the other.”* The main idea that seems to
have guided him through life was an unquestioning loyalty. He allowed his

Y Minor Antiguities of Edinburgh, p. 230. 2 Mr. Wm. Rowan, librarian, New College.

3 Fountainhall's Decisions, vol. i. p. 159 ; Burnet's History of kis Own Times, vol. i. p. 334.

$ Memoirs of Captain Crickton, Swift's Works, London 1803, vol. xiv. p. 318.
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beard to grow, as a manifestation of his grief on the beheading of King
Charles, and retained it unaltered till his death, though it latterly acquired
a venerable amplitude that attracted a crowd whenever he appeared in
public. The early history of chivalry furnishes many examples in proof of
the perfect compatibility of such devoted loyalty with the cruelties which
have rendered his name infamous to posterity.

The Shoemakers’ Lands, which stand to the east of Jack’s Land, are
equally lofty and more picturesque buildings. One of them especially,
immediately opposite to Moray House, is a striking object in the stately
range of substantial stone tenements that extend from New Street to the
Canongate Tolbooth. A highly-adorned tablet surmounts the main entrance,
enriched with angels’ heads and a border of Elizabethan ornament enclosing
the Shoemakers’ Arms with the date 1677. An open book is inscribed
with the first verse of the metrical version of the 133d Psalm: a motto
that appears to have been in special repute towards the close of the seven-
teenth century among the suburban corporations, as it is also inscribed
over the Tailors’ Hall of Easter Portsburgh and the Shoemakers’ Land in
the West Port. The turnpike stair rises above the main building crowned
with an ogee roof of singular character, and flanked on either side by
picturesque gables. Over the entrance to this stair the same favourite piece
of psalmody is repeated, with the further inscription in smaller letters, IT IS
AN HONOUR FOR MAN TO CEASE FROM STRIFE. The arms of the Cordiners
reappear on one of the two tenements to the west of this at the head of
Shoemakers’ Close, on an ornate panel with the date 1725, and another
moral aphorism borrowed from the metre psalms—

BLESSED IS HE THAT WISELY DO
TH THE POOR MAN’S CASE CONSIDER.

The hall of the once wealthy Corporation of Cordiners or Shoemakers
of Canongate, to whom this property belonged, stood on the west side of
Little Jack’s Close, adorned with the insignia of the souters’ craft, and
furnished for the convivial meetings of the fraternity with huge oaken tables
and chairs, and a substantial carved throne adorned with the arms of the
craft: a paring knife surmounted by a crown, and the date 1682. This
was in special requisition for the inauguration of King Crispin on the 25th
of October, or St. Crispin’s Day. It was long the annual custom of the craft
to elect a king, who was borne through the town attended by his subjects,
dressed in all sorts of fantastic and showy attire: to the great delight, as
our own juvenile recollections testify, of many a youthful sightseer. The
gala-day attracted visitors from the surrounding villages, and when the
procession returned to its rendezvous, King Crispin held his court at the
Corporation Hall and celebrated his coronation with royal festivities. An
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obituary notice of William Sawers, bootmaker, who “was King at the
memorable Crispin procession of 1820,” occurs in the Scotsman of 23d
January 1847, from which it appears that the frolickers of the Canongate
at so recent a date rivalled in their audacity the license of the Abbot of
Unreason, when the medieval mummers selected cathedrals and abbey
churches as the scenes of their wildest saturnalia. There is little doubt that
this sport was a relic of early times when the Cordiners of the neighbouring
capital, incorporated in the year 1449, made their annual procession on
the anniversary of their patron saint to the altar of St. Crispin and St.
Crispinian, founded and maintained by them in the Collegiate Church of St.
Giles.! A notice of the Cordiners of Canongate in the burgh registers of
1574 records the election of William Qubhite as their deacon, in room of
“ Umquhill Andro Purves.” They too, doubtless, had their altar and priest
in the Abbey Church; and so reviving their ancient rights, we learn that
William Sawers, King Crispin for the year, “was crowned in the picturc
gallery of Holyrood Palace on the 25th October 1820, when his princely
and majestic appearance delighted all who had the pleasure of seeing him
walk up the High Street in kingly attire.” The Black Princc—a Moorish
masker, possibly suggested by the old traditions of the Morocco Land,—and
his sable Princess were essential characters in the pageant. Mrs. Malcolm,
an old dame of a particularly shrewish disposition, who inhabited an attic in
the Shoemakers’ Land towards the close of last century, had figured in the
latter character in her youth ; and retained to the last the sobriquet of
The Princess. King Crispin also had his royal consort, perpectuating to our
own day a traditional remembrance of the Queen of the Canongate mentioned
in the Treasury Accounts of James IV. Unhappily for the Cordiners of
the Canongate, the sumptuary laws of old Scottish Parliaments werc not
framed to curb the excesses of cwbbler kings. King Crispin and his train
grew more extravagant every ycar. He latterly rode in this fantastic
annual pageant in ermined robes, attended by prince, premier, champion in
armour, and courtiers of all degrees, mounted on horseback and decked in
the most gaudy costumes they could procure, until the whole wealth and
property of the corporation were dissipated in this childish foolery, and King
Crispin retired to private life and the humbler relaxation of cobbling shoes.
The Canongate Tolbooth—a view of which heads this chapter,—has
long been a favourite subject for the artist’s pencil, as one of the most
picturesque edifices of the Old Town. It forms the court-house of the burgh,
erected in the reign of James VI soon after the abolition of religious houses
had left this ancient dependency of the Abbey frec to govern itself; and
latterly it included the burgh gaol. But even under King James, Adam
Bothwell, the commendator of Holyrood, retained some portion of the ancient

! Maitland, p. 305.
VOL. II H
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rights of his mitred predecessors over the burgh. The present structure is
the successor of a much earlier building, probably on the same site. The
date on the tower is 1591 ; and preparations for its erection appear in the
Burgh Register seven years before, when it is enacted that no remission of
fees shall be granted to any one, “unto the tyme the tolbuith of this burch
be edefeit and biggit.”! Nevertheless we find by the Burgh Registers for
1561, “ Curia capitalis burgi vici canonicorum Monasterii Sancte Crucis
prope Edinburgh, tenta in pretorio ejusdem” ; and frequent references occur
to the zolbuit/e in the Registers and in the Treasurer’s Accounts, e.g. 1574, “ To
sax pynouris att the bailleis command for taking doun of the lintall stane
of the auld tolbuith windo, iiijs. vjd.” The very next entry is a fee “ to ane
new pyper,” an official of the burgh of whom various notices are found at
this early period.

The Hotel de Ville of this ancient burgh is surmounted by a tower and
spire, flanked by two turrets in front, from between which a clock of large
dimensions projects into the street. This formerly rested on curiously
carved oaken beams, which appear in Storer’s views published in 1818,
but they have since been replaced by plain cast-iron supports. The
building is otherwise adorned with a variety of mottoes and sculptured
devices in the style that prevailed at the date of its erection. Between the
windows of the first and second floor of the tower an ornamental sun-dial
appears, and underneath the lower window a carved tablet bears this
inscription with the abbreviations, which have been conjecturally rendered :
SENATUS LOCUS BURGHI—

gz S L. B
PATRIE ET POSTERIS, 1591.

There are two bells in the tower, the oldest of which has this favourite
motto, with the date cast on it: SOLI DEO HONOR ET GLORIA, 1608.
The larger bell, as appears from its inscription, was cast in 1796. Over the
inner doorway are the appropriate words : ESTO FIDUS; and on the most
conspicuous part of the edifice, between the large windows of the council
hall, a highly ornamental panel surmounted by a pediment adorned with
a large thistle bears the legend: J. R. 6. JUSTITIA ET PIETAS VALIDE
SUNT PRINCIPIS ARCES. Within the panel are emblazoned the burgh arms,
viz.,, a stag’s head with a cross between the tynes, in commemoration of the
monastic legend to which the origin of the Abbey of the Holy Rood and
its burgh is referred. Underneath is the motto, SIC ITUR AD ASTRA: an
unfailing subject of mirth to the profane wits of the capital, as the avowal of
the burgher vassals of the Church that they seek the way to heaven through
the burgh jail.

The independence of the burgh of Canongate was of brief duration. The

! Canongate Burgh Register, 13th October 1§84 ; Mait. Misc. vol. ii. p. 353.
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magistrates of Edinburgh purchased the superiority of it from the Earl of
Roxburghe, and soon after procured a charter of confirmation from Charles 1.
in 1636. But it is still governed by its own
magistrates and a baron bailie elected by the
Edinburgh Town Council, who thus come in
the place of the Abbot of Holyrood as its
over-lords. Those hold weekly courts for the
punishment of petty offenders, and the settle-
ment of disputed questions on small debts;
and in general exercise control over the public
affairs of the burgh.

The ancient market cross formerly stood
nearly opposite to the Tolbooth. It is repre-
sented in Gordon’s map as mounted on a
stone gallery somewhat similar to that of the
neighbouring capital, though on a smaller
scale. This has long since disappeared, but
the elegant cross represented in the accom-
panying vignette still exists attached to the
south-east corner of the Tolbooth. Its chief
use in latter times was as the pillory ; and
the iron staple remains to which the culprit
used to be secured by an iron collar round the neck, styled tke Jougs; a
species of punishment which continued in use within the recollection of
some of our older citizens.!

Moray House, which is one of the most remarkable objects of interest
in the Canongate, formed until 1835 part of the entailed estate of the noble
house of Moray, in whose possession it remained exactly two hundred
years, having become the property of Margaret Countess of Moray in 1645,
by an arrangement with her younger sister Anne, then Countess of Lauder-
dale, and co-heiress with her of their mother the Countess of Home, by
whom Moray House was built.? This noble mansion presents more striking
architectural features than any other private building in Edinburgh, and is

1 ¢ 31st October 1567. The quhilk daye Bessie Tailzefeir being accusit be the bailleis and counsall
of the sclandring of Thos. Huntar, baillie, . . . thairfoir ordanit the said Bessie to be brankit the morne
and set upone the croce of this bruche thair to remane the space of ane houre.” On the 6th October
1572 the treasurer is ordered ‘‘to vpput and big sufficiently the corce,” which had probably suffered in
some of the reforming mobs.—Canongate Burgh Register, Aait. Misc. vol. ii. pp. 303, 326.

2 The entail was broken by a clause in one of the acts of the North British Railway Company. They had
acquired the ancient Collegiate Church and Trinity Hospital for their terminus, and proposed to fit up
Moray House instead of the latter—an arrangement which it is to be regretted was not carried into effect.
The name of Regent Murray's House, latterly applied to the old mansion, is a spurious tradition of recent

origin. Its most common title about the beginning of the present century was 7he Linen Hall, from its hav-
ing been long occupied by the British Linen Company,now the wealthiest banking company in Scotland.

St. John’s Cross.
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associated with some very memorable events in Scottish history. It was
erected in the early part of the reign of Charles I. by Mary Countess of
Home, the eldest daughter of Edward, Lord Dudley, then a widow. Her
initials, M. H., are sculptured over the large centre window of the south
gable surmounted by a coronet; and over the corresponding window to the
north are the widowed Countess’s arms, the lions of Home and Dudley
impaled on a lozenge. The house was erected some years before the visit
of Charles I. to Scotland, and his coronation at Holyrood, in 1633, and was
therefore in all probability graced by the presence of that unfortunate
monarch; though the Countess soon after contributed largely towards the
success of his opponents, as appears by the repayment by the English Parlia-
ment in 1644 of seventy thousand pounds which had been advanced by her
to the Scottish Covenanting government: an unusually large sum to be
found at the disposal of the dowager of a Scottish earl.

On the first visit of Oliver Cromwell to Edinburgh in the summer of
1648 he took up his residence at “the Lady Home’s lodging in the Canon-
gate,” as it then continued to be called, and entered into friendly negotia-
tions with the nobles and leaders of the extreme party of the Covenanters.
According to Guthrie, “ he did communicate to them his design in reference
to the king and had their assent thereto,”! in consequence of which “the
Lady Home’s house became an object of mysterious curiosity, from the
general report at the time that the design to execute Charles 1. was there
first discussed and approved.”? This, however, which, if it could be relied
on, would add so peculiar an interest to the mansion, must be regarded as
the mere Cavalier gossip of the period. Even if we could believe that
Cromwell’s designs were matured at that time, he was too wary a politician
to hazard them by such premature and profitless confidence ; but there can
be no doubt that the mode of dealing with the king must in some shape or
other have formed a prominent subject in their discussions.

Only two years after the Parliamentary General’s residence in the
Canongate, the fine old mansion was the scene of joyous banquetings and
revelry on the occasion of the marriage of Lord Lorn—better known as the
unfortunate Earl of Argyle,—to Lady Mary Stuart, the eldest daughter of the
Earl of Moray. The wedding-feast took place on the 13th of May 1650,
and the friends were still celebrating the alliance of these two noble families,
when on Saturday the 18th of May the already excommunicated and doomed
Marquis of Montrose was brought a captive to Edinburgh. About four
o’clock in the afternoon the magistrates and guard received their prisoner
at the Water Gate, and after reading to him his barbarous sentence, he was
ignominiously bound to a low cart provided for the occasion. The common
hangman, who acted as master of the ceremonies, having uncovered the

1 Guthrie’s Memoirs, p. 298. 3 Napier's Life of Montrose, p. 441.
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Marquis, he mounted the horse before him, and the melancholy procession
moved slowly up the Canongate, a band of meaner prisoners bound two and
two going in front barehcaded. The contrast presented by this scene is
painfully illustrative of the vicissitudes that accompany civil war. Montrose
had defeated his great rival the Marquis of Argyle, father of the young Lord
Lorn, and had driven him almost a solitary fugitive to the sea, while he
wasted his country with fire and sword. As the noble captive passed
beneath the windows of Moray House, the wedding guests, including the
Earl of Loudoun, then Lord Chancellor, Lord Warriston, and the Countess
of Haddington, along with the Marquis of Argyle, and the bride and bride-
groom,! stepped out on the fine old stone balcony that overhangs the street
to gaze upon their prostrate enemy. It is said that the Lady Jane Gordon,
Countess of Haddington, Argyle’s niece, so far forgot her sex as to spit upon
him as he passed, in revengeful triumph over their fallen foe. But the
marriage party quailed before the calm gaze of the noble captive. Though
suffering from severe wounds in addition to the mortification and insult to
which he was exposed, he preserved the same composure and serenity with
which he afterwards submitted to a felon’s death, appearing even on the
scaffold —as Nicoll relates,—in a style “more becoming a bridegroom
nor a criminal going to the gallows.”? On Montrose turning his eyes on the
party assembled on the balcony at Moray House, they shrank back with
hasty discomposure and disappeared from the windows, leaving the gloomy
procession to wend its way to the Tolbooth® This incident acquires a
deeper interest from the fact that three of the onlookers, including the gay
young bridegroom, perished by the hand of the executioner on the same
fatal spot to which the gallant Marquis was passing under their gaze.

The period of which we write was one of rapid change. Little more
than four months elapsed when the army of the Covenanters, with Leslie at
its head, was signally defeated at Dunbar; and Cromwell, returning to the
Scottish capital as a conqueror, once more took up his quarters at Moray
House. Throughout the winter of 1650 its stately halls were crowded
with Parliamentary commissioners and military and civil courtiers attendant
on the General’s levee.t Its next occupant of note was the Lord Chancellor
Seafield, who appears to have resided there at the period of the Union, and
gave to its historic halls new associations, as the scene of numerous secret
deliberations that preceded the ratification of that treaty. The fine old
terraced garden remains nearly in the same state as when the peers and

1 ¢“It was reported that in 1650, when the Marquis of Montrose was brought up prisoner from the
Water Gate in a cart, this Argile was feeding his eyes with the sight in the Lady Murrayes balcony in the
Canongate with hir daughter, his lady, to whom he was new married, and that he was seen playing and
smiling with her.”—Fountainhall’s Historical Observes, 1685, p. 18s. 2 Nicoll’s Diary, p. 13.

3 Wigton Papers, AMait. Misc. vol. ii. pp. 432, 483. 4 Ante, vol. i. p. 125.



102 MEMORIALS OF EDINBURGH

commoners of the last Scottish Parliament frequented its avenues. The
picturesque summer-house, adorned with quaint old lions, from which
the Unionists are said to have been scared while signing some of their
preliminary treaties, is still there. The upper terrace is shaded by a
magnificent thorn tree, which appears to be much older than the house ; on
the second terrace a curious arbour has been constructed by the interlacing
stems of trees, twisted into the fantastic forms in which our ancestors
delighted ; and on the lowest terrace a fine fountain is guarded by the
marble statue of a fisher, with his basket at his feet filled with the mimic
spoils of the rod and line. The fine large garden has a southern aspect,
and both it and the house might still afford no unsuitable accommodation
to the proudest Earl in the Scottish Peerage.

Directly opposite to the old Tolbooth, and not far removed from the
stately mansion of the Earls of Moray, is an antique fabric of a singularly
picturesque character, associated with the name of one of the adversaries of
that noble house : George, first Marquis of Huntly, who murdered the Bonny
Earl of Moray in 1591. The evidence, indeed, is not complete which
assigns this as the dwelling of the first Marquis, but it is rendered exceedingly
probable from the fact that his residence was in the Canongate, and that
this fine old mansion was occupied at a later period by his descendants.
In June 1636 he was carried from his lodging in the Canongate, with the
hope of reaching his northern territories before his death, but he got no
farther than Dundee, where he died in his seventy-fourth year! The same
noble lodging was the abode of the unfortunate Marquis who succeeded to
his father’s title. In 1639 it was the scene of special festivity, on the
occasion of the marriage of his eldest daughter, Lady Ann, to the Lord
Drummond, afterwards third Earl of Perth, “ who was ane precise puritane,
and therfore weill lyked in Edinburgh.”? Only ten years later, in 1649,
the noble Marquis who then gave away the bride to her Puritan lover
perished on the block at the Cross of Edinburgh. The house was occupied
when Maitland wrote by the Duchess Dowager of Gordon; and through a
misinterpretation of evidence given by some of the witnesses concerned
in the murder of Darnley in 1567, he pronounces it to have been the Mint
Office of Scotland at that earlier period. If the date on the building, which
is 1570, be that of its erection, it settles the question. But, at any rate,
an examination of the evidence referred to leaves no doubt that the Mint
was situated at the period in the outer court of the Palace of Holyrood?

! Spalding’s History of the Troubles, vol. i. p. 42. 2 7bid. vol. i. p. 177.

3 ¢¢Incontinent the Erle [Bothwell] French Paris, William Powry, servitor and porter to the said
Erle, Pat. Wilsoun, and the deponar, geid down the turnpike altogidder, and endlong the Lack of the
Queenis garden gukill sow cum to the Cunzie-Hous, and the back of the stabilis [seemingly what is
now called the Horse Wynd], quhill zow cum to the Cannongate foreanent the Abbey zet.” —Deposition
of George Dalgleish, Crim. Trials, Supp. p. 495.
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though this has not prevented the historian being followed, as usual, without
investigation by later writers. We have engraved a view of this curious old
mansion as it appears from the Bakehouse Close. It presents an exceedingly
picturesque row of timber-fronted gables to the street, resting on a range of
ornamental corbels projecting from the stone basement story. A series of
sculptured tablets adorn the front of the building, containing pious aphorisms,
in a style differing from those so frequently introduced on the buildings
of the sixteenth century. On one is inscribed: CONSTANTI PECTORI
RES MORTALIVM VMBRA; on another: UT TU LINGVE TVZAE, SIC EGO
MEAR : AVRIUM DOMINVS SVM ; and on the third the favourite old distich :
HODIE MIHI CRAS TIBI CUR IGITUR CURAS, with the date 1570. On an
upright tablet at the west end is an ingenious emblem of the resurrection :
a cluster of wheat-stalks in ear, growing out of a heap of human bones,
designed as an allegorical rendering of St. Paul’s beautiful imagery : “ That
which thou sowest is not quickened except it die; and that which thou
sowest thou sowest not that body that shall be, but bare grain. But God
giveth it a body as it hath pleased him ; and to every seed its own body.”
The repetition of this sculptured emblem on Gourlay’s mansion in the Old
Bank Close has already been referred to. There it was accompanied with
the appropriate motto, SPES ALTERA VITZA.

The very diverse style of the later era after the union of the crowns is
seen in an ornate mansion on the east side of the Bakehouse or Hammer-
men’s Close. An ornamental archway, with pendent keystone, in the
fashion prevalent towards the close of James the Sixth’s reign, forms the
entrance to a small enclosed court, surrounded on three sides by the
residence of Sir Archibald Acheson of Glencairney, one of the Lords of
Session appointed soon after the accession of Charles 1. He was created
by the King a Baronet of Nova Scotia in 1628, and was afterwards
appointed one of the Secretaries of State for Scotland. The little quad-
rangle is finished throughout with considerable architectural taste. Over
the pediment above the main entrance the Baronet’s crest, a Cock standing
on a Trumpet, is cut in bold relief ; and below the motto vigilantibus, with
~ a cypher containing the letters A. M. H,, the initials of Sir Archibald Acheson
and Dame Margaret Hamilton, his wife. The date on the building is 1633,
the year in which Charles I. paid his first visit to his native capital. "The
building is a handsome structure in the style of the period ; though a curious
proof of the rude state in which the mechanical arts remained at that date
is afforded by the square hole still visible at the side of the main doorway,
wherein an oaken bar slid out and in for securely fastening the door.
The three sides of the court are ornamented with dormer windows,
containing the initials of the builder and those of his wife, with other
characteristic architectural decorations.
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The range of houses to the eastward still includes many of an early date,
and some associated with names once prominent in Scottish story. Milton
House, a handsome large mansion built in the somewhat heavy style prevalent
during the eighteenth century, derives its name from Andrew Fletcher of
Milton, Lord Justice-Clerk of Scotland, who succeeded the celebrated Lord
Fountainhall on the bench in the year 1724, and continued to preside as a
judge of the Court of Session till his death in 1766. He was much
esteemed for the mild and forbearing manner with which he exercised
his authority as I.ord Justice-Clerk after the rebellion of 1745. He
sternly discouraged all informers; and many communications which he
suspected to have been sent by over-officious and malignant persons were
found in his repositories after his death, unopened.! He was a nephew of
the patriotic Fletcher of Salton, and an intimate friend and coadjutor of
Archibald, Duke of Argyle, during whose administration he exercised a
wise and beneficial control over the Government patronage in Scotland. The
old mansion which thus formed the scene of court levees, where Hanoverian
and Jacobite candidates for royal favour elbowed one another in the chase,
still retains unequivocal marks of its former grandeur, notwithstanding the
many strange tenants who have since occupied it. The drawing-room to
the south, the windows of which command a beautiful view of Salisbury
Crags and St. Leonard’s Hill, has its walls very tastefully decorated with a
series of designs of landscapes and allegorical figures, with rich borders of
fruit and flowers, painted in distemper. They are executed with great spirit,
and from the style of the landscapes more especially we feel little hesitation
in ascribing the whole to the pencil of Francesco Zuccherelli, who had a
high reputation in England during the earlier part of the eighteenth century.
There are various grotesque figures interspersed among the ornamental
borders, which have the appearance of being copies from some illuminated
manuscript of the fourteenth century. These represent a cardinal, a monk,
a priest, and other churchmen, painted with great spirit and extreme
drollery of attitude and expression. They so entirely differ from the
general character of the composition that their insertion may be conjectured
to have originated in a whim of Lord Milton, which the artist has contrived
to execute without sacrificing the harmony of his design.  An elegant cornice,
finished with painting and gilding, and a richly stuccoed ceiling, complete
the decorations of this fine apartment.

The house was occupied for a time as a Roman Catholic School under
the care of the Sisterhood of St. Margaret’s Convent. The pupils particularly
attracted the attention of Her Majesty Queen Victoria, on her visit to the
capital in 1842, as they strewed flowers in her path on her approach from
the palace of her ancestors by the ancient royal thoroughfare of the

! Brunton and Haig’s Senators of the College of Justice, p. 499.
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Canongate. It has since been used as a Deaf and Dumb School, and {is
now appropriated to the benevolent objects of the Royal Maternity Hospital.

Prior to the erection of Milton House the fine open grounds which
surround it, with the site on which it is built, formed a beautiful garden
attached to the mansion of the Earl of Roxburghe. Lord Fountainhall
reports a dispute in 1694 between the Trades of Canongate and the Earl,
in which the Lords declared his house in the Canongate free, and himself
empowered, by right of certain clauses in a contract between the Earl, the
Town of Edinburgh, and Heriot’s Hospital, to employ artificers on his house
who were not freemen of the burgh.! Such contentions, originating in the
jealousy of the corporations of the Canongate, were of frequent occurrence at
the period, and show with how despotic a spirit the incorporated trades
unions of that elder time were prepared to guard their exclusive rights.
Roxburghe House appears, from Edgar's map, to have stood on the west
side of the garden. It was afterwards occupied by John, fifth Earl, the
brother of the builder, who took an active share in promoting the Union ; and
was doubtless the scene both of hospitable gatherings and confidential deliber-
ations during the memorable transactions of 1705 and subsequent years,
until the final ratification of the articles of Union by the Scottish Estates
on the 16th of January 1707. Gifts and honours were liberally distributed
to secure the passing of the desired measure ; and soon after the Earl of Rox-
burghe was elevated to a dukedom in the British Peerage, and successively
filled the offices of Keeper of the Privy Seal and Secretary of State for Scotland.

At the head of Reid’s Close stands the picturesque stone tenement
designated in the accompanying engraving Nisbet of Dirleton’s house,
which appears by the date on it to have been erected in the year 1624. Its
basement story is substantially arched with stone in accordance with the
fashion of that age, when a citizen’s mansion had occasionally to be made
his castle in a very different sense from that which is now maintained as the
theory of British law. This edifice, which was probably reared by some
courtier of note and influence at that period, afterwards became the residence
of Sir John Nisbet, who was promoted to the bench in 1664 under the title
of Lord Dirleton, and was the last who held the office of Lord Advocate
conjointly with that of a judge. He was the predecessor of Sir George
Mackenzie as Lord Advocate, and is accused, both by Kirkton and Wodrow,
of making himself the tool of the bishops. The latter relates a curious
instance of his zeal in persecuting the unfortunate Covenanters. Robert
Gray having been brought before the Council, and examined as to his
knowledge of the hiding-places of some of the leaders of that party, without
their succeeding in obtaining from him the desired information, Sir John
took a ring from the man’s finger and sent it to Mrs. Gray by a trusty

! Fountainhall’s Decssions, vol. i. p. 614.
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messenger, who informed her that her husband had told all he knew of the
Whigs, and that he sent this ring to her in token that she might do the
same. Deceived by this ingenious fraud the poor woman revealed their
places of concealment; and her husband was so affected by this betrayal
of his friends that hc sickened and died a few days after. The south
front of the house appears in the engraving of Reid’s Close, and is
singularly picturesque and somewhat unique in its character.

On the south side of the Canongate, as we approach the Water Gate, a
formal unornate building of proportions seemingly beyond the requirements
of any family, however large its household and staff, has been known for
nearly two centuries through the extremest vicissitudes of fortune as Queens-
berry House. It appears, however, from a note of Lord Fountainhall—
omitted like many other curious memoranda of the old judge from the printed
folios,—that it was built by the celebrated Lord Halton, afterwards Earl of
Lauderdale. A dispute like that already referred to between the Earl of
Roxburghe and the incorporated tradesmen of the burgh discloses the old
mansion while in process of building. On the 2d June 1681 Lord Halton
laid a complaint before the Privy Council, in which he states that he is then
building a lodging for himself in the Canongate ; and having employed some
- country masons, the craftsmen of the burgh assaulted them and carried off
their tools. In the evidence it is shown that a free burgess of the capital
dared not encroach beyond its bounds to practise his craft within the burgh
of Canongate ; and that in 1671 the Privy Council subjected David Pringle,
chirurgeon, to a fine for employing one Wood, an unfree barber, “ to poll the
children’s heads in Heriot's Hospital ”! Nevertheless Lord Halton had
influence enough to secure the right of employing what workmen he pleased ;
though the craftsmen were adjudged to have had warrant for their inter-
ference, and so were freed from the charge of rioting.! Possibly, however,
the craftsmen were a match for my lord, like the unionists and ratteners of
later days. At any rate, we learn from an entry by Lord Fountainhall of
21st June 1686, “ By a letter from His Majesty, Qucensberry is laid asyde
from all his places and offices, as his place in the Treasurie, Privy Council,
Session, etc., and desired not to goe out of toune till he cleared his accounts.
So he bought Lauderdale’s house in the Canongate.”

William, first Duke of Queensberry, the builder of Drumlanrig Castle,
who exercised almost absolute power in Scotland during the latter years of the
reign of Charles II, and presided as high commissioner in the first parliament
of James VII, had a passion for building ; and under his care the Canongate
mansion was completed as the ducal lodging. “He was my great-grand-
mother’s uncle,” writes Mr. C. K. Sharpe in a marginal note, “and of him I
have heard much. He was a strange original and boggled at nothing in his

! Fountainhall’s Decisions, vol. i. pp. 138, 139.
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courtly advances but popery. That split him with King James,”—and hence
his dismissal from place and office in 1686. Hec afterwards took an active
share in the revolution that placed the Prince of Orange on the throne: a
step which did not suffice to redeem him from the hatred of the Presbyterian
party, against whom his power had been used in a cruel and arbitrary
manner. He died in the Canongate in 1695. His character was made up
of the strangest contradictions: a great miser, yet magnificent in buildings
and pleasurc grounds ; illitcrate, yet a collector of books, and commanding
in his letters, which he dictated to a sccretary, a style that is admirable.
His son, the active promoter of the Union, and the lord high commissioner
under whose auspices it was accomplished, kept court in Queensberry House
during that stormy period, and frequently found it surrounded by the
infuriated mob who so pertinaciously pursued ecvery abettor of that hated
measurc.?  But the most eminent occupants of Queensberry House are
Charles, the third Duke, who was born there in 1698, and his cclebrated
Duchess, Lady Catherine Hyde, the patroness of the poet Gay, and the
beauty of the court of George I, whose sprightliness and wit have been
commemorated in the numbers of Pope, Swift, and Prior; and whom
Horace Walpole, Earl of Orford, cclebrated in her old age as

“ Prior’s Kitty, ever fair!”

The eccentric beauty espoused the cause of Gay with such warmth that on
the Lord Chamberlain refusing to sanction the representation of Po/ly, a piece
intended as a continuation of the Beggar's Opera, she received him into her
house as her private secretary, and in other ways manifested a regard for the
poet as sincere as it was lasting. He had already held a similar office in the
houschold of the Duchess of Monmouth ; but the duties must have been
mainly nominal, for the poct was indolent, irresolute, gay in habits as in
name, and cqually ecnamoured of fine clothes and good living. With the
aggrieved poet as her protege, the clever cccentric beauty, accompanied by
the Duke, withdrew in high dudgcon from Court and took up their abode at
Queensberry House in the Canongate. The poet’s subscquent intercourse
with the author of Z%e Gentle Sheplerd has already been referred to, as well
as his frequent visits to the poet’s shop at the Cross® We furnish a view of

! A collection of his letters were in the possession of C. K. Sharpe, Esq. He entertained the idea
of publishing them. It is to be hoped this may yet be carried out, though his own notes and remini-
scences would have added to their value as a curious acquisition to the literary world.

? A mysterious and horrible story is related in the 7raditions of Edinburgh concerning the duke’s
eldest son, Lord Drumlanrig, an idiot, who being deserted by his keeper on the day the Union was
passed—the whole household having gone off with the exception of a little kitchen boy—escaped from
his confinement, murdered the boy, and was found roasting him at the fire when the domestics returned
in triumph from the Parliament Close. The dreadful tale soon became known, and it was universally
regarded as a judgment on the duke for his share in the Union. 3 nte, vol. i. p. 256.
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another and much humbler haunt of Gay during his residence in Edinburgh.
It is a small lath and plaster edifice of considerable antiquity, which still
stands directly opposite Queensberry House, and is said to have been a
much-frequented tavern in Gay’s time, kept by a hospitable old dame called
Janet Hall; and if tradition is to
be believed, Jenny Ha's change
house was a frequent scene of the
poet’s relaxations with the con-
genial wits of the Scottish capital.!

The huge dimensions of
Queensberry House are best esti-
mated from the fact of its having
been subsequently converted into
barracks and an hospital. The
latest purpose to which the ducal
residence has been applied, as a
“ House of Refuge for the Desti-
tute,” seems to complete its des-
cent in the scale of degradation.
Little idea, however, can now
be formed, from the vast and
unadorned proportions which the ungainly edifice presents both externally
and internally, of its appearance while occupied by its original owners.
The whole building was then a story lower than it is at present. The
wings were surmounted with ogee roofs. The centre had a Mansard
roof with storm windows decorated in the style of the palace of Versailles,
and the chimney stalks were sufficiently ornamental to add to the general
effect ; so that the whole appearance of the ducal mansion was in keeping
with the residence of a nobleman and the representative of majesty. The
internal decorations were of the most costly description, including elaborately
carved marble chimney-pieces. On the house being dismantled many of these
were purchased by the Earl of Wemyss for completing his new mansion of
Gosford House, near Edinburgh ; but his successors have continued to prefer
the old mansion which stands only a few hundred yards from the modern
pile, and it is left accordingly in a more desolate state even than the
deserted edifice in the Canongate, with whose spoils it should have been
adorned.

On the site now occupied by a brewery, a little to the eastward of
Queensberry House, formerly stood Lothian Hut, a small but very splendidly
finished mansion, erected by William, the third Marquis of Lothian, about
1750, and in which he died in 1767. His Marchioness, who survived him

Jenny Ha’s Change House.

! Traditions, vol. i. p. 291.
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twenty years, continued to reside there till her death, and it was afterwards
occupied by the Lady Caroline D’Arcy, Dowager Marchioness of the fourth
Marquis. This scene of former rank and magnificence would have possessed
a greater interest had it now remained, from its having subsequently formed
the residence of the celebrated philosopher, Dugald Stewart, and the place
where he carried on many of his most important literary labours.

At the head of Panmure Close, on the north side of the street, an edifice
of the time of Queen Mary still exists. It has already been referred to as
bearing the carliest date on any private building in the Canongate. Like
other buildings of the period it consists of a lower structure of stone with a
fore stair leading to the first floor,and an ornamental turnpike within, afford-
ing access to the uppes chambers of the building. At the top of a steep
wooden stair a very rich specimen of carved oak panelling remains in good
preservation, adorned with the Scottish lion, displayed within a broad wreath,
and surrounded by varied ornamentation. The doorway of the inner turn-
pike bears on the sculptured lintel the initials I. H., and a shield, charged
with a chevron and a hunting horn in base, with the date 1565, which
leaves little reason to doubt that its builder was John Hunter, a wealthy
burgess, who filled the office of treasurer of the burgh in 1568. The name
of Panmure Close perpetuates the memory of the noble occupant of Panmure
House, an old mansion, part of which still remains at the foot of Monroe’s
Close. It formed the town residence of the Earl of Panmure, who was
succeeded in it towards the middle of last century by the Countess of
Aberdeen. At that time it was pleasantly surrounded by open garden
ground, and was deemed a peculiarly suitable mansion for such titled
denizens. Towards the close of the century it passed from the occupation
of noble tenants to become the abode of one of the greatest ornaments
of Scottish literature, he to whom we owe the application of science to some
of the most practical necessities of life, and the revolutionising of the com-
mercial policy of the civilised world. Dr. Adam Smith was the intimate
friend of David Hume, and was long urged by him to scttle permanently
in Edinburgh. But he found pleasure in the retirement of his native
spot beyond the Forth; and his great work, the /nguiry into the nature
and causes of the Wealth of Nations, was written there, in the little seaport
of Kirkcaldy. In 1778 his appointment as one of the Commissioners of
Customs for Scotland at length necessitated his removal to Edinburgh ; and
he then took up his residence in Panmure House, where he spent the last
twelve years of his life, enjoying the society of a distinguished circle of
friends. When we last saw the old mansion thus associated with rank and
genius, and which had been the scene of many an intellectual gathering,
its glory had departed; and every trace of its old occupants had been
obliterated in its transformation to an iron foundry.
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The locality where the philosopher dwelt is rich in diversified associa-
tions. The Golfer’s Land, which next invites notice, is less attractive archi-
tecturally than for the enigmatic inscriptions in which its history is obscurely
embodied. John Paterson’s house, or THE GOLFER’S LAND, forms a pro-
minent object among the range of ancient tenements on the north side of the
Canongate, and is associated with a romantic tale of the court of James VII,
during his residence at Holyrood as Duke of York. The story narrated in the
Historical Account of the Game of Golf, privately printed by the Leith club
of golfers, bears that, during the residence of the Duke in Edinburgh, the
question was started on one occasion by two English noblemen, who boasted
of their own expertness in the game, as to whether the ancient Scottish
amusement was not practised at an equally carly date in England. The
Duke’s fondness for the game has already been referred to,! and he was now
stimulated to its defence as a national amusement peculiar to Scotland from
his desire to win popular favour: in which he was no way more likely to
succeed than by flattering the prejudices of the Scotch on any question of
nationality, and becoming their champion in its defence. The antiquity of
the Scottish game is proved by a statute, passed in the reign of James II,
1457, forbidding the practice of both *fute-ball and golfe” under the
penalty of the Baron's unlaw, and enacting the use of the bow in its stead.
The evidence on the English side not being so readily forthcoming, the
Englishmen offered to rest the legitimacy of their national pretensions on the
result of a match to be played by them against His Royal Highness and any
Scotsman he chose to select. The Duke immediately accepted the challenge,
and, after careful inquiry, selected as his partner John Paterson, a poor shoe-
maker of the Canongate, whose ancestors had been celebrated as proficients
in the game, and who then cnjoyed the honour of being considered the best
golfer of his day. The match was played by the Duke and his partner
against their English challengers on the Links of Leith; heavy stakes were
risked by the Duke and his noble opponents on the results; and after a
keen contest, the royal champion of Scotland and his humble squire carried
the day triumphantly. The poor shoemaker was rewarded with a liberal
share of the stakes forfeited by the challenger, and with this he built the
substantial tenememt which still records his name, and commemorates his
victory over the impugners of the national sport.

A handsome tablet on the front of the mansion bears the Paterson arms :
three pelicans feeding their young, with three mullets on a chief, and -
surmounted by a knight's helmet, and a crest now much defaced ; but the
device is preserved as it appeared at an earlier date, in a manuscript collec-
tion of Heraldry by the late A. Deuchar: a mailed hand holding a golfer’s
club as crest, and the motto, SURE AND FARRE. Over the ground floor a

1 Ante, vol. i. p. 136.
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plain slab is inscribed with the following epigram, from the pen of the cele-
brated Dr. Pitcairn, commemorative of the heroic deeds of the builder, and
the national claims which he successfully asserted—
¢ Cum victor ludo, Scotis qui proprius, esset,
Ter tres victores post redemitos avos,

Patersonus, humo tunc educebat in altum
Hanc, qua victores tot tulet una, domum.”

The letters of this elegant distich were originally gilded, so as to attract
the notice of the passer, but this has disappeared, and the inscription no
longer challenges the attention of any but the curious antiquary. Under-
neath it is carved a sufficiently commonplace, though very natural sentiment
for one who had achieved such unexpected honour and reward: I HATE NO
PERSON. It proves, however, to be the transposition of the letters of John
Paterson’s own name into an anagram, according to the quaint fashion of the
age. The ancient tenement is shown in its present condition on the plate,
and the inscriptions upon it leave no reasonable doubt of the traditional
fame of the Canongate golfer. It seems a pity to have to disturb in any
degree a tradition backed by such incontrovertible evidence; and above all
to cast discredit on the legend of the poor shoemaker and his lucky award.
But it appears probable, from the cvidence of the title-deeds, that the Golfer's
Land was lost, instead of won, by the gaming propensities of its owner.
It was acquired in 1609 by Nicol Paterson, Maltman in Leith, from whom
it passed in 1632 to his son, John Paterson, and Agnes Lyel, his spouse.
He died in 1663, as appears by the epitaph on his tomb,—which existed in
Maitland’s time in the cemetery attached to Holyrood Abbey,—after having
several times filled the office of bailie of Canongate.! Both the Leith malt-
man and the bailie, his son, as we may infer from the inscription on the old
tenement, were zealous and successful wielders of the golfing club: a virtue
which they bequeathed to the younger John Paterson, the hero of the tradi-
tional tale, along with the old land which bears his name. The style of the
building confirms the idea of its having been rebuilt by him, with the spoils
won, as we are bound to presume, on Leith Links from “our auld enemies
of England.” The title-deeds, however, render it probable that other stakes
had been played for with less success. In 1691 he grants a bond over the
property for £400 Scots. This is followed by letters of caption and horn-
ing, and other direful symptoms of legal assault, which pursue the poor golfer
to his grave, and remain behind as his sole legacy to his heirs. Paterson
appears, from other evidence, to have been immediately succeeded in the old
dwelling by John, second Lord Bellenden, who died there in 1704 ; since
which time the Golfer's Land has run its course, like other tenements of

1 Maitland, p. 160.
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this once patrician burgh, and is now occupied by the same class of plebcian
tenants as has everywhere succeeded to the old courtiers of Holyrood.!
Whitefoord House, a comfortable modern mansion, originally occupied
by Sir John Whitefoord, stands immediately behind Janet Hall’'s humble
dwelling, surrounded by open gardens, forming the site of the ancient lodging
of the Earls of Winton, celebrated alike by associations with history and
romance. It was the court residence of one of the most powerful leaders of
the Catholic party, when the widowed Queen of Francis II came to enter
on her own independent sovereignty. But all we know definitely of the
building is derived from the extensive area laid down in Edgar’s map of
1742, designated the “ruins of late Earl of Winton’s house.” Here, in its
actual associations with history, we learn from the contemporary Diurnal of
Occurrents, when in February 1565 Henry Lord Darnley followed his father,
the Earl of Lennox, to Edinburgh, he “wes lugeit in my Lord Scytoun’s
lugeing in the Cannongait besyid Edinburgh.”? From thence he followed
the royal widow to Wemyss Castle, beyond the Forth, and—fool though he
was,—outwitted the intrigues of practised diplomatists. He was a prince
of the royal blood, from the Court of Queen Elizabeth, yet a Catholic. His
marriage to Mary Stuart seemed, therefore, to determine the triumph of
the party to which the Seytouns adhered; and great doubtless was the
rejoicing in their old halls. To these the great romancer leads us, ere long,
with Roland Grame, through a vaulted archway of the Canongate graced
by a shield of arms supported by two huge foxes, sculptured in stone, and
down a narrow lane, into the Seytoun Quadrangle, with its windows sur-
mounted by heavy architraves adorned with armorial bearings and religious
devices; and so to the lofty hall, surrounded with weapons and suits of
ancient and rusted armour, interchanged with massive stone scutcheons bear-
ing double tressures, fleured and counter-fleured, wheat sheaves, coronets, and
other Seytoun blazonry : all of which was so utterly thrown away on the
headstrong young page, Roland Greme. And following on chronologically
as we return to actual history, the same mansion became, in 1582, the fitting
residence of the French Ambassador, Manzeville,® when he visited the Court

! The funeral letter of Lord Bellenden affords evidence of the change of manners since it was issued.
It is as follows: *The honour of your presence to accompany the corps of my Lord Bellenden, my
father, from his lodgings in Paterson’s Land, near the Cannongate foot, to his burial place in the Abay
Church, upon Sunday the 3d instant, at 8 of the clock in the morning, is earnestly desired by John
Bellenden.” Some curious information is given in an *‘ Act in favors of James Donaldson, to print
Buriall Letters, Mar. 10, 1699,” wherein it appears *‘ That the petitioner hath fallen upon a device for
printing or stamping them in a fine wryt character, . . . by this device the leidges may be both cheiper
and sooner served than ordinar, Buriall Letters being oft times in haste ; besides the decency and orna-
ment of a border of skeletons' mortheads, and other emblems of mortality, which the Petitioner hath so
contrived that it may be added or abstracted at pleasure” !—Documents relative to Scottish printing,
Mast. Misc. vol. ii. pp. 233-234.

? Diurnal of Occurrents, p. 79. 3 Moysie's Memoirs, p. 77.
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of Holyrood as the special agent of the house of Guisc; while La Mothe
Fénélon was the accredited representative of Henry III, with secret per-
mission from the captive Queen Mary to address her son as King. Here
accordingly the emissary of the Duke of Guise plotted and intrigued with
the leaders of the Catholic party, and filled the mind of the English
ambassador with keenest apprehensions by sending to the young King “a
present of French apples, almond, and other fruit,” which he interpreted as
a missive that all was ready for the plot, and wrote accordingly to inform
Queen Elizabeth of the significant gift. But the Seytouns and Wintons
were on the losing side, as they continued to be to the last. George, the
fifth Earl, was attainted in consequence of his share in the ill-concerted
insurrection of 1715 ; and the old edifice, forsaken by its noble owners, was
abandoned to desolation and ruin.

Sir John Whitefoord, by whom the ruined lodging of the Seytouns was
superseded by a mansion built according to the standard of taste of the
eightcenth century, was one of the first to desert the old town for a more
modern residence built for himself on the north side of St. Andrew Square.
He was joined in the enterprise by Sir Robert Murray and Gilbert Meason,
Esq., the latter of whom gave practical evidence of his reverence for the
memorials of the olden time by investing the sum of £1000 sterling, the
yearly interest of which has been annually expended, since 1805, in restor-
ing and keeping in repair the venerable Cathedral of St. Magnus at
Kirkwall. Whitefoord House was latterly occupied for many years, till his
death in 1823, by Sir William Macleod Bannatyne, a singularly attractive
specimen of a gentleman of Old Edinburgh, before its antique mansions and
manners had altogether fallen under the ban of modern fashion. He was
a nephew of Lady Clanranald, who was committed to the Tower for affording
protection to Prince Charles during his wanderings: so nearly connected
are those romantic incidents with our own day. He was raised to the
bench on the death of Lord Swinton, and took his seat as Lord Bannatyne
in 1799. He was the last survivor of the “ Mirror ” Club, and one of the con-
tributors to the periodical from which it derived its name. His conversa-
tional powers were great; and his lively reminiscences of the eminent men
and the leading events of last century are referred to by those who have
enjoyed his cheerful society, when in his ninetieth year, as peculiarly vivid
and characteristic.

Among the antique groups of buildings in the Canongate, scarcely any
one has more frequently attracted the artist by the picturesque irregularity
of its features than the White Horse Close: an ancient hostelry to which
fresh interest has been attached by the magic pen of Scott, who peopled
anew its deserted halls with the creations of his fertile genius. Tradition,
with somewhat monotonous pertinacity, affirms that it acquired its name
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from a beautiful white palfrey belonging to Queen Mary.! There is no
reason, however, to think from the style and character of the building that
it is any older than the date 1623, which is cut over a dormer window on
its south front. The interest is much more legitimate which associates it
with the cavaliers of Prince Charles’s Court, as the quarters of Captain
Waverley during his brief sojourn in the capital. It forms the main feature
in a small paved quadrangle near the foot of the Canongate. A broad
flight of steps leads up to the building, diverging to the right and left from
the first landing, and giving access to two singularly picturesque timber
porches which overhang the lower story, and form the most prominent
features in the view. A steep and narrow alley passes through below
one of these, and leads to the north front of the building.

Owing to the peculiar slope of the ground, the building rises on this
side to more than double the height of its south front; and a second tier of
windows in the steep roof gives it some resemblance to the old Flemish
hostels, still occasionally to be met with by the traveller in Belgium. But
while the traveller’s quarters are thus crowded into the roof, the whole of the
ground floor is arched and fitted up with ample accommodation for his
horses: an arrangement thoroughly in accordance with the Scottish prac-
tice in early times. In an act passed in the reign of James I, 1425, for
the express encouragement of innkeepers, all travellers stopping at burgh
towns are forbid to lodge with their acquaintances or friends, or in any
other quarters, but in “the hostillaries,” with this exception: “Gif it be
the persones that leadis monie with them in companie,”—i.c. gentlemen
attended with a numerous retinue,—* thai sall have friedome to harberie
with their friends; swa that their horse and their meinze be harberied
and ludged in the commoun hostillaries.” Almost immediately adjoining
the north front of the White Horse Inn was a large tank or pond for
watering horses, from whence “ The Water Gate,” the name of the principal
gate of the burgh, was derived. Here, therefore, was the rendezvous for
knights and barons, with their numerous retainers, and the chief scene of
the arrival and departure of travellers of rank and importance, during the
seventeenth century: contrasting as strangely with the provisions of
modern refinement as any relic that survives of the Canongate in those
good old times.

The courtyard of the White Horse Inn is completed by an antique
tenement towards the street, which tradition points out as the residence of
Bishop Paterson, or Bishop Bandstrings as he was profanely styled, one of the
latest Episcopal dignitaries of the Scottish Church, and a special subject
of scandal to the Covenanters. He was formerly chaplain to the Duke of
Lauderdale, and was currently reported to have owed his promotion to the

! Chambers's Zraditions, vol. ii. p. 295.
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favour of the Duchess.! A little to the eastward of the White Horse Close,
and immediately adjoining the Water Gatc, a plain modern land occupies
the site of St. Thomas’s Hospital, founded by George Crichton, Bishop of
Dunkeld, in 1541, and dedicated to God, the Virgin Mary, and all saints.
It consisted of a chapel and almshouse, which were purchased by the
-magistrates of Canongate, in the year 1617, from the chaplains and bedes-
men, with the consent of David Creichton of Lugtoun, the patron, who
probably reserved to himself the endowments. Its new patrons converted
it into an hospital for the poor of the burgh, and invited the charity of the
wealthy burghers of Canongate by placing over the entrance a sculptured
tablet with the figures of two cripples, an old man and woman, and the
Canongate arms, with the invocation: HELPE HERE THE POORE, AS ZE
VALD GOD DID ZOV. JUNE 19, 1617. But the response to this moving
appeal must have proved wholly inadequate, for when Maitland wrote the
chapel had been converted into a coach-house, and both it and the hospital
were in a very ruinous state. In 1778 it was entirely demolished, and its
site occupied by private dwellings.’

The Water Gate formed the chief entrance to the burgh of Canongate,
and one of the main approaches to the capital previous to the erection of the
North Bridge. It is a port of considerable antiquity, being represented as
such in the maps of 1544 and 1573 ; and in the Registers of the Burgh for
1574 the Treasurer is ordered “to bye ane lok and key to the Wattir
Yet.”® Through it the Earl of Hertford entcred with the army of Henry
VIII in the former year ; and, at the same place, the Marquis of Montrose,
the Earl of Argyle, and others of less note, were received, on their capture,
with all the ignominy that party rancour could devise.! Perhaps, however,
an unauthorised entrance by the same public thoroughfare, in the year 1661,
may be considered no less singular than any of which it has been the scene,

1 An anonymous letter, addressed to the Bishop by some of his Presbyterian revilers in 1681, is pre-
served among the collection of original documents in the City Chambers. It supplies a sufficiently
minute narrative of his proceedings, both in Edinburgh and elsewhere ; of his escape from an enraged
husband by leaping the Water of Errie, thenceforth called ‘‘ Paterson’s Loup” ; of his dealings with
‘“that Jezebel the Dutchess” ; the Town Guard of Edinburgh, etc., all told in somewhat too plain
language for modern ears.

2 Maitland, p. 155; Arnat, p. 249. The property of this pious foundation appears to have been
alienated long before. We have found, in the Burgh Charter Room, ‘‘ A disposition of house near the
ground of the Holy Cross. John Patersone to Andrew Russell,” dated 1628, which runs thus: ‘‘All
and hail, that fore buith and dwelling-house, and back vault of the same, lying contiguous thereto ;
lying in the ground pertaining to the land sometime pertaining to the puir Bedemen of the Hospital,
founded beside the Abbey of the Holy Cross, by umquhile George, Bishop of Dunkeld ; and under the
nether fore stair of the same, with the pertinents, and free ish and entry thereto ; which tenement lies
within the said Burgh, on the south side of the King’s High Street thereof, at the head of the wynd
called Bell's Wynd.” The name of St. Thomas does not occur in the charter of foundation as given by
Maitland.

3 Register of the Burgh of the Canongate, 18th October 1574.

4 Fountainhall’s Aist. Observes, pp. 185-190.
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In the City Records of Edinburgh, after a gift of escheat granted by the
Council to the Baron Bailie of Canongate of all heritable and movable
goods belonging to the witches thereof, a report follows by the Bailie con-
cerning Barbara Mylne, whom Janet Allen, burnt for witchcraft, “did once
see come in at the Water Gatc in likeness of a catt, and did change her
garment under her awin staire, and went into her house.”! Such residenters
were not effectually expelled from the burgh by the gift of escheat, though
it is probable their worldly circumstances were thereby left more dependent
on their own peculiar resources. We learned from an intelligent old lady,
who resided in the Canongate in her younger years, that one Christian Burns,
who then dwelt in Strachie’s Close, enjoyed the universal rcputation of a
witch ; and on one occasion within her recollection was scored aboon the
breatl,—ie. had a deep cut made in her forehead,—by a neighbouring maltster,
whose brewing, as he believed, had been spoiled by her devilish cantrips.

The Water Gate has long since ceased to be a closed port, but the
Canongate dues are still collected there on all goods entering the burgh.
Its ancient site was marked, till a few years since, by a pointed arch con-
structed of wood, and surmounted with the Canongate arms. This orna-
mental structure having been blown down in 1822, the fishwives of
Newhaven and Musselburgh unanimously rebelled, and refused to pay the
usual burghal impost levied on their burdens of fish. The warfare was
unflinchingly maintained by these amazons for some time; and the magis-
trates were at length compelled to restore peace to their gates by replacing
the decorated representative of the more ancient structure. This, however,
has again been removed, in consequence of the demolition of an antique
fabric on the cast side of the gateway ; and such is the apathy of the present
generation that not even a patriotic fishwife was found to lift her voice
against the sacrilegious removal of this time-honoured landmark !

A radiated arrangement of the paving in the street, directly opposite to
the Water Gate, marks the site of the Girth Cross, the ancient boundary of
the Abbey Sanctuary. It appears in the map of 1573 as an ornamental
shaft elevated on a flight of steps; and it existed in nearly the same state
about 1750, when Maitland wrote his History of Edinburgh. Every vestige
of it has since been removed, but the ancient privileges, which it was
intended to guard, long survived as a curious memorial of the ecclesiastical
founders of the burgh. The origin and significance of the name find illus-
tration in a memorandum of Bishop Lesley, of the year 1512. He is
describing the negotiations of the French ambassador with James IV, which
led ere long to his fatal march to Flodden; and he adds: “ About this
time the laird of Drumweydy wes slane in Edinburgh be tua of the surname
of the Jerdains, qua tuik girthe in Halirudehous and escapit.” This ancient

! Law’s Memorials, Pref. p. Ixix.
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girth-right long survived its old monkish custodians. Within the sacred
enclosures that once bounded the Abbey, and at a later period formed the
chief residence of the Scottish Court, the happy debtor continued to be safe
from the assaults of inexorable creditors, and might dwell at ease in his city
of refuge, if he had becn fortunate enough to bear off with him the necessary
spoils. It was, in truth, an smperium in imperio ; an ancient royal burgh,
with its own courts and judges and laws ; and it still has its claims of watch
and ward, and of feudal service, which every householder is bound to render
as a sworn vassal of thc Abbey during the presence of royalty, the
election of peers, or like occasions of state. Endowed with such peculiar
privileges and immunities, it is not to be wondered at that its inhabitants
regard the ancient capital and its modern rival with equal contempt ; looking
upon them with much the same feeling as one of the Court Cavaliers of
Charles II would have regarded some staid old Presbyterian burgher or
spruce city gallant in his holiday finery. In truth, it is scarcely conceivable
to one who has not taken up his abode within the magic circle, how much
of the fashions of our ancestors, described among the things that were, in our
allusions to the Cape Club and other convivial assemblies of last century,
still survives in undiminished vigour under covert of the Sanctuary’s
protection.

On the south side of the main street, adjoining the outer courtyard of the
Palace, a series of pointed arches along the wall of the Sanctuary Court-
House indicate the remains of the ancient Gothic porch and gate-house of
Holyrood Abbey, beneath whose groined roof the dignitaries of the Church,
the nobles attending on the old Scottish kings, and the becauties of Queen
Mary’s Court passed and repassed to the Abbey Close. Adjoining this
formerly stood Abbot Ballantyne’s “great house or lodging, with the yard
thereof, lying beside the port of Holyrood House, on the north side of the
street.” The groined archway of the fine old porch, with the remains of the
good Abbot’s lodging, forming, with the exception of the now ruined nave,
the most ancient portions of the Abbey Palace, were recklessly demolished by
the hereditary keeper in 1753, in order, it is said, to transfer his apartments
from the gate-house to the main building of the Palace. An inaccurate view
of the porch from the east, copied from a painting by Runciman, is given in
Arnot’s History of Edinburgh, and has been repeatedly copied with varia-
tions more or less fanciful. Skene, in one of his etchings, gives a view from
the Canongate, which may be characterised as wholly fanciful, but which
nevertheless has been followed as an authority in many subsequent drawings.
The only reliable view of it is derived from a careful drawing in the col-
lection of Dr. David Laing, which from its style may be ascribed to one
or other of the brothers Paul or Thomas Sandby. It has been reproduced
on a previous page, and its correctness is partially confirmed by its accord-
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ance with the fragment that still remains. As will be seen, it is a large and
finely proportioned gateway belonging to the ancient abbey and not to the
Palace buildings. It is buttressed and gabled, with a stone-covered roof
within embrasured walls, and a beautiful pointed archway surmounted by a
sculptured tablet apparently representing the unicorn upholding the royal
shield. Its destruction was inexcusable, and robbed the Palace of one of its
most striking and picturesque features. A small and unpretending dwelling,
which now occupies part of the site of Abbot Ballantyne’s mansion, may
perhaps excite interest in the minds of some curious readers as having once
been the house of the notorious Lucky Sgence, celebrated in the verses of
Allan Ramsay in terms somewhat more graphic than poetical! A singular
discovery was made about fourteen years since, during the progress of some
alterations on this building, which furnishes a vivid illustration of the desperate
deeds occasionally practised under the auspices of its former occupant. In
breaking out a new window on the ground floor a cavity was found in the
wall containing the skeleton of a child, with some remains of a fine linen
cloth in which it had been wrapped. Our authority, a worthy shoemaker
who has occupied the house for the last forty-eight years, was present when
this mysterious discovery was made, and described very graphically the
amazement and horror of the workman, who threw away his crowbar, and
was with difficulty persuaded to resume operations.

At the corner of the Horse Wynd, immediately to the west of the
Abbey Court-House, a dilapidated mansion of considerable extent is pointed
out as the residence of the unfortunate Rizzio, though it is an crection of
probably a century later than the bloody deed that has given so much
interest to the name of the Italian favourite. A curious and exceedingly
picturesque court enclosed by the buildings behind bore in earlier times the
name of the Chancellor’s Court, having probably at some period formed the
residence of that official dignitary. It is described in the title-deeds as
bounded by “the venall leading to the king’s stables on the south, and the
Horse Wynd on the west parts ”—a definition which indicates the site of the
royal mews to have been on the west side of the Abbey Close. More
recent and trustworthy traditions than those above referred to point out
a large room on the first floor of this house as having been the scene of
proceedings already referred to, connected with the rchearsal of Home’s
Douglas, in which the reverend author was assisted by Lord Elibank, Lord
Milton, Principal Robertson, David Hume, Dr. Carlyle of Inveresk, Professor
Ferguson, and Dr. Blair. Their actual share in the performance probably
consisted in no more than reading the dialogue in parts; but scandal
accredited the divines with the assumption of female characters and attire on
the stage. It was, however, sufficiently scandalous to have countenanced

! ¢“Lucky Spence’s Last Advice,” Ramsay’s Poems, 4to, p. 33.
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the drama by their presence at the rehearsal, and at the dinner which suc-
ceeded it in the Erskine Club, at the Abbey.! The old tenement wherein
this singular assemblage took place was in course of demolition to make way
for a chapel and school founded by the Duchess of Gordon, for the inhabitants
of the sanctuary, when the first edition of this work was passing through the
press. The antique building to the south, separated from this by the vennel
mentioned above, appears from the title, to have been the residence of
Francis Lord Napier at the memorable era of the Union Parliament.

The ancient Tennis Court which has been repeatedly referred to in the
course of this work, the frequent scene of dramatic amusements of the
royal occupants of Holyrood, survives now only in name; but this suffices
to mark its site immediately without the Water Gate. The game of tennis
was a favourite sport throughout Europe during the last century. Its most
celebrated Scottish players are said to have been James Hepburn, Esq.
of Keith, and the famous John Law, of Laurieston, afterwards comptroller-
general of the finances in France? The whole area to the eastward of the
Tennis Court appears in Edgar's map as open garden ground attached
to the Palace, with the exception of the small building known as Queen
Mary’s Bath; but shortly after Lord Adam Gordon, commander of the
forces in Scotland, took up his residence at Holyrood Palace in 1789, he
granted permission to several favourite veterans who had served under him
abroad to erect small booths and cottages along the garden wall ; and they
so effectually availed themselves of the privilege that several of the cottages
have since risen to be substantial three and four-storied lands. John Keith,
a favourite subaltern, obtained at that time the piece of ground immediately
adjoining Queen Mary’s Bath, and in the course of rearing the large building,
which now remains in the possession of his daughters, he had to demolish
part of a turret staircase which led to the roof of the Bath. Here, on re-
moving a portion of the slating, a richly inlaid dagger of antique form, but
greatly corroded with rust, was found sticking in the sarking of the roof.
It remained for many years in the possession of the veteran owner, and used
to hang above the parlour fireplace along with his own sword. His daughter,
to whom we owe these particulars, described the ancient weapon “as though
it had the king’s arms on it, done in gold.” It was finally lent to a young
friend, to add to his other decorations, preparatory to his figuring in one of
the processions during the visit of George IV to Edinburgh in 1822, and
was lost through the carelessness of the borrower. This curious relic of
antiquity has been supposed, not without some appearance of probability, to
have formed one of the weapons of the murderers of Rizzio, who are known

! Vide Burton's Life of Hume, vol. i. p. 420, where it is shown that Dr. Robertson was not then

Principal, nor Dr. Ferguson Professor ; though this is of little account, if they lived at the time in friend-
ship with Home. 2 Archaol. Scot. vol. i. p. 508.
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to have escaped through this part of the royal gardens. This curious and
exceedingly picturesque lodge of the ancient Palace has since then been
recognised as an interesting historical relic well worthy of preservation. The
tradition of its having been used as a bath by the Scottish Queen is of old
standing. Pennant tells us seriously that Mary is reported to have used a
bath of white wine to exalt her charms; a custom, he adds, strange, but not
without precedent.! Other no less efficacious means have been assigned as
expedients resorted to by Queen Mary for shielding her beauty against the
assaults of time, but the existence of a very fine spring of water immediately
underneath the earthen floor may lend some probability to her use of the
pure and limpid element.

Beyond this lies the district of Abbey Hill, an old-fashioned suburb
which has risen up around the outskirts of the Palace, and includes one or
two ancient fabrics that probably formed the residence of the courtiers of
Holyrood in days of yore. Here is a narrow lane leading into St. Anne’s
Park, which bears the curious Gaelic title of Croft-an-righ, or the King’s
Field, a name that furnishes very intelligible evidence of its ancient enclosure
within the royal demesnes. One tenement near the Palace has the angles
of its southern gable flanked with large round turrets, in the castcllated style
of James VI's reign, while the north front is ornamented with dormer
windows. This antique fabric answers generally to the description of the
mansion purchased by William Graham, Earl of Airth, from the Earl of
Linlithgow at the instigation of his wwoefull wyse wyfe. 1t is described by
him as the house at the back of the Abbey of Holyrood House which
sometime belonged to the Lord Elphinstone ; and though he adds, “ within
two years after or thereby, that house took fyre accedintallie, and wes totallie
burned, as it standeth now, like everie thing that the unhappie woman, my
wyfe, lade hir hand to,”? many of our old Scottish houses have survived
such conflagrations, and still remain in like good condition.

The view of St. Anne’s Yard shows a little hamlet that grew up within
the precincts of the Abbey sanctuary towards the end of the seventeenth
century, and was swept away when Prince Albert undertook the remodelling
of the Royal Park; and Holyrood Palace became for a time a favoured
resting-place on the journeys of Queen Victoria from Windsor to Balmoral.
“The Shepherd’s Tryst,” a picturesque, high-gabled dwelling, with dormer
windows of the time of James VI, stood on the sloping bank at the foot of
Salisbury Crags, and between this and the Palace privileged retainers were
allowed gradually to encroach on “the king’s garden.” Buildings clustered
around the old well, enclosing an open court ; and then extending on either
side of the lane leading to the Crags. The origin of this pendicle of Holy-
rood, and the traditions connected with its occupants, are almost exclusively

1 Pennant’s Zowr, vol. i. p. 71. * Minor Antiquities, p. 271.
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associated with a family whose history is coeval with the place. In 1689
William Miller, one of a primitive little community of Friends, or Quakers, in
Lanarkshire, was installed in the office of gardener at Holyrood, through the
influence of the Duke of Hamilton, hereditary keeper of the Palace. He is
described, in a family journal, as travelling to his new house “in patriarchal
simplicity, on foot, with his children and worldly goods slung in panniers on
the backs of two asses.” In the formal latinity of a later official document
he is designated “Hortularius in Abbatu de Holyrood-House.” In
Edinburgh he maintained his fidelity to the Society of Friends, and was for
many years clerk and treasurer of the Meeting, carefully husbanding its
funds and cntering many quaint records on its minutes. His wife, Margaret
Cassie, was greatly esteemed as a gifted preacher and a faithful confessor
in persecuting times, when she was repeatedly exposed to cruel violence, and
“was for some time a prisoner for truth in a dungeon at Montrose.” The
house in the centre of the view, latterly known as “The Holyrood Dairy,”
was the residence of the old gardener; and here, “when Friends were shut
out from their meeting-house by the persecuting magistrates, and in conse-
quence were wont to meet at the foot of our own turne pike,” Margaret
Miller bravcly took her stand as preacher, with her husband and a son on
either side protecting her from the brutal fury of the rabble.

But times changed. George, the eldest son, became a wealthy burgess
and guild brother, somewhat inconsistently making “his solemn affirmation
of fidelity to His Majestie, King George the Second,” and then having his
house searched, as a notorious Jacobite, for Prince Charles Edward, who
was believed to be in hiding there. The sacred precincts of “the king's
garden” having been encroached upon for so reasonable a concession as a
site for the gardener’s lodging, the successful invaders followed up their
advantage. George Miller, a grandson of the royal gardener, founded a
brewery there, which figures in the accompanying view. It was celebrated
for the excellence of its liquor, popularly known among Edinburgh topers as
“true Quaker ale, with the hat on!” He made his fortune, settled down as
a laird on his own lands in the East Neuk o' Fife, and figures in his
portrait, preserved at Millerfield, in the very unquakerly garb of a finely-
flowered vest, blue coat with brass buttons, ruffled shirt, and powdered hair.

But the interest which attaches to the devout old Holyrood gardencr
is mainly due to two descendants of his younger son, William, each
perpetuating the name, though widely dissimilar in their characteristics.
William Miller, younger son of “the patriarch,” as he is styled in the family
journal, rented the royal garden, and as a successful nurseryman and florist
throve in life, and died leaving to his heirs such wealth and landed estate
that the history of the later generations receives ample recognition in
Burke's Landed Gentry. His descendant, William Henry Miller, inherited
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the picturesque mansion of Craigantinnie, near Restalrig, the property in
olden centuries of the Nisbets of Dean. He was a graduate of Cambridge,
a black-letter scholar, and passionately devoted to his books; but shy,
reserved, inordinately abstemious, and eccentric in his habits. He amassed
a library, described by Dr. David Laing as “ containing for rarity and condi-
tion an unrivalled collection of books. in early English literature.” He was
so indefatigable in the pursuit of tall uncut copies of choice old authors that
he acquired the sobriquet of “Measure Miller,” and figures among the
maskers in Dr. J. Hill Burton’s Book Hunter as “ Inchrule Brewer.” He be-
queathed his unique collection of books, valued at £80,000, to his old college
at Cambridge; but hampered with so many absurd conditions that, covetable
as were its prized contents, the gift was declined. He regarded everything
modern with distrust, was a high Tory in politics, and with strange perver-
sity the scholarly recluse thrice contested the seat of Newcastle-under-Lyne,
and won his elections at enormous cost. He was notable for his spare figure,
thin treble voice, and total absence of beard. Among the villagers of
Restalrig he was mysteriously spoken of as a fairy changeling ; and when
on his death his body was, in accordance with the provisions of his will,
interred in his own grounds in a grave sixty feet deep, the popular belief
received fresh currency that the laird of Craigantinnie was a woman! The
ingenious satirist already referred to, while averring in his Book Hunter that
the marvellous knowledge of “Inchrule” was confined to the exterior of his
books, thus slyly hints at the popular fancy : “ The minuteness and precision
of his knowledge excited wonder, and being anomalous in the male sex,
even among collectors, gave occasion to a rumour that its possessor must
veritably be an aged maiden in disguise.”! A costly monument has been
reared over his grave, fashioned, in accordance with his instructions, on the
model of one of the mausoleums in the Via Appia at Rome. It is adorned
with elaborate bas-reliefs, the work of an Italian sculptor, representing the
overthrow of Pharaoh, and Miriam’s song of triumph : “ Sing ye to the Lord,
" for He hath triumphed gloriously ; the horse and his rider hath he thrown into
the sea.” The aptness of such decorations on this magnificent mausoleum,
as a memorial of the eccentric recluse, is not easily imaginable. But it forms
a striking feature in the suburban landscape a little way to the north of the
Portobello road, and is a curious finale to the line of descent from one of
the boys who in 1689 journeyed from the west in an ass’s pannier, along
with all his father’s worldly goods, to enter on possession of their little plot
in the king’s garden at Holyrood.
Very different is the history of another notable descendant of the old
! The Book Hunter, 2d ed. p. 16. The sobriquet /nchrule Brewer, a covert allusion to the

supposed descent of the laird of Craigantinnie, was a mistake. It should have been /nchrule Gardener ;
only that would have been less piquant.
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Holyrood worthy. Not among legislators, nor in the records of the landed
gentry, have we to search for information relative to the later William Miller,
a younger grandson of George, the brewer, who added to the devout sim-
plicity of “the patriarch ” rare gifts in an important branch of art. He is
the engraver to whose burin we owe some of the choicest reproductions of
Turner’s landscapes, including his prized pictures of “The Grand Canal,
Venice,” “ Kilchurn Castle,” “ The Rhine,” and “ Modern Italy,” all engraved
on the largest scale. The great landscape painter affirmed William Miller to
be unequalled in his art; and “ Grecian Williams,” another eminent painter,
pronounced his work “ perfectly exquisite,” and rejoiced in having his own
drawings transformed “through the witchery of his burin” 1In his later
years he devoted himself more to painting in water colours, producing works
of great beauty, true to nature, but revealing strongly the influence of Turner
on his art. His studio and hospitable mansion stood till recently at Miller-
field, on the south side of the Meadows, though hemmed in with the
encroaching town, where in his own early years an unobstructed view
commanded Arthur Seat and the Pentland Hills. A sundial of fine pro-
portions and artistic beauty of detail formed a conspicuous feature in the
garden, with its motto from Horace, Odes, Book II. xiv.

“ Eheu ! fugaces, Posthume, Posthume,
Labuntur anni.”

It was carved from his own design, and its dial-plate engraved by himself,
and remained as it was set up by him in the centre of the old-fashioned
parterre, with its winding paths and quaint boxwood edgings : the haunt from
earliest youth of the gentle, gifted artist, who retained his faculties in full
vigour to the close, in his eighty-sixth year, of a life of unostentatious
benevolence and unwearied devotion to art.



CHAPTER VIII

ST. LEONARDS, ST. MARY'S WYND, AND THE COWGATE

Doorway of Andrew Sympson the Printer's House, Cowgate.

HE date of erection of the first houses in thc ancient thoroughfare of

the Cowgate may be referred, without hesitation, to the reign of James
ITI, when the example of the King, who, as Drummond relates, “was much
given to buildings, and trimming up of chappels, halls, and gardens,” was likely
to encourage his courtiers to rivalry in rearing elegant and costly mansions.
At the same time the increasing numbers of the population consequent on
the frequent assembling of the Parliament, and the presence of the Court at
Edinburgh, tempted citizens of rank and wealth to select sites for their
dwellings beyond the recently built walls of the capital. Evidence, indeed,
derived from some early charters, seems to prove the existence of buildings
beyond the range of the first wall, prior to its erection, but these were at
most isolated rural dwellings, and cannot be considered as having formed
any part of the street.

The whole southern declivity of the old town, on which the closes
extending between the High Street and the Cowgate have since been ranged,
must then have formed a rough and unencumbered slope like the Castle bank,
surmounted by the wall and towers erected by virtue of the charter of James
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Il in 1450 ; and skirted at its base by the open roadway that led from the
Abbey of Holyrood to the more ancient Church of St. Cuthbert, below the
Castle rock. It requires, indeed, a stretch of the imagination to conceive of
this crowded steep, which has rung for centuries with the busy sounds of life
and industry, as a rugged slope, occupied only by brushwood and flowering
shrubs ; yet the change effected on it in the fifteenth century was only such
another cxtension as aged citizens can rcmember to have witnessed on a
greater scale over the downs and cultivated fields now occupied by the
modern city. To the same period may be referred, with much probability,
the ercction of houses along the ancient roadway from Leith that skirted the
cast wall of the town ; and probably also the founding of the nunnery from
whence the southern portion of it derived its name of the Pleasance, although
Chalmers assigns the origin of the latter to “the uncertain piety of the
twelfth century.”! Spottiswoode remarks, “in the chartularies of St. Giles,
the Nuns of St. Mary’s Wynd in the City of Edinburgh are recorded. The
chapel and convent stood near to the walls of the garden belonging at present
to the Marquis of Tweeddale, and from its being consecrated to the Virgin
Mary, the street took its name, which it still retains.”? A curious allusion
to this chapel occurs in the statutes of the burgh of Edinburgh, enacted
during the dreadful visitation of the plague in 1530, where Marione Clerk is
convicted by an assize of concealing her infection, and of having “ past
amangis the nychtbouris of this toune to the chapell of Sanct Mary Wynd
on Sonday to the mess, and to hir sisteris housc and vther placis,” the
pestilence being upon her, and thereby, as the statute says, doing all that
was in her to have infected the whole town. The unhappy woman, convicted
of the crime of going to church, during her illness, is condemned to be
drowned in the Quarell Holes ; and there can be no doubt that the barbarous
sentence was carried into execution® The salary of the chaplain of St.

v Caledonia, vol. ii. p. 761. % Spottiswoode’s Aeligious Houses, 1755, p. 283.

3 Acts and Statutes of the Burgh of Edinburgh, Afa:t. AMisc. vol. ii. p. 115.  This proceeding is by
no means a solitary case. The following, which is of date 2d August 1530, is rendered more noticeable
by the reasons for mercy that follow: * The quhilk day forsamekle as it wes perfytlie vnderstand and
kend that Dauid Duly, tailyour, has haldin his wif seyk in the contagius seiknes of pestilens ij dayis in
his house, and wald nocht revele the samyn to the officiaris of the toune quhill scho wes deid in the said
seiknes. And in the meyn tyme the said Dauid past to Sanct Gelis Kirk, quhilk was Sonday, and thair
said mess amangis the cleyne pepill, his wif beand 1 extremis in the said seiknes, doand quhat was in
him till haif infekkit all the toune. For the quhilk causis he was adiugit to be hangit on ane gebat
befor his awin durr, and that wes gevin for dome.”

The following notice of same date proves the execution of this strange sentence on the unfortunate
widower, though he happily survived the effects: ““ The quhilk day florsamekle as Dauid Duly was
decernit this day, befor none, for his demeritis to be hangit on ane gebbat befor his dure quhar he ducllis,
nochtwithstanding éecause at the will of God he hes eschapit, and the raip brokin, and fallin of the gibbat,
and is ane pure man with small barnis, and for pete of him, the prouest, ballies, and counsall, bannasis
the said Dauid this toune for all the dais of his lyf, and nocht to cum tharintill in the meyn tyme vnder
the pain of deid.”—/é:d. pp. 107, 108.
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Mary’s Nunnery was, in 1499, only sixteen shillings and eightpence sterling
yearly ; and its whole revenues were probably never large, the most of them
having apparently been derived from voluntary contributions! The site of
this ancient religious foundation was on the west side of the wynd, where it
contracts in breadth, a few yards bclow the Nether Bow. Of its origin or
founders nothing further is known, but it was most probably dismantled and
ruined in the Douglas wars, when the houses in St. Mary’s and Leith Wynds
were unroofed and converted into defensive barriers by the beleaguered
citizens? The late Mr. C. K. Sharpe possessed an antique gold ring, set
with a coarse bloodstone, which was found in an excavation in St. Mary’s
Wynd. It bore round the hoop, in characters of the fifteenth century,
the invocation : GOD . HELP . WIT . MARIA.

An interest attaches to the tenement directly opposite to the site of St.
Mary’s Chapel, and forming the south side of the alley leading into Boyd's
Close, as having been the residence of James Norie, painter, the celcbrated
decorator during the earlier part of last century, to whom we have already
frequently referred. James Norie is ranked as the earliest Scottish land-
scape painter ; and had he not been tempted by the more lucrative work of
the house dccorator, he might have won for himself fair rank as an artist.
Pinkerton, in his introduction to the Scottisk Gallery, 1799, says: “ Noric's
genius for landscapes entitles him to a place in the history of Scotch
painters.” A close friendship was maintained between him and the poet,
Allan Ramsay; and his name appears in the register of baptism of the
poet’s younger daughter, Agnes, as one of her sponsors. Under his instruc-
tion Alexander Runciman, and also, it is believed, Allan Ramsay, the son of
the poet, acquired their training in art; and he figures as a subscriber to
the first edition of Ramsay’s Poems, published in a handsome quarto volume
in 1721, with his portrait as the frontispiece, cngraved from a painting by

L Arnot, p. 247. )

2 The following is the reference to the chapel in the titles of the property occupying its site: ** All
and hail these two old tenements of land lying together on the west side of St. Mary’s Wynd, near the
head of the same ; the one on the south of old pertaining to Robert and Andrew Harts, and the other
on the north called Crenzen’s Land ; and that laigh dwelling-house, entering from St. Mary’s Wynd,
on the west side thereof, in the south part of the tenement, of old called St. Mary’s Chapel.” In the
Inventarium Jocalium Altaris Monasterii Sancte Crucis, 1493 (Bann. Misc. vol. ii. p. 24), there is
mentioned ‘‘vna reliquia argentea pro altari Sancte Katerine cum osse eiusdem, quam fecit dominus
Iohannes Crunzanne, quondam Vicarius de Vre.” [Aberdeenshire.] It is possible this may have been
the chaplain of the nunnery, from whence the neighbouring tenement derived its name. Besides
Altarages dedicated to the Virgin, there were in Edinburgh and its neighbourhood the Abbey Church
of Holyrood, founded in honour of the Holy Cross, the blessed Virgin, and all Saints; Trinity College
Church, in honour of the Holy Trinity, the ever-blessed and glorious Virgin Mary, etc. ; the large
Collegiate Church of St. Mary in the Fields; St. Mary’s Chapel and Nunnery in St. Mary’s Wynd ;
St. Mary’s Chapel, Niddry's Wynd ; the Virgin Mary’s Chapel, Portsburgh ; the Hospital of Our Lady,
Leith Wynd ; the Chapel and Convent of St. Mary de Placentia in the Pleasance ; the great Church at
Leith, of old styled St. Mary’s Chapel ; and the Collegiate Church of Restalrig, the seal of which— now
of very rare occurrence,—bears the figure of the Virgin and Child, under a Gothic canopy.
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John Smibert. On St. Luke’s Day, 18th October 1729, the Edinburgh
Schoo!l of St. Luke was founded ; and on the roll of founders, now in the
possession of the Royal Scottish Academy, Norie’s signature appears along
with those of his crony, Allan Ramsay, and of his son, the younger Allan, who
at a later date, before the advent of Sir Joshua Reynolds, was the popular
portrait painter at the Court of George III. Norie’s own portrait, painted by
Ramsay, now in the collection of the Royal Scottish Academy, shows a well-
formed, genial face, sct off, according to the fashion of the day, with a full-
bottomed wig, such as the Lord Chancellor now wears only when in official
costume. James Norie’s best pictures are in the style of the Dutch school
of landscape painters, frequently with the glow of an evening sky, and
suggesting a familiarity with the works of Cuyp and Hobbima. His work-
shop lay immediately behind and adjoining to the coach-house of Iord
Milton, as appears from the titles of the property. Both buildings were
afterwards converted into stabling for Boyd’s celebrated White Horse
Inn. The Pleasance and St. Mary’s Wynd then formed the approach
to the town by one of the grecat roads from the south of Scotland ; and here,
accordingly, were scveral of the principal inns. At the foot of the wynd
was Mr. Peter Ramsay’s famed cstablishment, from which he retired with an
ample fortune, and withdrew to his estate of Barnton, in the neighbourhood
of Edinburgh, still possessed by his descendants. A large and handsome
edifice, with considerable pretensions to architectural ornament, near the foot
of the Pleasance was the Black Bull Inn, another of those commodious and
fashionable establishments, which the erection of the North and South Bridges
ruined, by diverting the current of visitors to the capital into a new
channel.

During the troubles of the Commonwealth, and Cromwell’s invasion in
1650, Nicoll reports that “the toun demolished the haill houssis in St
Marie Wynd, that the enymie sould haif no schelter thair, bot that thai
mycht haif frie pas to thair cannoun, quhilk thai haid montit upone the
Neddir Bow.”! The oldest date now observable is that of 1680, cut over
the doorway of a house about the middle of the wynd on the east side,
but one or two other tencments present features of an earlier character. At
the foot of the wynd was situated the Cowgate Port, one of the city gatcs,
constructed with the extended wall in 1513 ; and at a later period another
was erected across the wynd at its junction with the Pleasance, which was
known as St. Mary’s or the Pleasance Port. This was a frequent scenc
of exposure of the dismembered limbs of political offenders, as in the case
of Garnock and other Covenanters, whose heads were ordered “to be struck
off, and set up upon pricks upon the Pleasance Port of Edinburgh.”2 The
old port was demolished on the approach of the rebels in 1715, from the

1 Nicoll’s Diary, p. 24. 2 Fountainhall's Decisions, vol. i. p. 159.
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difficulty of maintaining it in case of assault ;1 but part of the wall remained,
surmounted by one of the iron spikes, until its demolition in 1837 to make
way for the new Heriot’s School. This ancient thoroughfare is commended
in Fergusson’s “ Address to Auld Reekie” as the unfailing resort of thread-
bare poets, and the like patrons of the Edinburgh rag-fair. It still continued,
till its transformation into the ampler thoroughfare of St. Mary’s Street, to
be the mart for such miscellaneous merchandise, flaunting in the motley
colours of cast-off finery, and presided over by
¢St Mary, broker’s guardian saunt.’

Beyond St. Mary’s Port lay the convent dedicated to Sancta Maria de
Placentia. It stood about sixty yards from the south-east angle of the city
wall, not far from the foot of Roxburgh Street. Among the donations to
the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland in 1781 is “a representation of our
Saviour before the Jewish high priest, carved in alabaster,” which is stated
to have been found in the ruins of an old religious house in the Pleasance.
This is perhaps the only surviving relic of the ancient foundation, of which
little more is known than the name.? This district anciently formed a part
of the town of St. Leonards, as it is styled in the charter of Charles I. con-
firming the superiority of it to the magistrates of Edinburgh; and the name
of Pleasance, that early superseded its quaint title of Dearenough, and by
which the main thoroughfare of this ancient village is still known, preserves
a memorial of its long-extinct convent. Some singularly primitive erections,
which remained on the east side of the street, are reproduced in the accom-
panying illustration, from a sketch made in 1840. A plain but very sub-
stantial stone structure of a single story is seen surmounted by a timber
superstructure mainly consisting of a long sloping roof, pierced with irregular
windows and loopholes wherever convenience suggested an opening; while
the whole plan of domestic architecture is evidently the result of a state
of society when it was no unusual occurrence for the villager to carry off
his straw roof along with him, and leave the enemy to work their will on
the deserted walls.®

St. John’s Hill and the Pleasance form a portion of the long ridge which
skirts the valley at the base of Salisbury Crags. The whole of this ground
appears to have been ecclesiastical property in early times, and appropriated
to various religious foundations, all of which were subject to the canons of
Holyrood.* St. Leonard’s Lane bounded it on the south, separating it on

1 Keith's Hist., Spottiswoode Soc., vol. ii. p. 619.

2 Maitland, p. 176. Piacenza, or Placentia, is now the second town in the Duchy of Parma. The
Church of S. Maria di Campagna belongs to the Franciscan Friars. It was made the subject of special
privileges by Pope Urban II, owing to his mother being buried there.

3 A relic of a remoter era, a coin of the Roman Emperor Vespasian, was found in a garden in the

Pleasance, and presented to the Society of Antiquaries in 1782. —Account of the Society, p. 72.
4 The following names of property in the neighbourhood of Edinburgh occur in the Stent Rolls of
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that side from the Borough Moor. At the junction of these lands there
stood, in ancient times, a cross, erected in memory of one Umfraville, a
person of distinction, who was slain on the spot in some forgotten contest.
The Scottish Umfravilles were of Norman blood. In 1243 Gilbert de
Umfraville, Lord of Prudhow and Harbottil, in Northumberland, became
Earl of Angus, by right of marriage with Matilda, Countess in her own right.
His name appears at an earlier date as witness to a confirmation of one of
the charters of Holyrood Abbey ; and in a subsequent charter he appears as
bestowing a carucate of land in Kinard on the same Abbey.! The shaft
of the cross had long disappeared, having probably been destroyed at the
Reformation ; but the base, a large block of whinstone measuring fully five
feet square, with a hollow socket for the shaft, was only removed in 1810.
On an eminence at the end of the lane stood the chapel and hospital of St.
Leonard, but not a fragment of cither is now left, though the font and holy
water stoup remained in Maitland’s time, and the enclosed ground was then
sct apart as a cemetery for sclf-murderers. When, soon afterwards, it was
wholly turned into garden-ground, the local poet, Claudero, dedicated an
elegy to “the tuneful nine” On the Pollution of St. Leonard’s Hill, a con-
secrated and ancient burial-place near Edinburgh, of which one stanza may
suffice—

““The High Priest there, with art and care,
Hath purg’d with gard'ner's skill,
And trench’d out bones of Adam’s sons
Repos’d in Leonard’s Hill.”

The hospital was erected for the reception of strangers, and the maintenance
of the poor and infirm; and near to it there was another on the road
betwixt Edinburgh and Dalkeith, founded by Robert Ballantyne, Abbot of
Holyrood, for seven poor people. Of hospitals of this class, which were
governed by a superior who bore the title of A/agister, Spottiswoode enumer-
ates twenty-eight in Scotland at the period of the Reformation?  St.
Leonard’s Chapel was the scene of a traitorous meeting of the Douglases,
held on the 2d of February 1528, to concert the assassination of their
sovereign, James V.> They were to enter the Palace by a window at the
head of the King’s bed, which was pointed out by Sir James Hamilton, one
of their accomplices, who used to be the King’s bedfellow, according to the
homely fashion of the times. The energetic measures which were adopted

Holyrood, 1578-1630 : ‘‘ The Kirkland of Libertoun, the landis callit Pleasance and Deiranewch, the
aikeris callit Biedmannis Croft of Sanct Leonardis gait, the landis of Bonyngtoun, the landis of Pilrig
and commoun mvir, the landis of Wareistoun, the landis of Brochtoun, the landis of Coittis, the landis
of Sauchtonhall and Sauchton,” etc.—Lisber Cartarum, p. cxvii.
1 Maitland, p. 276 ; Léb. Cart. Sancte Crucis, pp. 24, 34.
3 Spottiswoode’s Religious Houses, p. 291. 3 Caledosnia, vol. ii. p. 615.
VOL. 1I K
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on the discovery of this plot greatly tended to secure the peace and good
government of the capital.

The Cowgate Port, at the foot of the Pleasance, one of the principal
gates of the city, afforded access to the ancient street from whence it derived
its name. Alexander Alesse, a canon of St. Andrews, who left Scotland in
1532, to escape the persecution to which he was exposed in consequence of
adopting the principles of the early reformers, describes the Cowgate thus :
“ Infiniti viculi, qui omnes excelsis sunt ornati ®dibus, sicut et Via Vaccarum ;
in qua habitant patricii et senatores urbis, et in qua sunt principum regni
palatia, ubi nihil est humile aut rusticum, sed omnia magnifica.” Mecan and
degraded as this ancient thoroughfare now is, there are not wanting traces
of those palmy days when the nobles and senators of the capital had their
palaces therc, whose magnificence excited the admiration of strangers, though
now its name has almost passed into a byword. A little to the westward,
beyond a slight but picturesque old fabric which forms the north side of the
Cowgate Port, the large old gateway remains which gave access to the
extensive pleasure-grounds attached to the Marquis of Twceddale’s residence.
In Edgar’s map this garden-ground appears rising in a succession of terraces
towards the noble residence, and thickly planted in parts with trees ; never-
theless, the whole area had been covered at an earlier period with the crowded
dwellings of the ancient capital, as appears from Gordon’s view of 1647,
and now the gardens are anew giving place to rude masonry. The Cowgate
Chapel occupies one large portion, and manufactories and meaner buildings
hem them in on every side. Towards the west, at the foot of Gray’s Close, is
Elphinstone’s Court, already described, and beyond it the Mint Court still
stands, with its sombre and massive turret of polished ashlar work protruding
into the narrow thoroughfare of the Cowgate.

The venerable quadrangle of the Scottish Mint is formed by an irregular
assemblage of buildings of various ages and styles, most of which still retain
traces of the important operations once carried on within their walls. The
Mint House was on the west side of the Abbey Close at Holyrood Palace
in the earlier part of Quecn Mary’s reign, as appears from evidence previously
quoted. From thence it was removed for greater safety to the new Mint
House erected in the Castle in 1559 ;! and although, during the troubled
period that followed soon after, the chief coining operations were carried on
at Dalkeith and elsewhere, Sir William Kirkaldy still made use of “the
cunzie hous in the Castle of Edinburgh, quilk cunzet the auld cunzie of the
Queen.”! No other Mint House was permanently established in Edinburgh

1 In the Treasurers’ Accounts the following entry occurs, February 1562-63 : “ Item, allowit to the
Comptar, be payment maid be Johne Achesoun, Maister Cwnzeour, to Maister William M‘Dowgale,
Maister of Werk, for expensis maid be him vpon the bigging of the Cwnze-hous, within the Castell of
Edinburgh, and beting of the Cwnze-hous within the Palace of Halicrudhouse, fra the xi day of Februar
1559 zeris, to the 21 of April 1560, £460, 4s. 1d.” 2 Diurnal of Occurrents, p. 291.
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until the almost total destruction of the buildings in the Castle during the
memorable siege of 1572. The date over the main entrance to the most
ancient portion of the buildings in the Cowgate, at the foot of Todrick's
Wynd, is 1574, showing that their erection took place almost immediately
after the demolition of the Castle.

This remnant of one of the most important Government Offices of
Scotland at that early date is a curious sample of the heavy and partially
castellated edifices of the period. The whole building was probably intended,
when completed, to form a quadrangle surrounded on every side by sub-
stantial walls, well suited for defence against any ordinary assault ; while its
halls were lighted from the enclosed court. The small windows of the lower
floor remain in their original state, divided by an oaken transom, and the
under part closed with a pair of folding shutters. The massive ashlar walls
are relieved by ornamental string-courses, and surmounted by gables decor-
ated with large pedimented crow-steps of the earliest form. The original
cntrance, which is on the west side of the projecting turret, has long been
closed up, and its sill is now sunk considerably below the level of the paving,
owing to the gradual rising of the street, so common in earlier times, and of
which we shall have occasion to refer to more surprising proofs. It bears
on its lintel the legend, neatly cut in Roman characters: BE - MERCIFVL -
TO-ME-O-GOD - 1574, above which is an ornamental niche, not un-
likely to have contained a bust of King James. The internal marks of
former magnificence are more abundant than those on the exterior, not-
withstanding the humble uses to which the buildings have latterly been
applied ; in particular, some portions of a very fine oak ceiling still remain,
wrought in Gothic panelling, and retaining traces of the heraldic blazonry
with which it was originally adorned. Two large and handsome windows,
above the archway leading to Todrick’s Wynd, gave light to this once
magnificent hall, which ordinarily formed the council-room where the
officers of the Mint assembled to assay the metal and to discuss the general
affairs of the establishment, but was occasionally turned to account for
special state ceremonials. Here was the scene of a splendid banquet given
“at the requeist of the Kingis Majestie, and for honour of the toun,” to the
Danish nobles and ambassadors who came over in the train of Anne, Queen
of James VI, in 1590. The King writes, while absent on his matrimonial
expedition, to Sir Alexander Lindsay, whom he soon after created
Lord Spynie, “from the Castell of Croneburgh, quhaire we are drinking
and dryuing our in the auld maner”; and the entertainment provided for
his guests on his return appears to have shown no wish for a change of
fashion in this respect. The banquet was furnished, on Sunday even-
ing, in the great hall at the foot of Todrick’s Wynd, which was hung with
tapestry and decorated with flowers for the occasion; and the wine and
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" ale form the chief items in the provision ordered by the Council for the
noble strangers.!

In the introductory historical sketch extracts arc given from the very
curious poem by John Bvrel, written on the occasion of Queen Anne’s
arrival, and entitled, “The Description of the Qveenis Maiestics maist
honourable entry into the tovn of Edinbvrgh.” The history of the author
is unknown, but we have found among the title-deceds of part of the old
property at the foot of Todrick’s Wynd a disposition of a house by *“John
Burrell, goldsmith, yane of the printers in his majestie’s cunzie hous,” dated

. 1628, and which, when taken in connection with the profuse and very
circumstantial minuteness with which the poet dwells on the jewellery that
was displayed on that occasion, scems to afford good presumptive evidence
of this being the same person. After devoting nine stanzas to such
professional details, he sums up the inventory by declaring—

‘“ All precius stains micht thair be sene,

Quihilk in the world had ony name,

Save that quhilk Cleopatra Queene
Did swallow ore into hir wame!”

The poet proceeds thereafter to describe with equal zest the golden chains
and other ornaments made of the precious metals, and concludes with a
patriotic supplication to Heaven on behalf of the good town. The goldsmiths
connected with the Mint would appear to have possessed lodgings either
within the building or in its immediate neighbourhood ; and it was no doubt
owing to George Heriot’s professional avocations that he obtained the great
tenement forming the north side of the Mint Court, which was afterwards
devised by him as the most suitable place for his benevolent foundation.?
George Heriot’s large messuage or tenement was found by his executors
to be waste and ruinous, and altogether unsuited for the purposes of his
foundation. The buildings that now occupy its site appear to have been
erected exactly a century later than the older portion of the Mint Close.
An ornamental sun-dial, which decorates the eastern wing, bears the date
1 215t May 1590. *‘ The quhilk day, John Arnott, Provest, Henry Charteris, etc., being convenit
in the counsall at the requeist of the Kingis Majestie, and for honour of the Toun; It was thocht and
agreit to mak ane honourabill banket to the Dence Imbassadours, and the famous persouns of thair
company, quha arryvet furth of Denmark with the King and Queynis Majesties, and this upoun the
Townis charges and expensis, to be maid in Thomas Aitchisoun’s, Master of the Cunyie hous lugeing at
Todrik’s Wynd fute, upon Sonday at evin next to cum ; and for the making of the preparatioun and
furnessing thairto, hes set doun and devyset the ordour following ; to wit, that the Thesaurer caus bye
and lay in four punsheons wyne ; John Borthuik, baxter, to get four bunnis of beir, with four gang of
aill, and to furneis breid ; Henry Charteris and Roger Macnacht to caus hing the hous with tapestrie,

set the buirds, furmis chandleris and get flowres,” etc.— Vide vol. i. p. 115,
2 In Heriot’s will the property is described as ‘‘ theis my great tenements of landis, etc., lyand on
the south side of the King his Highe Streit thairoff, betwixt the Cloise or Wenall callit Grays Clois or

Coyne Hous Cloise at the east, the Wynd or Wenell callit Todrig’s Wynd at the west, and ¢4e sarid
Coyne Hoys Clois at the south.” —Dr. Steven's Life of George Heriot, App. p. 27.
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1674 ; and over the main doorway on the first floor, which is approached
in the old fashion by an outside stair, is a sculptured tablet decorated with
the royal initials C. R. II, surmounting a crown, with the inscription and
date, GOD SAVE THE KING, 1675. Hecre was the lodging of the celebrated
Earl of Argyle during his attendance on the Scottish Parliament, after
Charles II had unexpectedly restored him to his father’s title, as appears
from a curious case reported in Fountainhall's Decisions! The date is
22d November 1681, only a few days after the Earl had been committed a
prisoner to Edinburgh Castle, from whence he effected his escape under the
disguise of a page, holding up the train of Lady Sophia Lindsay, his step-
daughter. Towards the close of last century, the mansion on the north side
of the court was the residence of the eminent physician, Dr. Cullen, while
Lord Hailes occupied the morc ancient lodging on the south, before he
removed to the modern dwelling erected for himself in New Strect. The
west side of the court was at one time the abode of Lord
Belhaven ; and Lord Haining, the Countess of Stair, Douglas
of Cavers, and other distinguished tenants resided in this
fashionable quarter of the town during the last century.

The main entrance on the first floor of the west side is
approached, like that on the south, by a broad flight of steps
extending into the court. The doorway is furnished with a
very substantial iron knocker, of old-fashioned proportions
and design; but on the lower entrance, underneath the stair,
there remains a fine specimen of the knocker’'s more ancient
predecessor, the Risp, or Tirling Pin, so frequently alluded to
in Scottish song, as in the fine old ballad—

“ There came a ghost to Margaret's door,
Wi' mony a grievous groan ;
And aye he tirled at the pin,
But answer made she none.” 2

The ancient privilege of sanctuary which pertained to
those buildings, as the offices of the Scottish Mint, is  Tirling Pin,
curiously illustrated by the case in Lord Fountainhall's Mint Close.
Reports, referred to above. A complaint was laid before the Privy
Council, 22d November 1681, that a cabinet of the Earl of Argyle, which
had been poinded forth of the “coin-house” of Edinburgh for a debt
owing by the Earl's bond, had been rescued by open violence. In the
debate that follows, its full privileges as “an asyle, refuge, and sanctuary, to

! Fountainhall’s Decisions, vol. i. p. 163. .

2 These antique’ precursors of the knocker and bell were frequently to be met with in the steep

- turnpikes of the Old Town, notwithstanding the cupidity of antiquarian collectors. The ring is drawn
up and down the notched iron rod, and makes a very audible noise within.
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protect and defend the persons of the servants employed to work there in the
service of the King and kingdom,” as well as their tools and instruments, are
admitted ; and the claims of *‘the abbey, the coin-house, and such other
places as pretend to be sanctuarics” are all placed on the same footing,
without any final dccision as to their rights.

The archiepiscopal palace of the Beatons occupies the whole space
between Todrick’s and Blackfriars’ Wynds, and affords a striking example of
the revolutions effected by time and changing fashions on the ancient haunts
of those most eminent for rank and power. No doubt can be entertained,
from the appearance of this building, that part of it has been rebuilt in a
style more adapted to its later humble denizens than to the period when,
in the Cowgate, “were the palaces belonging to the princes of the land,
nothing there being humble or rustic, but all magnificent!” Considerable
portions of the first edifice, however, still remain. It has originally enclosed
a small quadrangle, and nearly the whole of the ground floor is substantially
arched with stone, resting on solid piers, well calculated to afford secure
protection against such assaults as it was frequently exposed to during the
raids and tulzics of the sixteenth century.! The entrance to the inner court
is by an arched passage in Blackfriars’ Wynd, within which a broad flight
of steps conducts to the main floor of the building. By this mode of
construction, common in old times, the approach to the quadrangle could be
secured against any ordinary attack ; and the indwellers might then hold out,
as in their castle, until they made terms with their assailants, or were
relieved by a superior force.

The ancient building was erected by James Beaton, Archbishop of
Glasgow, as appears from various contemporary allusions? He became
Lord High Treasurer in 1505, was promoted to the Archiepiscopate of
Glasgow in 1509, and, on the death of Archbishop Forman in 1522, was
appointed Archbishop of St. Andrews ; so that we may unhesitatingly assign
the date of this erection to the beginning of the sixteenth century. He
greatly enlarged and beautified the episcopal palace of Glasgow ; and busied
himself, after his translation to the latter see, in many important works.
Upon all the buildings erected by him his armorial bearings were con-
spicuously displayed, and a stone tablet remained till a few years since over
the archway in Blackfriars’ Wynd leading into the inner court, blazoned with

1 ¢¢Feb. 8, 1541-42.—Remission to John Lausone, John Scot, John Myllar, and John Scot, sen.,
for their treasonable besieging and breaking up the gates and doors of the lodging belonging to James
(Archbishop) of Sanctandrois, situite in the Blackfriars’ Wynd, within the Burgh of Edinburgh, for his
capture and apprehension, he being within the said lodging at the time,” etc.—Pitcairn’s Criminal
Trials, p. *257. The Archbishop died in 1539. This was no doubt an Act of Privy Council, applied
for thereafter. .

? < Bischope James Beatoun remained stiltin Edinburgh in his awin tudging, quhilk he biggit in the
Frieris Wynd.” —Pitscottie’s Chronicles, vol. ii. .p. 313. -
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the Beaton arms, supported by two angels in Dalmatic habits and sur-
mounted by a crest, sufficiently defaced to enable antiquaries to discover in
it either a mitre or a cardinal’s hat, according as their theory of the original
ownership inclined towards the Archbishop or his more celebrated nephew
the Cardinal.'

The exterior angle of this building, towards the Cowgate, is finished with
a hexagonal turret projecting from a stone pillar which springs from the
ground, and forms a singularly picturesque featurc in that ancient thorough-
faree. We find, however, from the carly titles of the property, that the
Archbishop’s residence and grounds included not only the buildings between
Blackfriars’ and Todrick’s Wynds, but the whole of the site now occupied by
the ancient buildings of the Mint; so that there can be little doubt that
extensive gardens werc attached to his lodging in the capital. An in-
spection of the back wall of the Mint in Todrick’s Wynd confirms the idea
of its having succeeded to a more ancient building of considerable architectural
pretensions ; as, on minute examination, various carved stones were observed
built up among the materials of the rubble work.?

Here the Earl of Arran and the chief adherents of his faction were
assembled on the 3oth of April 1520, engaged in maturing their hastily
concerted scheme for secizing the Llarl of Angus and in all probability
putting him to death, when the poet Gawin Douglas, Bishop of Dunkeld, the
author of the Pallis of IHonor, waited on the Archbishop to entreat his
mediation between the rival chiefs. The result of the interview has been
related in the earlier part of this work. The Archbishop was already in
armour, though under cover of his rochet, and when they met again after the
bloody contest of * Cleanse the Causeway” it was in the neighbouring
Church of the Blackfriars, where the poet’s interference alone prevented
the warlike Bishop from being slain in arms at the altar. After living in

! Nisbet, the best authority on such a subject, says: ‘ With us angels have Leen frequently made
use of as supporters. Cardinal Beaton had his supported by two angels in Dalmatic habits, or, as some
say, priestly ones, which are yct to be seen on his lodgings in Blackfriars’ Wynd.”—Nisbet’s Heraldry,
vol. ii. partiv. The stone was acquired by Mr. C. K. Sharpe. The crest may have been an otter’s
head, which was that borne by the family ; unless it be the top of the crozier, or pastoral staff, behind
the shield. It is certainly neither a mitre nor a cardinal’s hat.

2 The following is the definition of the property as contained in a deed dated 1639, and preserved
in the Burgh Charter Room: ‘' Disposition of house, John Sharpe, elder, of Houston, advocate, to
Mr. J. Sharpe, younger, his son. . . . All and hail that great lodging or tenement, back and fore,
under and above, biggit and waste, with the yards and pert> some time pertaining to the Archbishop of
St. Andrew's, thereafter to umq' John Beaton of Capeldraw, thereafter to the heirs of umg'® Archibald
Stewart and [lelen Aitchison, and thereafter pertaining to umq'¢ Thomas Aitchison, his Highness
‘Maister Cunzier, lying within the Burgh of Edinburgh, on ye south of the King's High Street thereof, on
ye east side of ye trance thereof, betwixt the close called Gray’s Close and ye vennel called Toddrick’s
Wynd upon ye east, the transe of ye said Blackfriers’ Wynd on ye west, the High Street of Cowgate on
ye south, the yard of umq" John Barclay, thercafter pertaining to umgq'e Alex. Ilunter, &c., on ye
north,” etc.
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obscurity for a time, he was promoted to the metropolitan see of St.
Andrews by the interest of the Duke of Albany. Yet such were the
strange vicissitudes of that age, that he is belicved to have escaped the
vengeance of the Douglases during their brief triumph in 1525 by literally
exchanging his crozier for a shepherd’s crook, and tending a flock of sheep
upon Bogrian-knowe, not far from his own diocesan capital. His venerable
lodging in the capital is styled by Maitland “the archiepiscopal palace
belonging to the see of St. Andrews.” James V appears to have taken
up his abode there on his arrival in Edinburgh in 1528, preparatory to
summoning a Parliament; and the Archbishop, who had been one of the
most active promoters of his liberation from the Douglas faction, became his
entertainer and host. The tradition, which assigns the same mansion as the
residence of Cardinal Beaton, the nephew of its builder, appears exceedingly
probable, but no mention is made of him in the titles, unless where he may be
referred to by the episcopal designation common to both.!

The palace of the Bishops of Dunkeld, and of Gawin Douglas in
particular, the friendly opponent of the Archbishop, stood on the opposite
side of the Cowgate, immediately to the west of Robertson’s Close, and
scarcely a hundred yards from Blackfriars’ Wynd.? It appears to have
been an extensive mansion, with large gardens attached to it, running
southward nearly to the old town wall. Among the pious and munificent
acts recorded by Mylne? of Bishop Lauder, the preceptor of James II, who
was promoted to the sce of Dunkeld in 1452, are the purchasing of a
mansion in Edinburgh for himself and successors, and the founding of an
altarage in St. Giles’s Church there to St. Martin, to which his successor,

! The ancient mansion of the Beatons possesses an additional interest, as having been the first
scene of operations of the High School of Edinburgh, while a building was erecting for its use, as
appears from the following notices in the Burgh Record: “ March 12, 1554.—Caus big the grammer
skule, lyand on the eist syd of the Kirk-of-Field Wynd. Jun. 14, 1555.—Ilouse at the fute of the
Blackfrier Wynd tane to be the grammer scole quhill Witsonday nixt to cum, for xvj li. of male.’
Tabula Naufragii. Motherwell, privately printed. Glasgow 1834.

2 This site of the Bishop of Dunkeld’s lodging was pointed out by Dr. R. Chambers in a com-
munication read before the Society of Antiquaries, 7th February 1847. The following notice, which
occurs in a MS. list of pious donations in the Advocates’ Library, of a charter of mortification, dated ult.
Jan. 1498 confirms the description: ‘‘ A charter by Thos. Cameron, mortifying to a chaplain of St.
Catharine’s altar in St. Geiles' Kirk, his tenement in Edinburgh, in the Cowgate, on the south side
thereof, betwixt the Bishop of Dunkeld’s Land on the east, and Wm. Rappillowes on the west, the
common street on the north, and the gait that leads to the Kirk-of-Field [s.e. Infirmary Street] on the
south.” We have referred, however, in a previous chapter to the Clam Skell Turnpike in the High
Street, as bearing the same designation ; and the following applies it to a third tenement seemingly on the
north side of the same street : * A charter by Janet Paterson, relict of umq'e Alex. Lowder of Blyth,
mortiefieing to a chaplaine in St. Gilies Kirk an ann. rent of 4 merks out of Wm. Carkettel’s land in
Edinburgh on the north side of the street, betwixt the Bishop of Dunkell’s land on the east, and the
lo/ St. Jo. [Lord St. John’s] land on the west,” dated *‘ 20 June, Regni 10,” probably 1523. Dec. an.
reg. Jac. V.

3 Vite Dunkeldensis Ecclesie Episcoporum, p. 24.
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Bishop Livingston, became also a contributor.! The evidence quoted
below renders it probable that the episcopal residence in the capital, thus
permanently attached to the see of Dunkeld, was the lodging on the south
side of the Cowgate; and the same ecclesiastical biographer already
referred to mentions as one of the good works of Bishop Brown, the
predecessor of Douglas, that he built the south wing of the house at
Edinburgh belonging to the Bishops of Dunkeld.? It cannot be doubted
that the mansion thus gifted and enlarged was a building well suited by its
magnificence for the abode of the successive dignitaries of the Church who
were promoted to that exalted station, and that it formed another striking
feature in this street of palaces. Its vicinity both to the archiepiscopal resid-
ence and to the Blackfriars’ Church—the later scenc of rescue of Archbishop
Beaton by Gawin Douglas,—affords a very satisfactory illustration of one of
the most memorable civic occurrences during the turbulent minority of
James V. The poet, after his ineffectual attempt at mediation, retired with
grief to his own house, and employed himself in acts of devotion suited to
the danger to which his friends were exposed ; from thence he rushed out,
on learning of the termination of the fray, in time to interpose effectually on
behalf of the warlike priest, who had been personally engaged in the contest,
and, according to Buchanan, “flew about in armour like a fire-brand of
sedition.” This old episcopal residence has other associations of a very
diffcrent nature ; for we learn from Knox’s history that, when the Reformer
was summoned to appear in the Blackfriars’ Church on the 15th of May
1556, and his opponents deserted their intended attack through fear, “ the
said Johne, the same day of the summondis, tawght in Edinburgh in a
greattar audience then ever befoir he had done in that toune: the place
was the Bischope of Dunkellis, his great loodgeing, whare he continewed in
doctrin ten dayis, boyth befoir and after nune.”®> A modern land now
occupies the site of Bishop Douglas’s palace; and the pleasure-grounds
wherein the poet was wont to stray, and on which we may suppose him to
have exercised his refined taste and luxurious fancy in realising such a
“gardyne of plesance” as he describes in the opening stanzas of his Pallis
of Honor, are now crowded with mean dwellings of the artisan and labourer:

1 ¢ Charter of mortification by Mr. Thos. Lauder, canon in Aberdeen [the future bishop, as we
presume], to a chaplain in St. Geiles Kirk in Edinburgh, of an annual rent of 6 merks out of the
tenement of Donald de Keyle on the N. side of the gaite . . . an annual rent of 40 sh. out of his own
house lyand in the Cowgaite, betwixt the land of the Abbot of Melros on the cast, and of George
Cochran on the west,” etc.—23d January 1449 ; MS. Advoc. Lib. ¢ A mortification made by James
[Livingston] Bishop of Dunkeld, to a chaplain of St. Martin and Thomas’s Altar, in St. Geiles Kirk of
Edinburgh, of an annual rent of £10 out of his tenement lying in the said burgh, on the north side of
the Hie Street,” etc.—/éid. *‘Confirmation of a Charter granted be Thomas [Lauder] Bishop of
Dunkeld, to a chaplain of the Holy Cross Isle, in St. Geiles Kirk in Edinburgh, of divers annual rents,

dated 17th March 1480."— /bid.
2 Vite Dunkeld. Episc. p. 46. 3 Anox's 1Works, Wodrow Soc., vol. i. p.-251.
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too much engrossed with the cares of their own domestic circles to heed the
illustrious memories that linger about these lowly habitations.

But we must return to the archiepiscopal palace at the foot of Black-
friars’ Wynd, and recall some additional long-forgotten honours. In 1561,
when Queen Mary arrived from France, she was accompanied, as the author
of the Diurnal of Occurrents records, by the grand prior, M. Dornell, the
Marquis d’Elboeuf, a brother of Mary of Guise, M. d’Amville, and other
French nobles ; and on the 24th of August following, on the eve of their
departure, they were entertained at a banquet provided by “the toun of
Edinburgh in ane honourable maner, within the lugeing sumtyme pertenying
to the Cardinal.” It was evidently the most sumptuous private mansion in
the town, with a magnificent banquet-hall, where the primate had practised
the hospitalities of a churchman and political leader on a fitting scale